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PART I

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”), imdling Management’s Discussion and Analysis of FarglrCondition and Results
of Operations in Part Il, ltem 7 below, includes/dard-looking statements within the meaning of ®&c7A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchangef 1934, as amended. All statements other statements of historical facts contai
in this Form 10-K, including statements regarding future financial position, business strategy plachs and objectives of management for
future operations, are forward-looking statemenfke words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “catinue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “should,”
“plan,” “expect” and similar expressions, as thelate to us, are intended to identify forward-lowkstatements. We have based these forward
looking statements largely on our current expeatetiand projections about future events and firshhends that we believe may affect our
financial condition, results of operations, busmesategy and financial needs. These forward-tapktatements are subject to a number of
risks, uncertainties and assumptions describe®isk‘Factors” in Part I, Item 1A below, and elsevehia this Form 10-K, including, among
other things: the future growth of the small busgiand home markets; speed of adoption of wirglesgorking worldwide; our business
strategies and development plans; our succesgfablinction of new products and technologies; futyerating expenses and financing
requirements; and competition and competitive figcto the small business and home markets. In bfthese risks, uncertainties and
assumptions, the forward-looking events and cirdames discussed in this Form 10-K may not occdraatual results could differ materially
from those anticipated or implied in the forward#ing statements. All forward-looking statementshis Form 10-K are based on information
available to us as of the date hereof and we assonobligation to update any such forward-lookitegements. The following discussion
should be read in conjunction with our consoliddtedncial statements and the accompanying notetaiceed in this Form 10-K.

Item 1. Business
General

We design, develop and market networking produtfidme users and for small business, which wendefs a business with fewer than
250 employees. We are focused on satisfying the-efase, quality, reliability, performance andaaffability requirements of these users. Our
product offerings enable users to connect and camuate across local area networks, or LANs, andMoeld Wide Web and share Internet
access, peripherals, files, digital multimedia eattand applications among multiple networked deend other Internet-enabled devices. We
sell our products through multiple sales channeddwide, which includes traditional retailers, o retailers, direct market resellers, or
DMRs, value added resellers, or VARSs, and broadlsaneice providers. A discussion of factors pothtiaffecting our operations is set forth
in “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Forn®-K.

We were incorporated in Delaware on January 8, 1988 principal executive offices are located dd@%&reat America Parkway,
Santa Clara, California 95054, and our telephomshbar at that location is (408) 907-8000. We filpaws, proxy statements and other
information with the Securities and Exchange Consioig, or SEC, in accordance with the SecuritieshBrge Act of 1934, as amended, or
Exchange Act. You may read and copy our reportsgypstatements and other information filed by uthatpublic reference room of the SEC
located at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-033Quftindr information about the public
reference rooms. Our filings are also availablgheopublic over the Internet at the SEC’s webditattp://www.sec.goyand, as soon as
practicable after such reports are filed with tleCSfree of charge through a hyperlink on our Imé¢website abttp://www.netgear.com.
Information contained on the website is not a pathis Form 10-K.
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Markets

Our objective is to be the leading provider of mative networking products to the small business lasme markets. A number of fact
are driving todays increasing demand for networking products witrimall businesses and homes. As the number of camgpaevices, such
PCs, has increased in recent years, networks arg deployed in order to share information and uveses among users and devices. This
information and resource sharing occurs intern#éisough a local area network, or externally, ¥ia Internet. To take advantage of complex
applications, advanced communication capabilitie rich multimedia content, users are upgrading théernet connections by deploying
high-speed broadband access technologies. Usersedk the convenience and flexibility of operatimgjir PCs, laptops and related computing
devices and accessing their content in a more eafmilwireless, manner. Finally, as the usage tfarks, including the Internet, has
increased, users have become much more focuséak @ecurity of their connections and the protectibthe data within their networks.

Small business and home users demand a compleiéwiged and wireless networking and broadbandlpets that are tailored to their
specific needs and budgets and also incorporatiatist networking technologies. These users redh& continual introduction of new and
refined products. Small business and home usega tdtk extensive IT resources and technical kndgdeand therefore demand ‘plug-and-
play’ or easy-to-install and use products. Theszaiseek reliable products that require little @nmaintenance, and are supported by effective
technical support and customer service. We belieaethese users also prefer the convenience afrobg a networking solution from a single
company with whom they are familiar; as these usgpmnd their networks, they tend to be loyal paseins of that brand. In addition,
purchasing decisions of users in the small busiardshome markets are also driven by the afforiglof networking products. To provide
reliable, easy-to-use products at an attractiveeprve believe a successful supplier must havergany-wide focus on the unique
requirements of these markets and the operatigseiptine and cost-efficient company infrastructarel processes that allow for efficient
product development, manufacturing and distribution

Sales Channels

We sell our products through multiple sales chasmerldwide, including traditional retailers, ordimetailers, wholesale distributors,
DMRs, VARs, and broadband service providers.

Retailers. Our retail channel primarily supplies productst i@ sold into the home market. We sell direatlyor enter into consignment
arrangements with, a number of our traditionalilets. The remaining traditional retailers, as vaslour online retailers, are fulfilled through
wholesale distributors, the largest of which amgrém Micro, Inc. and Tech Data Corporation. We wairkectly with our retail channels on
market development activities, such as co-advagjsn-store promotions and demonstrations, ingtldte programs, event sponsorship and
sales associate training, as well as establishstayé within a store” websites and banner advadisi

DMRs and VARsWe primarily sell into the small business markebtigh an extensive network of DMRs and VARs. OMM include
companies such as CDW and Insight. VARs includenaetwork of registered Powershift Partners, orltesewho achieve prescribed quarterly
sales goals and as a result may receive salestiviegmarketing support and other program bengfits us. Our products are also resold by a
large number of smaller VARs whose sales are mgelanough to qualify them for our Powershift Partorogram. Our DMRs and VARs
generally purchase our products through our whidesiatributors, primarily Ingram Micro and TechtAa

Broadband Service ProvidersVe also supply our products directly to broadbsewbice providers in the United States and
internationally, who distribute our products toitremall business and home subscribers.

4
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We derive the majority of our net revenue from inggional sales. International sales as a percergfget revenue remained constant at
62% in both 2007 and 2006. The table below seth faur net revenue by major geographic region.

Year Ended December 31

Percentagt Percentagt
2007 Change 2006 Change 2005
(In thousands, except percentage dat:
United State: $273,69! 24% $220,44( 11% $199,20¢
EMEA 380,35 28% 298,23: 49% 199,95:
Asia Pacific and rest of worl 73,73¢ 34% 54,89¢ 9% 50,45!
Total $727,78° 27% $573,57( 28% $449,61(

Net revenues from significant customers as a péagerof our total net revenues for the years elamber 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Ingram Micro, Inc. 17% 19% 25%
Tech Data Corporatio 14% 16% 17%

Product Offerings

Our product line consists of wired and wirelessidev that enable Ethernet networking, broadbandssc@nd network connectivity.
These products are available in multiple configoret to address the needs of our customers ingamraphic region in which our products
are sold.

Ethernet networking Ethernet is the most commonly used wired netwedtqeol for connecting devices in today’s home anll-
office networks. Products that enable Ethernet agting include:

» switches, which are multiple port devices usedeibwvork PCs and periphera
* network interface cards, adapters and bridgesetiable PCs and other equipment to be connectededwork;

» peripheral servers, such as print servers that geapanting on a network, and disk servers whichage shared disks on t
network; anc

» VPN firewalls, which provide secure remote netwacdcess and ar-virus and an-spam capabilities

Broadband AccessBroadband is a transmission medium capable of ngoriore information and at a higher speed overipulgtworks
than traditional narrowband frequencies. Produds ¢nable broadband access include:

» routers, which are used to connect two networksttegr, such as the home or office network andnterniet;
e gateways, or routers with an integrated modeminfigrnet acces:

* |IP telephony products, used for transmitting vaiommmunications over a network; a

* wireless gateways, or gateways that include amiated wireless access poi

Network Connectivity Products that enable network connectivity anduesosharing include:
» wireless access points, which provide a wireledsbietween a wired network and wireless devi
» wireless network interface cards and adapters, wiiable devices to be connected to the networdegsly;

5
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» media adapters, which connect PCs, stereos, TVsthed equipment to a netwol

» wi-fi phones, which enable users to make voice caks the Internet

» network attached storage, which enables file shaimd remote storage over a local area network

» powerline adapters and bridges, which enable dst@ée connected to the network over existingtetad wiring.

We design our products to meet the specific neétistb the small business and home markets, tagorarious elements of the product
design, including component specification, physawracteristics such as casing, design and caoratnd specific user interface features to
meet the needs of these markets. We also leveragg ai our technological developments, high volunenufacturing, technical support and
engineering infrastructure across our markets teimmae business efficiencies.

Our products that target the small business manieetiesigned with an industrial appearance, inetudietal cases, and for some product
categories, the ability to mount the product witbiandard data networking racks. These productsalyp include higher port counts, higher
data transfer rates and other performance chaistaterdesigned to meet the needs of a small bssinger. For example, we offer data transfer
rates up to ten Gigabit per second for our busipessucts to meet the higher capacity requiremehlsisiness users. Some of these products
are also designed to support transmission modésasufiber optic cabling, which is common in mooplsisticated business environments.
Security requirements within our products for snbaliness broadband access include firewall atidatiprivate network capabilities that
allow for secure interactions between remote offiged business headquarter locations. Our conitggiroduct offerings for the small
business market include enhanced security and escooifigurability often required in a businessiagttOur ReadyNAS family of network
attached storage products implements redundant efiadependent disks data protection, enablinglsbusinesses to store and protect cri
data easily, efficiently and intelligently.

Our products for the home user are designed wéhgphg visual and physical aesthetics that are oesiable in a home environment.
For example, our RangeMax™ series of routers hastendtive blue antenna-indicator LEDs in a circud@me atop a sleek black or white
plastic casing. Our connectivity offerings for uisehe home are generally at a lower price thahdiigecurity and configurability wireless
offerings for the small business market. Our presitar facilitating broadband access in the honeeaaailable with features such as parental
control capabilities and firewall security, to alldor safer, more controlled Internet usage in fasiwith children. Our broadband products
designed for the home market also contain instafiagoftware that guides a less sophisticated mgtt&orking user through the installation
process with their broadband service provider,gisigraphical user interface and simple point dic#t operations. Our connectivity product
offerings for the home include powerline data traission modes which allow home users to take adggnof their existing electrical wiring
infrastructure for transmitting data among netwooknponents.

Competition

The small business and home networking marketstgesely competitive and subject to rapid techgiglal change. We expect
competition to continue to intensify. Our princigalmpetitors include:

» within the small business networking market, conigssuch as 3Com Corporation, Allied Telesyn Irddomal, Buffalo, Inc., Dell
Computer Corporation, D-Link, Hewlett-Packard CompaHuawei Technologies Co., Ltd., the Linksys sliwh of Cisco Systems,
Nortel Networks and Sonicwall, Inc.; a

« within the home networking market, companies sucApple Inc., Belkin Corporation, D-Link, and thanksys division of Cisco
Systems
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Other current competitors include numerous localklegs such as Siemens Corporation and AVM in EurGpeega International SA al
Melco, Inc. in Japan and TP-Link in China, and loitlweend equipment suppliers such as Actiontec Eleictsplinc., ARRIS Group, Inc.,
Comtrend Corporation, Motorola, Inc., Sagem Corpona Scientific Atlanta, a Cisco company, Teray@ommunications Systems, Inc.,
Thomson Corporation and 2Wire, Inc. Our potent@hpetitors include consumer electronics vendorsteledommunications equipment
vendors who could integrate networking capabilitige their line of products, and our channel costes who may decide to offer self-branded
networking products. We also face competition frervice providers who may bundle a free networkiagice with their broadband service
offering, which would reduce our sales if we aré¢ the supplier of choice to those service providers

Many of our existing and potential competitors hireyer operating histories, greater name recagniéind substantially greater
financial, technical, sales, marketing and otheoueces. As a result, they may have more advaeobtology, larger distribution channels,
stronger brand names, better customer service@®sito more customers than we do. For exampleleittePackard has significant brand
name recognition and has an advertising preseritastially greater than ours. Similarly, Ciscot8yss is well recognized as a leader in
providing networking products to businesses andshastantially greater financial resources thardweSeveral of our competitors, such as the
Linksys division of Cisco Systems andLink, offer a range of products that directly cortgperith most of our product offerings. Several af
other competitors primarily compete in a more ledimanner. For example, Hewlett-Packard sells n&ing products primarily targeted at
larger businesses or enterprises. However, the ettinp environment in which we operate change&igpOther large companies with
significant resources could become direct compstiteither through acquiring a competitor or thiougernal efforts.

We believe that the principal competitive factarghie small business and home markets for netwgninducts include product breadth,
size and scope of the sales channel, brand namgljrtess of new product introductions, product genfance, features, functionality and
reliability, price, ease-of-installation, maintegarand use, and customer service and support.

To remain competitive, we believe we must inveghiicant resources in developing new productsaecing our current products,
expanding our sales channels and maintaining custsatisfaction worldwide.

Research and Development

As of December 31, 2007, we had 115 employees edgagesearch and development. We believe thasueeess depends on our
ability to develop products that meet the changiser needs and to anticipate and proactively respmavolving technology in a timely and
cost-effective manner. Accordingly, we have madeatments in our research and development deparimerder to effectively evaluate new
technologies and develop and test new productsré&aarch and development employees work closelyour technology and manufacturing
partners to bring our products to market in a timelgh quality and cost-efficient manner.

We identify, qualify or self-develop new technolegji and we work closely with our various technolegppliers and manufacturing
partners to develop products using one of the deweént methodologies described below.

ODM. Under the original design manufacturer, or ODMthmodology, which we use for most of our productelepment activities, we
define the product concept and specification amtbpa the technology selection. We then coordineitd our technology suppliers while they
develop the chipsets, software and detailed cidrsigns. Once prototypes are completed, we waitk euir partners to complete the debug:
and systems integration and testing. Our ODMsespansible for conducting all of the regulatoryragyeapproval processes required for each
product. After completion of the final tests, ageapprovals and product documentation, the proguatleased for production.
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CM. Under the contract manufacturer, or CM, methodgledhich we use for a limited number of products, define the product
concept and specification and develop the primachniology and software internally. Once prototygescompleted, we work with our
partners to complete the debugging and systemgratiten and testing. We are responsible for conidgell of the regulatory agency approval
processes required for each product. After congoieatif the final tests, agency approvals and prodactimentation, the product is released for
production.

OEM. Under the original equipment manufacturer, or OEMthodology, which we use for a limited numbepafducts, we define the
product specification and then purchase the proflast OEM suppliers that have existing productsniit our design requirements. In some
cases, once a technology supplier’s product issalewe work with the OEM supplier to complete tlosmetic changes to fit into our
mechanical and packaging design, as well as ourrdentation and graphical user interface, or GW@indard. The OEM supplier completes
regulatory approvals on our behalf. When all desigrrification and regulatory testing is completda product is released for production.

Our internal research and development efforts facudeveloping and improving the reliability, fuioetality, cost and performance of
our products. In addition, we define the industdesign, GUI, documentation and installation preagfsour products. Our total research and
development expenses were $28.1 million in 2008,45million in 2006 and $12.8 million in 2005.

Manufacturing

Our primary manufacturers are ASUSTek Computer, dnd its wholly owned subsidiaries, Cameo Comnatiwas Inc., Delta Networ!
Incorporated, Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., l(tdore commonly known as Foxconn Corporation), Ser@cCorporation, and Unihan
Corporation (which was spun out of ASUSTek Computer. in January 2008), all of which are headgrad in Taiwan. The actual
manufacturing of our products occurs primarily inimland China, and is supplemented with manufaafuin Taiwan on a select basis. We
distribute our manufacturing among these key sepplio avoid excessive concentration with a sisgfgplier. In addition to their responsibil
for the manufacturing of our products, our manuwfests purchase all necessary parts and materigt®tiuce complete, finished goods. To
maintain quality standards for our suppliers, weehaestablished our own product testing and qualiyanization based in Hong Kong and
mainland China. They are responsible for auditing imspecting product quality on the premises af@DMs, CMs and OEMs.

We currently outsource warehousing and distributimistics to four third-party providers who arspensible for warehousing,
distribution logistics and order fulfillment. In didion, these parties are also responsible for seygackaging of our products including
bundling components to form kits, inserting appraigrdocumentation and adding power adapters. Adtistics Americas, Ltd. in City of
Industry, California serves the Americas regiongri¢é.ogistics Ltd. in Hong Kong serves the Asia fiacgegion, and DSV Solutions B.V. and
ModusLink BV in the Netherlands serve the EMEA oegi

Sales and Marketing

As of December 31, 2007, we had 231 employees edgagsales and marketing. We work directly with oustomers on market
development activities, such as co-advertisingtore promotions and demonstrations, instant rgtraigrams, event sponsorship and sales
associate training. We also participate in majdustry trade shows and marketing events. Our magkeepartment is comprised of our
product marketing and corporate marketing groups.

Our product marketing group focuses on productesgsg product development roadmaps, the new pradtroduction process, product
lifecycle management, demand assessment and coigatialysis. The group works closely with ouresadnd research and development
groups to align our product development roadmap to
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meet customer technology demands from a strateggppctive. The group also ensures that produ@lodement activities, product launches,
channel marketing program activities, and ongoiegnand and supply planning occur in a well-manatpedly basis in coordination with our
development, manufacturing, and sales groups, 4ss/eur ODM, CM, OEM and sales channel partners.

Our corporate marketing group is responsible fdiniteg and building our corporate brand. The gréaguses on defining our mission,
brand promise and marketing messages on a worldvasis. This group also defines the marketing aggres in the areas of advertising,
public relations, events, channel programs anda@lr delivery mechanisms. These marketing messagkapproaches are customized for |
the small business and home markets through atyafi@elivery mechanisms designed to effectivelsgah end-users in a cost-efficient
manner.

We conduct much of our international sales and etarg operations through NETGEAR International,. laed NETGEAR International
Ltd., our wholly-owned subsidiaries which have fedrsales and marketing subsidiaries and branotesfivorldwide.

Customer Support

We design our products with “plug and plaése of use. We respond globally to customer guestiver the phone and Internet incluc
providing an online Knowledgebase and User Foruust@ner support is provided through a combinatioa lanited number of permanent
employees and use of subcontracted “out-sourcieggurces. Our permanent employees design our tadlsnipport database and are
responsible for training and managing our outsalisté-contractors. We utilize the information gdifim customers by our customer
support organization to enhance our product ofgimcluding further simplifying the installatigmocess.

Intellectual Property

We believe that our continued success will depeirdarily on the technical expertise, speed of tetbgy implementation, creative ski
and management abilities of our officers and keplegees, plus ownership of a limited but importseit of copyrights, trademarks, trade
secrets and patents. We primarily rely on a contlmnaf copyright, trademark and trade secret aateémt laws, nondisclosure agreements
employees, consultants and suppliers and otheramingl provisions to establish, maintain and moteir proprietary rights. We hold three
issued patents that expire between years 2023G@2&l&hd currently have a number of pending UnitdieS patent applications related to
technology and products offered by us. In additiva rely on third-party licensors for patented ek and software license rights in
technology that are incorporated into and are rezggdor the operation and functionality of our gwots. Our success will depend in part on
our continued ability to have access to these t&oigies.
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We have trade secret rights for our products, stingi mainly of product design, technical produstumentation and software. We also
own, or have applied for registration of trademanksonnection with our products, including NETGEAhe NETGEAR logo, the NETGEA
Digital Entertainer logo, the Gear Guy logo, Coringith Innovation, Everybody’s connecting, IntelliProSafe, RangeMax, ReadyNAS,
Smart Wizard and X-RAID in the United States anéiinationally. We have registered a number of mdedomain names that we use for
electronic interaction with our customers includdigsemination of product information, marketinggmams, product registration, sales
activities, and other commercial uses.

Employees

As of December 31, 2007, we had 518 full-time emppés, with 260 in sales, marketing and technicapstt, 115 in research and
development, 66 in operations, and 77 in finanterimation systems and administration. We alsdzetih number of temporary staff to
supplement our workforce. We have never had a wtmpage among our employees and no personna@esented under collective
bargaining agreements. We consider our relatiotis eir employees to be good.

Website Posting of SEC Filings

Our website provides a link to our SEC filings, ethiare available on the same day such filings ax@emThe specific location on the
website where these reports can be fourdtjs//investor.netgear.com/sec.cfi@ur website also provides a link to Section 1@dis which are
available on the same day as such filings are made.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table sets forth the names, agespasitions of our executive officers (who are subjecSection 16 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934) as of February 15, 2008.

Name Age  Position

Patrick C.S. Lc 51 Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

Mark G. Merrill 53 Chief Technology Office

Michael F. Falcor 51 Senior Vice President of Operatic

Christine M. Gorjant 51 Chief Financial Office

Albert Y. Liu 35 Vice President, Legal and Corporate Developn
Charles T. Olsol 52 Senior Vice President of Engineeri

David Soare: 41 Senior Vice President of Worldwide Sales and pfut
Michael A. Werdant 398 Vice President of Americas Sal

Patrick C.S. Ldas served as our Chairman and Chief Executive€ffiince March 2002. From September 1999 to M20€12, he
served as our President, and since our inceptid®98 to September 1999, he served as Vice PreésiddrnGeneral Manager. Mr. Lo joined
Bay Networks, a networking company, in August 189%unch a division targeting the small business lmome markets and established the
NETGEAR division in January 1996. From 1983 un@b%, Mr. Lo worked at Hewle-Packard Company, a computer and test equipment
company, where he served in various managemertigpusin software sales, technical support, netwwdduct management, sales support
and marketing in the United States and Asia, inolgi@s the Asia/Pacific marketing director for Usbrvers. Mr. Lo received a B.S. degree in
Electrical Engineering from Brown University.

Mark G. Merrill has served as our Chief Technology Officer sinceidey 2003. From September 1999 to January 2008eived as Vic
President of Engineering and served as Direct@ngfineering from September 1995 to September 19@8n 1987 to 1995, Mr. Merrill
worked at SynOptics Communications, a local areéavarking company, which later merged with Wellfléetoecome Bay Networks, where
his responsibilities
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included system design and analog implementationSynOptic’s first L0BASE-T products. Mr. Mernittceived both a B.S. degree and an
M.S. degree in Electrical Engineering from Stanfordversity.

Michael F. Falcorhas served as our Senior Vice President of Opasadimce March 2006 and Vice President of Operatsimce
November 2002. From September 1999 to November,200Zalcon worked at Quantum Corporation, a detdnology company, where
served as Vice President of Operations and SuppirtCManagement. From April 1999 to September 1889Falcon was at Meridian Data,
a storage company acquired by Quantum Corporatibare he served as Vice President of Operatiomsn FHebruary 1989 to April 1999,
Mr. Falcon was at Silicon Valley Group, a semicoetdu equipment manufacturer, where he served acfoir of Operations, Strategic
Planning and Supply Chain Management. Prior tg timserved in management positions at SCI Sys@amaslectronics manufacturer, Xerox
Imaging Systems, a provider of scanning and teedgeition solutions, and Plantronics, Inc., a pdeviof lightweight communication heads:
Mr. Falcon received a B.A. degree in Economics ftbmUniversity of California, Santa Cruz and hampleted coursework in the M.B.A.
program at Santa Clara University.

Christine M. Gorjandas served as our Chief Financial Officer sinceidan2008, as our Chief Accounting Officer sincecB®mber 2006
and as our Vice President, Finance since Noventi@s.Zrom September 1996 through November 2005@dganc served as Vice
President, Controller, Treasurer and Assistanteanr for Aspect Communications Corporation, a tevof workforce and customer
management solutions. From October 1988 througkeSdyer 1996, she served as the Manager of Taxaioddm Computers, Inc., a provider
of fault-tolerant computer systems. Prior to tisae served in management positions at Xidex Cotiporaa manufacturer of storage devices,
and spent eight years in public accounting witlumber of accounting firms. Ms. Gorjanc holds a BriAAccounting (with honors) from the
University of Texas at El Paso, a M.S. in Taxafimm Golden Gate University, and is a Certified RuBccountant.

Albert Y. Liuhas served as our Vice President, Legal and Capdmvelopment and Corporate Secretary since M2066 and our
General Counsel and Secretary since October 200 March 2004 to October 2004, Mr. Liu consultsddating General Counsel and
Secretary for Yipes Enterprise Services, Inc.,raerging telecom services company. From May 20Qlutee 2004, Mr. Liu worked at
Turnstone Systems, Inc., a telecommunications eagrp provider, where he served as General Coundebacretary, as Director of Human
Resources since September 2001 and as a memiverlmbard of directors since November 2003. Pridhad, Mr. Liu practiced corporate and
securities law at Sullivan & Cromwell, a leadingSUlaw firm, from October 1997 to May 2000. Mr. lliolds a J.D. (magna cum laude) from
the University of California, Hastings College bétLaw, and an A.B. in Political Science and a BhSomputer Science from Stanford
University.

Charles T. Olsotas served as our Senior Vice President of Engimgesince March 2006 and our Vice President of Begiing since
January 2003. From July 1978 to January 2003, Nsoi©worked at Hewlett-Packard Company, a compandrtest equipment company,
where he served as Director of Research and Dewelnpfor ProCurve networking from 1998 to 2003Rasearch and Development Manager
for the Enterprise Netserver division from 19971998, and, prior to that, in various other engimgemanagement roles in Hewlett-Packard’s
Unix server and personal computer product divisidfis Olson received a B.S. degree in ElectricajiBaering from the University of
California, Davis and an M.B.A. from Santa Claraiugmsity.

David Soaresas served as our Senior Vice President of Worldvdidles and Support since August 2004. Mr. Soaiesd us in Janual
1998, and served as Vice President of EMEA satea fbecember 2003 to July 2004, EMEA Managing Doeftom April 2000 to November
2003, United Kingdom and Nordic Regional Managenfiebruary 1999 to March 2000 and United Kingdaoar@ry Manager from January
1998 to January 1999. Prior to joining us, Mr. @sawas at Hayes Microcomputer Products, a manuxadfi dial-up modems. Mr. Soares
attended Ridley College, Ontario Canada.
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Michael A. Werdanrhas served as our Vice President of Americas Sales December 2003. Since joining us in 1998, Werdann
has served as our United States Director of SEK3)mmerce and DMR from December 2002 to 2003 aralia Eastern regional sales
director from October 1998 to December 2002. Rdqgoining us, Mr. Werdann worked for three yeartomega Corporation, a computer
hardware company, as a sales director for the \edded reseller sector. Mr. Werdann holds a B.gr&zin Communications from Seton Hall
University.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degrferisk. The risks described below are not extieei®f the risks that might affect
our business. Other risks, including those we aufyedeem immaterial, may also impact our businésy. of the following risks could
materially adversely affect our business operatjoasults of operations and financial condition aralild result in a significant decline in our
stock price.

We expect our operating results to fluctuate on auprterly and annual basis, which could cause our etk price to fluctuate or decline.

Our operating results are difficult to predict andy fluctuate substantially from quarter-to-quadeyear-toyear for a variety of reasor
many of which are beyond our control. If our actiealenue were to fall below our estimates or theeetations of public market analysts or
investors, our quarterly and annual results woelchégatively impacted and the price of our stoakadecline. Other factors that could affect
our quarterly and annual operating results inclimbse listed in this risk factors section of thegiA 10-K and others such as:

» changes in the pricing policies of or the introductof new products by us or our competitc

» changes in the terms of our contracts with custeroesuppliers that cause us to incur additionpeages or assume additional
liabilities;

» slow or negative growth in the networking prodyersonal computer, Internet infrastructure, horneetebnics and related
technology markets, as well as decreased demarndtérnet acces:

» changes in or consolidation of our sales chanmalsazholesale distributor relationships or failunentanage our sales chan
inventory and warehousing requiremel

» delay or failure to fulfill orders for our produat® a timely basis

» our inability to accurately forecast product dermne

» unfavorable level of inventory and turr

* unanticipated shift in overall product mix from hgr to lower margin products that would adverselpact our margins
» delays in the introduction of new products by usnarket acceptance of these produ

e anincrease in price protection claims, redemptafimearketing rebates, product warranty and stot&tion returns or allowance 1
doubtful accounts

« challenges associated with integrating acquisittbas we make

» operational disruptions, such as transportatioaydedr failure of our order processing system,ipaerly if they occur at the end
a fiscal quarter

» seasonal patterns of higher sales during the sewalhdf our fiscal year, particularly ret-related sales in our fourth quart
« delay or failure of our service provider customerpurchase at the volumes that we forec
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» foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations injtiisdictions where we transact sales and experaditin local currency
* Dbad debt exposure as we expand into new interratioarkets; an
e any changes in accounting rul

As a result, period-tperiod comparisons of our operating results maybeaneaningful, and you should not rely on theraragdicatior
of our future performance. In addition, our futegerating results may fall below the expectatioigublic market analysts or investors. In that
event, our stock price could decline significantly.

Some of our competitors have substantially greataesources than we do, and to be competitive we mag required to lower our prices
or increase our sales and marketing expenses, whicbuld result in reduced margins and loss of markeshare.

We compete in a rapidly evolving and highly comipeti market, and we expect competition to intengdiyr principal competitors in the
small business market include 3Com, Allied Tele®uffalo, Dell, D-Link, Hewlett-Packard, Huawei gh.inksys division of Cisco Systems,
Nortel Networks and Sonicwall. Our principal conifmes in the home market include Apple, Belkir-Link and the Linksys division of Cisco
Systems. Our principal competitors in the broadbserdice provider market include Actiontec, ARRC®mtrend, Motorola, Sagem, Scientific
Atlanta, a Cisco company, ZyXEL, Thomson and 2Wdéer current and potential competitors includmarous local vendors such as
Siemens and AVM in Europe, Corega and Melco in dapad TP-Link in China. Our potential competitolsoanclude consumer electronics
vendors who could integrate networking capabilitige their line of products, and our channel costes who may decide to offer self-branded
networking products. We also face competition frernvice providers who may bundle a free networkiagice with their broadband service
offering, which would reduce our sales if we aré¢ the supplier of choice to those service providers

Many of our existing and potential competitors hreyer operating histories, greater name recagniéind substantially greater
financial, technical, sales, marketing and otheoueces. These competitors may, among other thimgkertake more extensive marketing
campaigns, adopt more aggressive pricing policie&gin more favorable pricing from suppliers anchafacturers, and exert more influence
sales channels than we can. We anticipate thatmiuand potential competitors will also intensiigit efforts to penetrate our target markets.
These competitors may have more advanced technatogre extensive distribution channels, strongandmames, greater access to shelf
space in retail locations, bigger promotional bud@asd larger customer bases than we do. Thesearoespcould devote more capital
resources to develop, manufacture and market camgpgtoducts than we could. If any of these compsiaire successful in competing against
us, our sales could decline, our margins coulddgmtively impacted and we could lose market steame of which could seriously harm our
business and results of operations.

If we do not effectively manage our sales channeiventory and product mix, we may incur costs assogied with excess inventory, or
lose sales from having too few products.

If we are unable to properly monitor, control andmage our sales channel inventory and maintairppropriate level and mix of
products with our wholesale distributors and witbur sales channels, we may incur increased arxpeoted costs associated with this
inventory. We generally allow wholesale distribstand traditional retailers to return a limited amibof our products in exchange for other
products. Under our price protection policy, if regluce the list price of a product, we are oftequied to issue a credit in an amount equal to
the reduction for each of the products held in imwey by our wholesale distributors and retailéreur wholesale distributors and retailers are
unable to sell their inventory in a timely mannge, might lower the price of the products, or thpadies may exchange the products for newer
products. Also, during the transition from an erigtproduct to a new replacement product, we mestirately predict the demand for the
existing and the new product.
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If we improperly forecast demand for our productsaould end up with too many products and be unabdell the excess inventory in a
timely manner, if at all, or, alternatively we cdégnd up with too few products and not be ablatisfy demand. This problem is exacerbated
because we attempt to closely match inventory ewdéth product demand leaving limited margin faroer If these events occur, we could
incur increased expenses associated with writihgxafessive or obsolete inventory or lose saldsawe to ship products by air freight to meet
immediate demand incurring incremental freight s@tove the sea freight costs, a preferred me#ratisuffering a corresponding decline in
gross margins.

We are currently involved in various litigation matters and may in the future become involved in addibnal litigation, including
litigation regarding intellectual property rights, which could be costly and subject us to significartability.

The networking industry is characterized by thestxice of a large number of patents and frequairthsland related litigation regarding
infringement of patents, trade secrets and othieléctual property rights. In particular, leadicgmpanies in the data communications marl
some of which are competitors, have extensive patemfolios with respect to networking technologyom time to time, third parties,
including these leading companies, have assertednary continue to assert exclusive patent, copyriggdemark and other intellectual
property rights against us demanding license oaltgypayments or seeking payment for damages, étigmrelief and other available legal
remedies through litigation. These include thirdtipa who claim to own patents or other intelletpuraperty that cover industry standards that
our products comply with. If we are unable to rgsdhese matters or obtain licenses on acceptalzienomercially reasonable terms, we could
be sued or we may be forced to initiate litigationprotect our rights. The cost of any necessagnies could significantly harm our business,
operating results and financial condition. Alsoaay time, any of these companies, or any othed fiarty could initiate litigation against us,
we may be forced to initiate litigation againstrthevhich could divert management attention, belgastdefend or prosecute, prevent us from
using or selling the challenged technology, requs¢o design around the challenged technologycande the price of our stock to decline. In
addition, third parties, some of whom are poterdahpetitors, have initiated and may continue itiaite litigation against our manufacturers,
suppliers, members of our sales channels or ouicggprovider customers, alleging infringementtwdit proprietary rights with respect to
existing or future products. In the event succdsséims of infringement are brought by third pastiand we are unable to obtain licenses or
independently develop alternative technology omaly basis, we may be subject to indemnificatibligations, be unable to offer competit
products, or be subject to increased expensedl\Fioansumer class-action lawsuits related torttagketing and performance of our home
networking products have been asserted and méaeifuture be asserted against us. For additiof@inration regarding certain of the lawsuits
in which we are involved, see “Legal Proceedingsyitained in Part |, Item 3 of this Form 10-K, whiaformation is incorporated into this
Item 1A by reference. If we do not resolve thesénes on a favorable basis, our business, operetigts and financial condition could be
significantly harmed.

If our products contain defects or errors, we couldncur significant unexpected expenses, experienpeoduct returns and lost sales,
experience product recalls, suffer damage to our land and reputation, and be subject to product liality or other claims.

Our products are complex and may contain defeotsrseor failures, particularly when first introdect or when new versions are relea:
The industry standards upon which many of our pctalare based are also complex, experience chargédime and may be interpreted in
different manners. Some errors and defects maydoewvkered only after a product has been instaltetused by the end-user. For example, in
January 2008, we announced a voluntary recall@Xif103 Powerline Ethernet Adapter made for Eulape other countries using 220-240
volt power sources and sold individually or in antled kit. If our products contain defects or esrar are found to be noncompliant with
industry standards, we could experience decreaded and
increased product returns, loss of customers amklahshare, and increased service, warranty anoldnse costs. In addition, our reputation
and brand could be damaged, and we could face ¢djads regarding our
products. A product liability or other claim coulelsult in negative publicity and harm our reputatiesulting in unexpected expenses and
adversely impact our operating results.
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The average selling prices of our products typicajl decrease rapidly over the sales cycle of the pradt, which may negatively affect our
gross margins.

Our products typically experience price erosiofgidy rapid reduction in the average selling ps@er their respective sales cycles. In
order to sell products that have a falling aversgjéng price and maintain margins at the same,timeeneed to continually reduce product and
manufacturing costs. To manage manufacturing cegsnust collaborate with our third party manufaets to engineer the most cegfective
design for our products. In addition, we must aatgfmanage the price paid for components usediimpooducts. We must also successfully
manage our freight and inventory costs to reduaallproduct costs. We also need to continualisoituce new products with higher sales
prices and gross margins in order to maintain eerall gross margins. If we are unable to managetst of older products or successfully
introduce new products with higher gross margins,ret revenue and overall gross margin would yikigcline.

Our future success is dependent on the growth in pgonal computer sales and the acceptance of netwanlg products in the small
business and home markets into which we sell subsit#ally all of our products. If the acceptance of etworking products in these
markets does not continue to grow, we will be unablto increase or sustain our net revenue, and ouubiness will be severely harmed.

We believe that growth in the small business mankktdepend, in significant part, on the growthtb& number of personal computers
purchased by these end-users and the demand famglata intensive applications, such as largelycafiles. We believe that acceptance of
networking products in the home will depend upamdkailability of affordable broadband Internetegxand increased demand for wireless
products. Unless these markets continue to growbwosiness will be unable to expand, which couldseahe value of our stock to decline.
Moreover, if networking functions are integratedrendirectly into personal computers and other heeenabled devices, such as electronic
gaming platforms or personal video recorders, edé devices do not rely upon external network4ergbevices, sales of our products could
suffer. In addition, if the small business or homarkets experience a recession or other cyclifattf that diminish or delay networking
expenditures, our business growth and profits wbeldeverely limited, and our business could beerseverely harmed than those companies
that primarily sell to large business customers.

If we fail to continue to introduce new products that achieve broad market acceptance on a timely basiwe will not be able to compete
effectively and we will be unable to increase or matain net revenue and gross margins.

We operate in a highly competitive, quickly chamgéemvironment, and our future success depends oability to develop and introduce
new products that achieve broad market acceptaniteismall business and home markets. Our futloeess will depend in large part upon
our ability to identify demand trends in the snialkiness and home markets and quickly develop, faatue and sell products that satisfy
these demands in a cost effective manner. Suctlggsfedicting demand trends is difficult, andstuery difficult to predict the effect
introducing a new product will have on existing ¢wot sales. We will also need to respond effecgtitelinew product announcements by our
competitors by quickly introducing competitive pramts.

We have experienced delays and quality issuedaasi|g new products in the past, which resultddwrer quarterly net revenue than
expected. In addition, we have experienced, andimtye future experience, product introductioret tiall short of our projected rates of
market adoption. Any future delays in product depetent and introduction or product introductiorst ttho not meet broad market acceptance
could result in:

* loss of or delay in revenue and loss of marketest

* negative publicity and damage to our reputation lznashd;

» adecline in the average selling price of our pobsi

» adverse reactions in our sales channels, suctdaseé shelf space, reduced online product vigibitit loss of sales channel; a
» increased levels of product retur
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We depend substantially on our sales channels, awdr failure to maintain and expand our sales chanrle would result in lower sales
and reduced net revenue.

To maintain and grow our market share, net revemaebrand, we must maintain and expand our sabesnels. We sell our products
through our sales channels, which consists ofttoaxdil retailers, online retailers, DMRs, VARs, amdadband service providers. Some of
these entities purchase our products through owoteshle distributors. We generally have no mininpurchase commitments or long-term
contracts with any of these third parties.

Traditional retailers have limited shelf space pnoimotional budgets, and competition is intensdalese resources. If the networking
sector does not experience sufficient growth, letsimay choose to allocate more shelf space t&r attnsumer product sectors. A competitor
with more extensive product lines and stronger thidentity, such as Cisco Systems, may have greatgaining power with these retailers.
Any reduction in available shelf space or increassupetition for such shelf space would requiréousicrease our marketing expenditures
simply to maintain current levels of retail shgdaise, which would harm our operating margin. Tleenétrend in the consolidation of online
retailers and DMR channels has resulted in intetsiompetition for preferred product placementhsas product placement on an online
retailer’s Internet home page. Expanding our presémthe VAR channel may be difficult and expeasiWe compete with established
companies that have longer operating historied@mgistanding relationships with VARs that we wofildl highly desirable as sales channel
partners. We have limited experience selling tabdband service providers. Penetrating service gemaccounts typically involves a long
sales cycle and the challenge of displacing incurhbeppliers with established relationships andiféeployed products. If we were unable to
maintain and expand our sales channels, our graatiid be limited and our business would be harmed.

We must also continuously monitor and evaluate gingrsales channels. If we fail to establish agmes in an important developing
sales channel, our business could be harmed.

If we fail to successfully overcome the challengessociated with profitably growing our broadband sevice provider sales channel, our
net revenue and gross profit will be negatively imacted.

We sell a substantial portion of our products tigtobroadband service providers worldwide. We faneraber of challenges associated
with penetrating, marketing and selling to the bltmnd service provider channel that differ from twhie have traditionally faced with the
other channels. These challenges include a lorzdes sycle, more stringent product testing anddaiton requirements, a higher level of
systems and networking engineering support demaedsirements that suppliers take on a larger shfattee risk with respect to contractual
business terms, competition from established sepplpricing pressure resulting in lower gross rima;gand our general inexperience in sel
to service providers. Orders from service providgserally tend to be large but sporadic, whictseawur revenues from them to fluctuate
challenges our ability to accurately forecast dedfamm them. Even if we are selected as a supplipically a service provider will also
designate a second source supplier, which overwitheeduce the aggregate orders that we receiwa that service provider. If we were to
lose a service provider customer for any reasonmnag experience a material and immediate reduaidorecasted revenue that may cause us
to be below our net revenue and operating margitiegnae for a particular period of time and therefadversely affect our stock price. In
addition, service providers may choose to pricgitize implementation of other technologies or tikeaut of other services than home
networking. Any slowdown in the general economyerosapacity, consolidation among service providemglatory developments and
constraint on capital expenditures could resufenfuced demand from service providers and therefdversely affect our sales to them. If we
do not successfully overcome these challenges, lwaat be able to profitably grow our service piger sales channel and our growth will be
slowed.
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We obtain several key components from limited or de sources, and if these sources fail to satisfy supply requirements, we may lose
sales and experience increased component costs.

Any shortage or delay in the supply of key procdtarnponents would harm our ability to meet schedplediuct deliveries. Many of the
semiconductors used in our products are speckicsigned for use in our products and are obtdirmed sole source suppliers on a purchase
order basis. In addition, some components thatised in all our products are obtained from limgedrces. These components include
connector jacks, plastic casings and physical laggisceivers. We also obtain switching fabric semductors, which are used in our Ethernet
switches and Internet gateway products, and wisdtesal area network chipsets, which are used iof @ur wireless products, from a limited
number of suppliers. Semiconductor suppliers hapergenced and continue to experience componemtafes themselves, such as with
substrates used in manufacturing chipsets, whitbrmadversely impact our ability to procure semigductors from them. Our third party
manufacturers generally purchase these componeraardbehalf on a purchase order basis, and wetbave any contractual commitments
or guaranteed supply arrangements with our sugplifdemand for a specific component increasesnag not be able to obtain an adequate
number of that component in a timely manner. Initaald if our suppliers experience financial or ethdifficulties or if worldwide demand for
the components they provide increases significattily availability of these components could betioh It could be difficult, costly and time
consuming to obtain alternative sources for theseponents, or to change product designs to makefie&ernative components. In addition,
difficulties in transitioning from an existing suy to a new supplier could create delays in congo availability that would have a
significant impact on our ability to fulfill ordefer our products. If we are unable to obtain disigiht supply of components, or if we
experience any interruption in the supply of cormgaus, our product shipments could be reduced ayddl This would affect our ability to
meet scheduled product deliveries, damage our taaddeputation in the market, and cause us ton@s&et share.

We are exposed to adverse currency exchange ratedtuations in jurisdictions where we transact in l@al currency, which could harm
our financial results and cash flows.

Although a significant portion of our internatiorsales are currently invoiced in United Statesads|/lwe have implemented and continue
to implement for certain countries both invoicimglgpayment in foreign currencies. Recently, we heerienced currency exchange gains;
however, our exposure to adverse foreign curreatsyftuctuations will likely increase. We currentlg not engage in any currency hedging
transactions. Moreover, the costs of doing busiabssad may increase as a result of adverse exehategfluctuations. For example, if the
United States dollar declined in value relativatocal currency, we could be required to pay niofd.S. dollar terms for our expenditures in
that market, including salaries, commissions, legarations and marketing expenses, each of whiphid in local currency. In addition, we
may lose customers if exchange rate fluctuatiomseacy devaluations or economic crises increaséoital currency prices of our products or
reduce our customers’ ability to purchase products.

Rising oil prices, unfavorable economic conditiongparticularly in the United States and Western Eurge, and turmoil in the
international geopolitical environment may adversef affect our operating results.

A deterioration in global economic and market ctinds may lead to slowdowns in expenditures fomoeking equipment, resulting in
reduced product demand, increased price compettiorhigher excess inventory levels. Recently, esoa conditions in the United States i
Western Europe have been challenged by slowingtremd the sub-prime debt devaluation crisis. Furttore, turmoil in the global
geopolitical environment, including the ongoinggiems in Irag and the Middle-East, has pressuréddcantinues to pressure global economies.
In addition, rising oil prices may result in a retlan in consumer spending and an increase inHtaigsts to us. If the global economic climate
does not improve, our business and operating sewilltbe harmed.
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If disruptions in our transportation network occur or our shipping costs substantially increase, we nyabe unable to sell or timely
deliver our products and our operating expenses cddi increase.

We are highly dependent upon the transportatiotesyswe use to ship our products, including suréaaair freight. Our attempts to
closely match our inventory levels to our produstnéind intensify the need for our transportationesys to function effectively and without
delay. On a quarterly basis, our shipping volunse &nds to steadily increase as the quarter psgsewhich means that any disruption in our
transportation network in the latter half of a gaawill have a more material effect on our busgggn at the beginning of a quarter.

The transportation network is subject to disruptiortongestion from a variety of causes, includaigpr disputes or port strikes, acts of
war or terrorism, natural disasters and conges#salting from higher shipping volumes. Labor digguamong freight carriers and at ports of
entry are common, especially in Europe, and we &dpeor unrest and its effects on shipping oudpnts to be a continuing challenge for us.
Since September 11, 2001, the rate of inspectiomtefational freight by governmental entities babstantially increased, and has become
increasingly unpredictable. If our delivery timesriease unexpectedly for these or any other reasanability to deliver products on time
would be materially adversely affected and resultélayed or lost revenue. In addition, if the @ages in fuel prices were to continue, our
transportation costs would likely further increagireover, the cost of shipping our products byfi@ilght is greater than other methods. From
time to time in the past, we have shipped produsiisg air freight to meet unexpected spikes in deha to bring new product introduction:
market quickly. If we rely more heavily upon aieifght to deliver our products, our overall shippawgts will increase. A prolonged
transportation disruption or a significant increasthe cost of freight could severely disrupt business and harm our operating results.

We rely on a limited number of wholesale distributes for most of our sales, and if they refuse to pagur requested prices or reduce
their level of purchases, our net revenue could déce.

We sell a substantial portion of our products tigtowholesale distributors, including Ingram Michag. and Tech Data Corporation.
During the fiscal year ended December 31, 200@sdal Ingram Micro and its affiliates accounted¥@#6 of our net revenue and sales to Tech
Data and its affiliates accounted for 14% of ournegenue. We expect that a significant portioowf net revenue will continue to come from
sales to a small number of wholesale distributorgte foreseeable future. In addition, becauseaotounts receivable are concentrated with a
small group of purchasers, the failure of any ehthto pay on a timely basis, or at all, would redaar cash flow. We generally have no
minimum purchase commitments or lotegm contracts with any of these distributors. Engsrchasers could decide at any time to discoat
decrease or delay their purchases of our produrcegldition, the prices that they pay for our pretdiare subject to negotiation and could
change at any time. If any of our major wholesadtridbutors reduce their level of purchases orsefto pay the prices that we set for our
products, our net revenue and operating resultEldmiharmed. If our wholesale distributors inceetige size of their product orders without
sufficient lead-time for us to process the order, ability to fulfill product demands would be coromised.

As part of growing our business, we have made and&gect to continue to make acquisitions. If we failo successfully select, execute or
integrate our acquisitions, or if stock market anaysts or our stockholders do not support the acquitibns that we choose to execute, th
our business and operating results could be harmeahd our stock price could decline.

From time to time, we will undertake acquisitionsadd new product lines and technologies, gain sedes channels or enter into new
sales territories. Acquisitions involve numerowsksiand challenges, including but not limited t® fibllowing:

» integrating the companies, assets, systems, pmdales channels and personnel that we act
e growing or maintaining revenues to justify the gwase price and the increased expenses associdkedogiisitions
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* entering into territories or markets that we hameteéd or no prior experience wit

» establishing or maintaining business relationshijts customers, vendors and suppliers who may betoeus;

» overcoming the employee, customer, vendor and grgprnover that may occur as a result of the aitipn; and
» diverting manageme’s attention from running the day to day operatiofsur business

As part of undertaking an acquisition, we may algmificantly revise our capital structure or ogamaal budget, such as issue common
stock that would dilute the ownership percentageuwfstockholders, assume liabilities or debtjadib substantial portion of our cash reso.
to pay for the acquisition or significantly increasperating expenses. Our acquisitions have relsattd may in the future result, in in-process
research and development expenses being chargadmdividual quarter, which results in variabilityour quarterly earnings. In addition, our
effective tax rate in any particular quarter magodbe impacted by acquisitions.

We cannot assure you that we will be successfsélaecting, executing and integrating acquisiti¢talure to manage and successfully
integrate acquisitions could materially harm ousibass and operating results. In addition, if stoeltket analysts or our stockholders do not
support or believe in the value of the acquisitithret we choose to undertake, our stock price neajirce.

If our goodwill or amortizable intangible assets beome impaired we may be required to record a sigrifant charge to earnings.

As a result of our acquisitions, we have signiftogmodwill and amortizable intangible assets reedrdn our balance sheet. Under
generally accepted accounting principles, we revaewamortizable intangible assets for impairmehémwevents or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverabteodwill is required to be tested for impairmenkeast annually. Factors that may be
considered when determining if the carrying valtiew goodwill or amortizable intangible assets may be recoverable include market
conditions, operating fundamentals, competition geweral economic conditions. We may incur subgthimipairment charges to earnings in
our financial statements during the period shouldihgairment of our goodwill or amortizable intabigi assets be determined resulting in an
adverse impact on our results of operations.

Our income tax provision and liability for uncertain tax positions may be insufficient if any taxing athorities are successful in asserting
tax positions that are contrary to our positions.

Significant judgment is required to determine ortovision for income taxes and liability for uncentéaax positions. In the ordinary cou
of our business, there may be matters for whichuttimate tax outcome is uncertain. Although weidat our approach to determining the
appropriate tax treatment is reasonable, no asseitgan be given that the final tax authority deteation will not be materially different than
that which is reflected in our income tax provisamd liability for uncertain tax positions. Suclffgiiences could have a material adverse effect
on our income tax provision or benefit and lialifibr uncertain tax positions in the period in whguch determination is made and,
consequently, on our net income for such period.

From time to time, we are audited by various feljatate and foreign authorities regarding tax erattOur audits are in various stages of
completion; however, no outcome for a particulatibcan be determined with certainty prior to tikedusion of the audit and, in some cases,
appeal or litigation process. As each audit is taded, adjustments, if any, are appropriately réedrin our financial statements in the period
determined. To provide for potential tax exposure ,maintain a liability for uncertain tax positioimsaccordance with FASB Interpretation |
48 (“FIN 48"), “Accounting for Uncertainty in IncoenTaxes an interpretation of FASB Statement No.”l88wever, if these accrued
liabilities and/or reserves are insufficient upampletion of any audit process, there could beduese impact on our financial position and
results of operations.
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We depend on a limited number of third party manufacturers for substantially all of our manufacturing needs. If these third party
manufacturers experience any delay, disruption or gality control problems in their operations, we cold lose market share and our
brand may suffer.

All of our products are manufactured, assemblelettand generally packaged by a limited numb@&@@fs, CMs and OEMs. We rely
on our manufacturers to procure components arghrime cases, subcontract engineering work. Somergiroducts are manufactured by a
single manufacturer. We do not have any long-tesntracts with any of our third party manufactur&sme of these third party manufacturers
produce products for our competitors. The loshefdervices of any of our primary third party mawtdfirers could cause a significant
disruption in operations and delays in product stgipts. Qualifying a new manufacturer and commeneatgme production is expensive and
time consuming.

Our reliance on third party manufacturers also sggaus to the following risks over which we haweitiéd control:
* unexpected increases in manufacturing and repats;
» inability to control the quality of finished prodis¢
* inability to control delivery schedules; a
» potential lack of adequate capacity to manufacalirer a part of the products we requi

All of our products must satisfy safety and regutgtstandards and some of our products must atsive government certifications. Our
ODMs, CMs and OEMs are primarily responsible fotaiing most regulatory approvals for our produtiteur ODMs, CMs and OEMs fail
obtain timely domestic or foreign regulatory appisvor certificates, we would be unable to sell pnarducts and our sales and profitability
could be reduced, our relationships with our salesnel could be harmed, and our reputation anebseuld suffer.

If we are unable to provide our third party manufacturers a timely and accurate forecast of our compoent and material requirements,
we may experience delays in the manufacturing of eproducts and the costs of our products may increse.

We provide our third party manufacturers with dingl forecast of demand, which they use to deteenaiar material and component
requirements. Lead times for ordering materials@mponents vary significantly and depend on variaators, such as the specific supplier,
contract terms and demand and supply for a compg@iengiven time. Some of our components have lead times, such as wireless local
area network chipsets, switching fabric chips, taldayer transceivers, connector jacks and neetdlplastic enclosures. If our forecasts are
not timely provided or are less than our actualirements, our third party manufacturers may bélent manufacture products in a timely
manner. If our forecasts are too high, our thirdypmanufacturers will be unable to use the comptsthey have purchased on our behalf.
cost of the components used in our products temdsap rapidly as volumes increase and the teclgiedanature. Therefore, if our third party
manufacturers are unable to promptly use compomemthased on our behalf, our cost of producinglpects may be higher than our
competitors due to an oversupply of higher-priceghponents. Moreover, if they are unable to use @omapts ordered at our direction, we will
need to reimburse them for any losses they incur.

We rely upon third parties for technology that is citical to our products, and if we are unable to catinue to use this technology and
future technology, our ability to develop, sell, mantain and support technologically advanced product would be limited.

We rely on third parties to obtain non-exclusivéepéed hardware and software license rights inneldyies that are incorporated into
and necessary for the operation and functionafitpast of our products. In these cases, becausatiitectual property we license is available
from third parties, barriers to entry may be
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lower than if we owned exclusive rights to the tealogy we license and use. On the other handgdfnapetitor or potential competitor enters
into an exclusive arrangement with any of our Kegdtparty technology providers, or if any of thgseviders unilaterally decide not to do
business with us for any reason, our ability toedep and sell products containing that technologyld be severely limited. If we are shipping
products which contain third party technology tivatsubsequently lose the right to license, themillenot be able to continue to offer or
support those products. Our licenses often reqairalty payments or other consideration to thirdipa. Our success will depend in part on
continued ability to have access to these techiedpgnd we do not know whether these third padhnologies will continue to be licensed to
us on commercially acceptable terms or at all.dfare unable to license the necessary technologiynay be forced to acquire or develop
alternative technology of lower quality or perfomea standards. This would limit and delay our &bt offer new or competitive products
and increase our costs of production. As a reguftmargins, market share, and operating resultldme significantly harmed.

We also utilize third party software developmennpanies to develop, customize, maintain and supgodtivare that is incorporated into
our products. If these companies fail to timelyivl or continuously maintain and support the safewthat we require of them, we may
experience delays in releasing new products oicdlffes with supporting existing products and onsérs.

If we are unable to secure and protect our intellecal property rights, our ability to compete could be harmed.

We rely upon third parties for a substantial portid the intellectual property we use in our praduét the same time, we rely on a
combination of copyright, trademark, patent anddraecret laws, nondisclosure agreements with grae#y consultants and suppliers and
other contractual provisions to establish, maingaid protect our intellectual property rights. Despfforts to protect our intellectual property,
unauthorized third parties may attempt to desiguiaal, copy aspects of our product design or olatathuse technology or other intellectual
property associated with our products. For exanmgie,of our primary intellectual property assetthesNETGEAR name, trademark and logo.
We may be unable to stop third parties from adgpsimilar names, trademarks and logos, especialligase international markets where our
intellectual property rights may be less protectagdthermore, our competitors may independentlyettgysimilar technology or design around
our intellectual property. Our inability to secuned protect our intellectual property rights cosilghificantly harm our brand and business,
operating results and financial condition.

Our sales and operations in international markets xpose us to operational, financial and regulatory isks.

International sales comprise a significant amodimtuw overall net revenue. International sales v62% of overall net revenue in fiscal
2007. We anticipate that international sales mayvgas a percentage of net revenue. We have condmé@seurces to expanding our
international operations and sales channels arse tiorts may not be successful. Internationatatmns are subject to a number of other
risks, including:

» political and economic instability, internationahtorism and ar-American sentiment, particularly in emerging mask
» preference for locally branded products, and lamgslausiness practices favoring local competit

» exchange rate fluctuatior

* increased difficulty in managing inventol

» delayed revenue recognitic

» less effective protection of intellectual propel
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» stringent consumer protection and product compéaegulations, including but not limited to theeetly enacted Restriction
Hazardous Substances directive and the Waste EEand Electronic Equipment directive in Eurogat may vary from country
to country and that are costly to comply with; i

« difficulties and costs of staffing and managingefign operations

We intend to expand our operations and infrastructue, which may strain our operations and increase auoperating expenses.

We intend to expand our operations and pursue rhagmortunities domestically and internationallygtow our sales. We expect that
this attempted expansion will strain our existingmagement information systems, and operationafinadcial controls. In addition, if we
continue to grow, our expenditures will likely kigrsficantly higher than our historical costs. Waymot be able to install adequate controls in
an efficient and timely manner as our business gramnd our current systems may not be adequatepmg our future operations. The
difficulties associated with installing and implentieg these new systems, procedures and controllaae a significant burden on our
management, operational and financial resourceaddiition, if we grow internationally, we will hate expand and enhance our
communications infrastructure. If we fail to contnto improve our management information system;quiures and financial controls or
encounter unexpected difficulties during expansaur,business could be harmed.

If the redemption rate for our end-user promotional programs is higher than we estima, then our net revenue and gross margin will k
negatively affected.

From time to time we offer promotional incentive;luding cash rebates, to encourage end-usensrah@se certain of our products.
Purchasers must follow specific and stringent dirids to redeem these incentives or rebates. @ftelified purchasers choose not to apply
the incentives or fail to follow the required redaion guidelines, resulting in an incentive redeioprate of less than 100%. Based on
historical data, we estimate an incentive redemptide for our promotional programs. If the actealemption rate is higher than our estimated
rate, then our net revenue and gross margin witidggatively affected.

We are required to evaluate our internal control urder Section 404 of the Sarbane®xley Act of 2002 and any adverse results from su
evaluation could impact investor confidence in theeliability of our internal controls over financial reporting.

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002, we are required to furnish a report by management on our internal control
over financial reporting. Such report must contimong other matters, an assessment of the effaetgeof our internal control over financial
reporting as of the end of our fiscal year, inchgda statement as to whether or not our internatrobover financial reporting is effective. This
assessment must include disclosure of any mateeiaknesses in our internal control over financtlorting identified by management.

We will continue to perform the system and prodissumentation and evaluation needed to comply S&ttion 404, which is both
costly and challenging. During this process, if management identifies one or more material weaaseis our internal control over financial
reporting, we will be unable to assert such intecoatrol is effective. If we are unable to asskat our internal control over financial reporting
is effective as of the end of a fiscal year oruf smdependent registered public accounting firmriable to express an opinion on the
effectiveness of our internal control over finahceporting, we could lose investor confidenceha aiccuracy and completeness of our fina
reports, which may have an adverse effect on aakgtrice.
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We are continuing to implement our international reorganization, which is straining our resources andncreasing our operating
expenses.

We have been reorganizing our foreign subsidiaiesentities to better manage and optimize ournaténal operations. Our
implementation of this project requires substargfédrts by our staff and is resulting in increasgaffing requirements and related expenses.
Failure to successfully execute the reorganizatioother factors outside of our control could negdy impact the timing and extent of any
benefit we receive from the reorganization.

We are currently implementing new financial, demandplanning and operational management systems, andqblems with the design or
implementation of these systems could interfere witour business and operations.

We recently initiated a project to upgrade our fiicial and enterprise resource planning systemshaVe invested, and will continue to
invest, significant capital and human resourcdabéir design and implementation, which may be gigve to our underlying business. If we
experience any disruptions or delays in their impatation, our ability to fulfill customer ordets|l and track our customers, fulfill
contractual obligations, accurately report our fiicials and otherwise run our business could beradiyeaffected. Even if we do not encounter
these adverse effects, the design and implementatithe new systems may be much more costly tteaticipated. If we are unable to
successfully design and implement the new IT systasnplanned, our financial position, results aragions and cash flows could be
negatively impacted.

We plan to move into a new corporate headquartersatility in the second quarter of 2008. If we do nosuccessfully execute the office
move, we may experience disruptions to our busineds addition, if we cannot find a sublessee for th remaining lease term of our
current facility, then we will be forced to take acharge related to such excess space.

In September 2007 we entered into a lease for acoeporate headquarters facility that occupies @yprately 142,700 square feet in !
Jose, California, under a lease that commencegpiih 2008 and expires in March 2018. We are cutyestheduled to move into the new
facility in the second quarter of 2008. We facaumber of challenges associated with the move, dhieuensuring accounting, engineering,
order processing and phone systems are fully dpegdt and minimizing any employee downtime. If d@not successfully execute our
planned facilities move, then we may experiencenass interruptions which could have a detrimeetfgct on our operating results in the
second quarter of 2008.

In addition, the existing lease on our current 8&lara headquarters facility does not expire thélend of 2010. We intend to sublease
our existing facility during the remaining termtbg lease. If we are unsuccessful in finding aesgse, then we will have to take a charge
associated with such excess space.

Our stock price may be volatile and your investmenin our common stock could suffer a decline in vale.

With the continuing uncertainty about economic dbads in the United States, there has been sinifi volatility in the market price
and trading volume of securities of technology attter companies, which may be unrelated to thentire performance of these companies.
These broad market fluctuations may negativelycattee market price of our common stock.

Some specific factors that may have a significdfieceon our common stock market price include:

« actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatiagults or our competitc’ operating results

» actual or anticipated changes in the growth rath@fyeneral networking sector, our growth ratesusrcompetitor’ growth rates
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» conditions in the financial markets in general lnamges in general economic conditic
» interest rate or currency exchange rate fluctuati
« our ability or inability to raise additional cagitand

» changes in stock market analyst recommendatiorsdim our common stock, other comparable compaiesir industry
generally.

Natural disasters, mischievous actions or terrorisattacks could delay our ability to receive or shipur products, or otherwise disrupt
our business.

Our corporate headquarters are located in NortBatifornia and one of our warehouses is locate8ldnthern California, regions known
for seismic activity. In addition, substantially af our manufacturing occurs in two geographicancentrated areas in mainland China, w
disruptions from natural disasters, health epideraitd political, social and economic instabilityynadfect the region. If our manufacturers or
warehousing facilities are disrupted or destroyeslwould be unable to distribute our products ¢imaly basis, which could harm our
business. Moreover, if our computer informationtsges or communication systems, or those of our @endr customers, are subject to
disruptive hacker attacks or other disruptions,kmsiness could suffer. We have not establishedradl disaster recovery plan. Our back-up
operations may be inadequate and our businessupt&mn insurance may not be enough to compensaterwany losses that may occur. A
significant business interruption could resultosdes or damages and harm our business. For exampudk of our order fulfillment process is
automated and the order information is stored arsewvers. If our computer systems and serverogmaven for a short period at the end
fiscal quarter, our ability to recognize revenueulidoe delayed until we were again able to proeaskship our orders, which could cause our
stock price to decline significantly.

If we lose the services of our Chairman and Chief ecutive Officer, Patrick C.S. Lo, or our other keypersonnel, we may not be able to
execute our business strategy effectively.

Our future success depends in large part uponahtintied services of our key technical, sales, etary and senior management
personnel. In particular, the services of PatricR.C o, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officehosas led our company since its incept
are very important to our business. We do not raairdny key person life insurance policies. Tha loisany of our senior management or ¢
key research, development, sales or marketing peesoparticularly if lost to competitors, couldriraour ability to implement our business
strategy and respond to the rapidly changing neétlee small business and home markets.

ltem 1B.  Staff Comments
Unresolved

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our principal administrative, sales, marketing a@skarch and development facilities currently ogagproximately 74,000 square feet
in an office complex in Santa Clara, Californiadana lease that expires in December 2010. In 8dq@e2007 we entered into a lease for a
new corporate headquarters facility that occupps@imately 142,700 square feet in San Jose, @ald, under a lease that commences in
April 2008 and expires in March 2018.

Our international headquarters occupy approximdt8|®00 square feet in an office complex in Cor&land, under a lease entered int
February 2006 and expiring in December 2026. Owariirational sales personnel reside in local sdfecee or home offices in Austria,
Australia, Brazil, China, Czech Republic, Denmaiance, Germany, India, Italy, Japan, Korea, Noraand, Russia, Singapore, Spain,
Sweden,
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Switzerland, the Netherlands, the United Arab Etesaand the United Kingdom. We also have operafmarsonnel using a leased facility in
Hong Kong. We also maintain research and developfaeilities in Taipei, Taiwan and Beijing, Chirfarom time to time we consider various
alternatives related to our lorigrm facilities needs. While we believe our exigtfacilities are adequate to meet our immediatesige may b
necessary to lease additional space to accommfdate growth.

We use third parties to provide warehousing sesvioaus, consisting of facilities in Southern Gaiifia, Hong Kong and the Netherlands.

Item 3. Legal Proceeding:

The information set forth under Note 6 of the Ndte€onsolidated Financial Statements, includedart 1V, Item 15 of this report, is
incorporated herein by reference. For an additidigdussion of certain risks associated with lggateedings, see the section entitled “Risk
Factors” in Item 1A of this Form 10-K.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Hold¢
No matters were submitted to a vote of the sectwstgders during the quarter ended December 31,.2007
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PART Il

ltem 5. Market for Registran’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters andusr Purchases of Equity Securiti¢

Our common stock has been quoted under the syMNJIGER” on the Nasdaq National Market from July 3Q202 to July 1, 2006, and on
the Nasdaq Global Select Market since then. Poidhat time, there was no public market for our oam stock. The following table sets forth
for the indicated periods the high and low salésagrfor our common stock on the Nasdaq marketsh 8iformation reflects interdealer pric
without retail markup, markdown or commission, amaly not represent actual transactions.

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 20C High Low

First Quarte! $19.5¢ $16.6¢
Second Quarte 25.3¢ 18.4(
Third Quartel 21.6¢ 16.9:2
Fourth Quarte 28.1¢ 20.01
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 20C High Low

First Quartel $31.31 $25.0(
Second Quarte 38.7¢ 28.5(
Third Quartel 41.3: 25.8¢
Fourth Quarte 37.0C 29.7(

On February 15, 2008, there were 30 stockholdersauird.

Company Performance

Notwithstanding any statement to the contrary ig ahour previous or future filings with the SE@e following information relating to
the price performance of our common stock shallbsotleemed “filed” with the SEC or “soliciting mai&l” under the Exchange Act and st
not be incorporated by reference into any suchdsi.
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The following graph shows a comparison from July&103 (the date our common stock commenced tramirtpe Nasdaq National
Market) through December 31, 2007 of cumulativaltatturn for our common stock, the Nasdaqg Compdaidex and the Nasdaq Computer
Index. Such returns are based on historical reaultisare not intended to suggest future performdbat for the Nasdag Composite Index and
the Nasdaq Computer Index assume reinvestmentiofetids. We have never paid dividends on our comstock and have no present plans
to do so.

250 : e
== METGEAH, Inc

== MNASDAC Computar Index

200 - == MASDAQ Compnsits Index /’j—

DOLLARS

150
100 +——
50 T T T T T
Jul-03 Dec-03 Dec-04 Dec-05 Dec-06 Dec-07
December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
July 31,
2003 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
NETGEAR, Inc. $100.0( $ 90.3¢ $ 102.6¢ $ 108.8: $ 148.3¢ $ 201.6¢
NASDAQ Computer Inde: $100.0¢( $ 116.7¢ $ 120.5¢ $ 123.8¢ $ 131.5: $ 160.2¢
NASDAQ Composite Inde $100.0( $ 11547 $ 125.3¢ $ 127.1 $ 139.2: $ 152.8

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ooapital stock. We currently intend to retain f@tearnings, if any, to finance the
operation and expansion of our business, and wetlanticipate paying cash dividends in the forab&efuture.
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ltem 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Da

The following selected consolidated financial data qualified in their entirety, and should be readonjunction with, the consolidated
financial statements and related notes thereto;Madagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations”
included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

We derived the selected consolidated statemerperfations data for the years ended December 3%, 2006, and 2005 and the selec
consolidated balance sheet data as of Decemb@08Z,and 2006 from our audited consolidated firerstatements appearing elsewhere in
this Form 10-K. We derived the selected consoldiatatement of operations data for the years ebéegmber 31, 2004 and 2003 and the
selected consolidated balance sheet data as ofribece31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 from our audited datated financial statements, which are
not included in this Form 10-K. Historical resudt® not necessarily indicative of results to beeetgd for future periods.

Year Ended December 31
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
(In thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Date

Net revenus $727,78° $573,57( $449,61( $383,13¢ $299,30:
Cost of revenue(Z 485,18( 379,91: 297,91: 260,31¢ 215,46(
Gross profil 242,600 193,65¢ 151,69 122,82: 83,84
Operating expense
Research and development 28,07( 18,44: 12,831 10,31¢ 8,674
Sales and marketing( 117,93t 91,88: 71,34" 62,241 49,67¢
General and administrative( 27,22( 20,90¢ 14,55¢ 14,90t 9,45:
In-process research and developn 4,10( 2,90( — — —
Litigation reserves and paymel 167 — 802 — —
Total operating expens 177,49! 134,12¢ 99,54: 87,46¢ 67,80¢
Income from operatior 65,11: 59,53( 52,15¢ 35,35 16,03
Interest income, ne 8,42¢ 6,97 4,104 1,59: 364
Interest expens — — — — (901)
Extinguishment of det — — — — (5,86¢)
Other income (expense), r 3,29¢ 2,49t (1,770 (560) (59
Income before income tax 76,83¢ 68,99¢ 54,49( 36,38¢ 9,57:
Provision for (benefit from) income tax 30,88: 27,86 20,86 12,92: (3,529
Net income $ 4595 $ 41,13. §$ 33,620 $ 23,46F $ 13,09]
Net income per shar
Basic (1) $ 132 $ 12¢ $ 104 $ 077 $ 05F
Diluted (1) $ 128 $ 11¢ $ 09¢ $ 072 $ 0.4¢

(1) Information regarding calculation of per share datdescribed in Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidd&timancial Statement
(2) Stock-based compensation expense was allocated as fo

Cost of revenu $ 632 $ 43C $147 $163 $12¢€
Research and developm 2,391 1,11¢ 293 40C 454
Sales and marketir 3,01z 1,40¢ 37E 732 71E
General and administrati\ 2,84: 1,551 24¢ 391 47¢€
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Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopteceBi@t of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”). M23 (revised 2004), “Share-
Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R").

December 31
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Datz¢

Cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment $205,34. $197,46' $173,65¢ $141,71' $ 73,60
Working capital $311,08: $280,87 $230,41¢ $180,69¢ $ 130,75!
Total asset $551,10¢ $437,90¢ $356,29° $ 300,23t $ 205,14t
Total current liabilities $168,50° $143,48. $120,29! $115,04: $ 70,20
Total stockholder equity $371,520 $294,42. $236,00c $185,19: $ 134,93
Item 7. Managemen'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition drResults of Operation

You should read the following discussion of ouafiicial condition and results of operations togettdth the audited consolidated
financial statements and notes to the financialestents included elsewhere in this Forr-K. This discussion contains forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertaintie® fbinward-looking statements are not historicalt&abut rather are based on current
expectations, estimates, assumptions and projectbout our industry, business and future finanaults. Our actual results could differ
materially from the results contemplated by these/dérd-looking statements due to a number of fagtorcluding those discussed under “Risk
Factor<” in Part I, Item 1A above.

Business Overview

We design, develop and market innovative networkiraglucts that address the specific needs of dmmalhess and home users. We
define small business as a business with fewer2b@remployees. We are focused on satisfying the-e&use, reliability, performance and
affordability requirements of these users. Our pmafferings enable users to share Internet acpespherals, files, digital multimedia
content and applications among multiple networkedaks and other Internet-enabled devices.

Our product line consists of wired and wirelessidewv that enable Ethernet networking, broadbandss¢@nd network connectivity.
These products are available in multiple configoret to address the needs of our esdts in each geographic region in which our presa
sold.

We sell our networking products through multipléesachannels worldwide, including traditional réges, online retailers, wholesale
distributors, DMRs, VARs, and broadband serviceviglers. Our retail channel includes traditionahietibcations domestically and
internationally, such as Best Buy, Circuit CityyBrElectronics, Radio Shack, Staples, Argos (U.Rixons (U.K.), PC World (U.K.),
MediaMarkt (Germany, Austria), and FNAC (Franceili@e retailers include Amazon.com, Dell, Neweggicand Buy.com. Our DMRs
include CDW Corporation, Insight Corporation and €@@hnection in domestic markets and Misco throutjEawope. In addition, we also sell
our products through broadband service providersh s multiple system operators in domestic mar&etl cable and DSL operators
internationally. Some of these retailers and resepurchase directly from us while most are fielfilthrough wholesale distributors around the
world. A substantial portion of our net revenuel&de has been derived from a limited number of esale distributors, the largest of which
Ingram Micro Inc. and Tech Data Corporation. Weestghat these wholesale distributors will contitmeontribute a significant percentage
our net revenue for the foreseeable future.

We have well developed channels in the United Statel Europe, Middle-East and Africa, or EMEA, anel building a strong presence
in the Asia Pacific region. We derive the majoofyour net revenue from international sales. Iraéomal sales as a percentage of net revenue
remained constant at 62% in 2007 and 2006. Intemetsales grew from $353.1 million in 2006 to 845million in 2007, representing an
increase of approximately 28.6% during that perité. continue to penetrate new markets such asIBEsstern Europe, India, and the
Middle-East.
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Our net revenue grew 26.9% during the year endextmber 31, 2007 primarily attributable to increaskigpments in our DSL gateway
and cable gateway products to new and existingceprovider customers, stronger worldwide switales, as well as sales of our ReadyNAS
products, which were acquired in connection withMay 16, 2007 acquisition of Infrant Technologibx;. (“Infrant”). We have also
experienced growth in wireless-N router sales.

The small business and home networking marketstersely competitive and subject to rapid techgiglal change. We expect our
competition to continue to intensify. We believattthe principal competitive factors in the smalsimess and home markets for networking
products include product breadth, size and scopleeo$ales channel, brand name, timeliness of medupt introductions, product
performance, features, functionality and reliapjl@ase-of-installation, maintenance and use, astbmer service and support. To remain
competitive, we believe we must invest significeegources in developing new products, enhancingauent products, expanding our
channels and maintaining customer satisfactiondwaide.

Our gross margin decreased to 33.3% for the yedgdeBDecember 31, 2007, from 33.8% for the year@mkrember 31, 2006. This
decrease was primarily attributable to higher wagraosts associated with end-user warranty retasngell as amortization expense related to
certain intangible assets acquired in connectidh thie Infrant acquisition. Operating expensedlieryear ended December 31, 2007 were
$177.5 million, or 24.4% of net revenue, compare@134.1 million, or 23.4% of net revenue, for ylear ended December 31, 2006. This
increase was primarily attributable to a $17.2iomillincrease in salary and other employee relatpdreses.

Net income increased $4.9 million, or 11.7%, to .$48illion for the year ended December 31, 2009mfb41.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2006. This increase was priyradtiibutable to an increase in gross profit 08 ®4million, an increase in interest income
of $1.4 million and an increase in other incom&®&®3,000. These increases were partially offsetrbincrease in operating expenses of $43.4
million and an increase in the provision for incotares of $3.0 million.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have begmapee in accordance with accounting principles galyeaccepted in the United States
of America and pursuant to the rules and regulatifrthe SEC. The preparation of these financé&kstents requires management to make
assumptions, judgments and estimates that canshaigmificant impact on the reported amounts oétsdiabilities, revenues and expenses.
We base our estimates on historical experienceoandrious other assumptions believed to be agpécand reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results could differ sigrafidy from these estimates. These estimates maygehas new events occur, as additional
information is obtained and as our operating emvitent changes. On a regular basis we evaluatessungtions, judgments and estimates
make changes accordingly. We also discuss oucalriiccounting estimates with the Audit Committééhe Board of Directors. Note 1 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements descthmsignificant accounting policies used in treppration of the consolidated financ
statements. We have listed below our critical antiag policies which we believe to have the gregpesential impact on our consolidated
financial statements. Historically, our assumptigndgments and estimates relative to our critiaounting policies have not differed
materially from actual results.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from product sales is generally recogritelde time the product is shipped provided thasyeesive evidence of an arrangement
exists, title and risk of loss has transferrech ¢ustomer, the selling price is fixed or deteabla and collection of the related receivable is
reasonably assured. Currently, for some
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of our customers, title passes to the customer detivery to the port or country of destinationpagheir receipt of the product, or upon the
customer’s resale of the product. At the end ohdacal quarter, we estimate and defer revenwaelto product where title has not
transferred. The revenue continues to be defeméibisuch time that title passes to the custombe @mount and timing of our revenue for any
period could be materially different if our managermade different judgments and estimates.

Allowances for Product Warranties, Returns due tto8k Rotation, Price Protection, Sales IncentivesdaDoubtful Accounts

Our standard warranty obligation to our direct oustrs generally provides for a right of return 0§ product for a full refund in the
event that such product is not merchantable ayiad to be damaged or defective. At the time regeguecognized, an estimate of future
warranty returns is recorded to reduce revenukdratnount of the expected credit or refund to lbeiged to the our direct customers. At the
time we record the reduction to revenue relataddoanty returns, we include within cost of reveauerite-down to reduce the carrying value
of such products to net realizable value. Our steshevarranty obligation to end-users provides émair or replacement of a defective product
for one or more years. Factors that affect the avdyrobligation include product failure rates, miaeusage, and service delivery costs incu
in correcting product failures. The estimated esstociated with fulfilling the warranty obligatiém end-users is recorded in cost of revenue.
Because our products are manufactured by thirg paanufacturers, in certain cases we have recdartbe third party manufacturer for
replacement or credit for the defective products. §We consideration to amounts recoverable fromtlurd party manufacturers in
determining our warranty liability. Our estimatdtbavances for product warranties can vary from aktasults and we may have to record
additional revenue reductions or charges to costwdnue which could materially impact our finah@asition and results of operations.

In addition to warranty-related returns, certaistiiibutors and retailers generally have the righteturn product for stock rotation
purposes. Every quarter, stock rotation rightsgareerally limited to 10% of invoiced sales to th&tributor or retailer in the prior quarter.
Upon shipment of the product, we reduce revenuarfcstimate of potential future stock rotatiomines related to the current period product
revenue. We analyze historical returns, channaritory levels, current economic trends and chamgesstomer demand for our products
when evaluating the adequacy of the allowancedtassreturns, namely stock rotation returns. Otimaged allowances for returns due to sf
rotation can vary from actual results and we maxetta record additional revenue reductions whiall@enaterially impact our financial
position and results of operations.

Sales incentives provided to customers are accddaten accordance with Emerging Issues Task FGIEEF") Issue No. 01-9,
“Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendomt&€ustomer or Reseller of the Vendor's Productsidér these guidelines, we accrue for
sales incentives as a marketing expense if weveegi identifiable benefit in exchange and canaealsly estimate the fair value of the
identifiable benefit received; otherwise, it isoeded as a reduction of revenues. Our estimatedsioas for sales incentives can vary from
actual results and we may have to record additiexpénses or additional revenue reductions depéwdethe classification of the sales
incentive.

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accountsefstimated losses resulting from the inability of oustomers to make required
payments. We regularly perform credit evaluatiohsuwr customers’ financial condition and consideetbrs such as historical experience,
credit quality, age of the accounts receivablerxda, and geographic or country-specific risksegahomic conditions that may affect a
customer’s ability to pay. The allowance for doubtccounts is reviewed monthly and adjusted ifessary based on our assessments of our
customers’ ability to pay. If the financial conditi of our customers should deteriorate or if actiedihults are higher than our historical
experience, additional allowances may be requisich could have an adverse impact on operatingresgs.
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Valuation of Inventory

We value our inventory at the lower of cost or nedrkost being determined using the first-in, fyat method. We continually assess the
value of our inventory and will periodically writkown its value for estimated excess and obsoletntory based upon assumptions about
future demand and market conditions. On a quarte$js, we review inventory quantities on hand amaérder under non-cancelable purchase
commitments, including consignment inventory, imgarison to our estimated forecast of product dehfanthe next nine months to
determine what inventory, if any, are not saleaBler analysis is based on the demand forecastkestinto account market conditions,
product development plans, product life expectaaray other factors. Based on this analysis, we wioten the affected inventory value for
estimated excess and obsolescence charges. Abititeoploss recognition, a new, lower cost basisthat inventory is established, and
subsequent changes in facts and circumstancestdesuit in the restoration or increase in that Iyexgtablished cost basis. As demonstrated
during prior years, demand for our products caatfiate significantly. If actual demand is lowerntaur forecasted demand and we fail to
reduce our manufacturing accordingly, we coulddzpiired to write down additional inventory, whiclowmid have a negative effect on our
gross profit.

Goodwill and intangibles

We apply SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other IntarigiBssets” and perform an annual goodwill impairtrtest. For purposes of
impairment testing, we have determined that the @om has only one reporting unit. The identificatamd measurement of goodwill
impairment involves the estimation of the fair \alf the Company. The estimates of fair value ef@ompany are based on the best
information available as of the date of the asses$mvhich primarily includes our market capitatisa. We did not recognize impairment
charges in any of the periods presented.

Purchased intangible assets with finite lives ameréized using the straight-line method over thérested economic lives of the assets,
which range from two to four years. Purchased igitale assets determined to have indefinite usefaklare not amortized. Long-lived assets,
including intangible assets, are reviewed for impaint whenever events or changes in circumstanciésite that the carrying amount of such
assets may not be recoverable. Such conditionsimslyde an economic downturn or a change in thessssent of future operations.
Determination of recoverability is based on anneate of undiscounted future cash flows resultimgnfthe use of the asset and its eventual
disposition. Measurement of an impairment losddog-lived assets that management expects to maldise is based on the fair value of the
asset. Long-lived assets to be disposed of aretezpat the lower of carrying amount or fair valess costs to sell. The carrying value of the
asset is reviewed on a regular basis for the exdstef facts, both internal and external, that suaygest impairment.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under an asset anititiiadpproach. Under this method, income tax exgaeis recognized for the amount
taxes payable or refundable for the current yemaddition, deferred tax assets and liabilitiesrapegnized for the expected future tax
consequences of temporary differences resulting fiidferent treatments for tax versus accountingesfain items, such as accruals and
allowances not currently deductible for tax purmogehese differences result in deferred tax assetdiabilities, which are included within the
consolidated balance sheet. We must then asselisdiiteood that our deferred tax assets will beoreered from future taxable income and to
the extent we believe that recovery is not moreljikhan not, we must establish a valuation alloseas of December 31, 2007, we believe
that all of our deferred tax assets are recoveralolever, if there were a change in our abilitydoover our deferred tax assets, we would be
required to take a charge in the period in whichde®=rmined that recovery was not more likely thah

We adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, “AccountiogUncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretatiérASB Statement
No. 109” (“FIN 48”) on January 1, 2007. FIN 48 clarifidset accounting for uncertain income tax positiom®gaized in an enterprise’s
financial statements in accordance with StatemEAtSS
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No. 109,“Accounting for Income Taxes.” It provides that@pany should use a more-likely-than-not recognitioeshold based on the
technical merits of the income tax position takesome tax positions that meet the more-likely-timan recognition threshold should be
measured in order to determine the tax benefieteelsognized in the financial statements. As alre$adoption, we recorded a reduction in
tax liability of $255,000 and a corresponding irage in retained earnings as of January 1, 2007ngl@e interest expense and penalties
related to uncertain tax positions as additionalktgpense.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the consolidatedesteents of operations and the percentage changetfr® preceding year for the periods
indicated:

Year Ended December 31

Percentage Percentagt
2007 Change 2006 Change 2005
(In thousands, except percentage dat:
Net revenue $727,78° 26.9% $573,57( 27.¢% $449,61(
Cost of revenur 485,18( 27.1% 379,91 27.5% 297,91:
Gross profil 242,60° 25.5% 193,65¢ 27.1% 151,69¢
Operating expense
Research and developmt 28,07( 52.2% 18,44: 43.% 12,83
Sales and marketir 117,93t 28.4% 91,88! 28.8% 71,34¢
General and administrati\ 27,22( 30.2% 20,90 43.6% 14,55¢
In-process research and developn 4,10( 41.2% 2,90( *x —
Litigation reserves and paymel 167 *x — (100.0% 802
Total operating expens: 177,49! 32.%% 134,12¢ 34.1% 99,54:
Income from operation 65,11: 9.4% 59,53( 14.1% 52,15¢
Interest income, ne 8,42¢ 20.€% 6,97¢ 69.%% 4,104
Other income (expense), r 3,29¢ 32.2% 2,49k *x (1,770
Income before income tax 76,83¢ 11.4% 68,99¢ 26.6% 54,49(
Provision for income taxe 30,88: 10.8% 27,86 33.5% 20,867
Net income $ 45,95¢ 11.7% $ 41,130 22.% $ 33,62:

**  Percentage change not meaningful as prior yeas sasero or a negative amou
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The following table sets forth the consolidatedestaents of operations, expressed as a percentagg tdvenue, for the periods
presented:

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006 2005

Net revenus 100% 100% 10C%
Cost of revenu 66.7 66.2 66.2
Gross margit 33.2 33.¢ 33.7

Operating expense

Research and developm 3. 3.2 2.8
Sales and marketir 16.2 16.C 15.¢
General and administrati 3.7 3.7 3.2
In-process research and developn 0.€ 0.t 0.C
Litigation reserves and paymel 0.C 0.C 0.2
Total operating expens: 24.2 23.2 22.1
Income from operation 8.¢ 10.4 11.€
Interest income, ne 1.2 1.2 0.c
Other income (expense), r 0.E 0.4 0.9
Income before income tax 10.€ 12.C 12.1
Provision for income taxe 4.3 4.8 4.€

Net income 6.2% 7.2% 7.5%

Net Revenue

Year Ended December 31,

Percentage Percentagt
2007 Change 2006 Change 2005
(In thousands, except percentage dat:
Net revenue¢ $727,78 26.% $573,57( 27.6% $449,61(

Our net revenue consists of gross product shipmkesis allowances for estimated returns for stot&tion and warranty, price protecti
end-user customer rebates and other sales incentdgmed to be a reduction of net revenue per BJie No. 01-9 and net changes in
deferred revenue.

2007 Net Revenue Compared to 2006 Net Revenue

Net revenue increased $154.2 million, or 26.9%%#27.8 million for the year ended December 31, 20@m $573.6 million for the ye:
ended December 31, 2006. We continued to experi@mcseeasonal pattern of higher net revenues isgbend half of the year. The increas
revenue was attributable to higher sales in sewédralir product categories. These include DSL gajeand cable gateway products sold to
and existing service provider customers and stnomgeldwide switch sales, the launch of our Ready\#oducts, which were acquired in
connection with our acquisition of Infrant, andudl f/ear of wireless-N routers sales.

Sales incentives that are classified as contranteygrew at a slower rate than overall gross saleish further contributed to the
increased net revenue. This favorable net revanpadt was partially offset by an increase in sedéisrns compared to historical return rates.

For the year ended December 31, 2007 revenue dedénathe United States, EMEA and Asia Pacific esxt of world was 37.6%,
52.3% and 10.1%, respectively. The comparableevetnue for the year ended December 31, 2006 wd86382.0% and 9.6%, respectively.
The increase in net revenue over the prior yeaedoh region was 24.2%, 27.5% and 34.3%, respéctive
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2006 Net Revenue Compared to 2005 Net Revenue

Net revenue increased $124.0 million, or 27.6%%563.6 million for the year ended December 31, 20@8n $449.6 million for the ye:
ended December 31, 2005. We continued to experi@mcseasonal pattern of higher net revenues isgbhend half of 2006. The increase in
revenue was especially attributable to higher safl€SL gateway and powerline products to new afistieg service provider customers,
especially in Europe. The majority of these incrataksales specifically included our wireless gatgwustomized for major service provider
British Sky Broadcasting in the United Kingdom, vithipments of wireless gateways and powerlineyxrtsdto other service providers further
improving revenue.

Sales were further enhanced by the first full yefadRangeMax wireless router sales to the home mave introduced our RangeMax
family of products, which included performance-emting Multiple-In Multiple-Out (MIMO) technology, uting 2005, and the market
continued to embrace this key product line throug2906.

Sales incentives that are classified as contrangvgrew at a slower rate than overall gross saleish further contributed to the
increased net revenue. This is primarily due todased sales to the service provider markets, wipibally require less marketing spending.
This favorable net revenue impact was partiallgeiffoy an increase in sales returns compared tricel return rates.

For the year ended December 31, 2006 revenue dedenathe United States, EMEA and Asia Pacific east of world was 38.4%,
52.0% and 9.6%, respectively. The comparable netee for the year ended December 31, 2005 wa&#41.8.5% and 11.2%, respectively.
The increase in net revenue over the prior yeaedah region was 10.7%, 49.2% and 8.8%, respegtivel

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Year Ended December 31

Percentagt Percentag¢
2007 Change 2006 Change 2005
(In thousands, except percentage dat:
Cost of revenu $485,18( 27.1% $379,91: 27.5% $297,91:
Gross margin percenta 33.2% 33.&% 33.1%

Cost of revenue consists primarily of the followitige cost of finished products from our third gartanufacturers; overhead costs
including purchasing, product planning, inventooyntrol, warehousing and distribution logistics; dnind freight; warranty costs associated
with returned goods; write-downs for excess analats inventory; and amortization expense of ceréaiquired intangibles. We outsource our
manufacturing, warehousing and distribution logstWe believe this outsourcing strategy allowsousetter manage our product costs and
gross margin. Our gross margin can be affectedrynaber of factors, including sales returns, changeet revenues due to changes in
average selling prices, end-user customer rebatestaer sales incentives, and changes in ouraé@giods sold due to fluctuations in prices
paid for components, net of vendor rebates, wayrantl overhead costs, inbound freight, conversasts; and charges for excess or obsolete
inventory.

2007 Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin Comparedd@0&Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Cost of revenue increased $105.3 million, or 27.#94485.2 million for the year ended December28D7, from $379.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2006. Our gross margirased to 33.3% for the year ended December 31, #@07 33.8% for the year end
December 31, 2006.

The decrease in gross margin percentage was plynasiributable to higher warranty costs associatétl end-user warranty returns as
well as amortization expense related to certa@nigible assets acquired in connection with theahitfacquisition. We amortized an additional
$3.1 million in intangibles related to our
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recent acquisitions in the year ended Decembe2@17 as compared to the year ended December 3&, @®also sold through the entire
$3.5 million in inventory acquired from Infrant, weh was recorded at fair value under purchase atoauguidelines. Of this $3.5 million,
$1.3 million represented a charge for the stepsuipit value in connection with the acquisition gheise accounting. We also experienced
increased sales of products carrying lower grosgimsito service providers.

These negative margin impacts were partially migday certain gross margin improvements. Our gnoeigin was impacted by our
sales incentives that are recorded as a reducticewvenue which grew at a relatively slower rantbverall net revenue. We experienced
decreased price protection claims, as well asivelgtiower inbound freight during the year, aswere able to continue to shift the mix of
inbound shipments from our suppliers from morelgast freight to lower cost sea freight due totbesupply chain planning.

Additionally, stock-based compensation expensesamed $203,000 to $633,000 for the year ended Omredd, 2007, from $430,000
for the year ended December 31, 2006.

2006 Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin Compared@0=2Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Cost of revenue increased $82.0 million, or 27.894379.9 million for the year ended December 3D& from $297.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2005. Our gross margirowegrto 33.8% for the year ended December 31, Zé@®, 33.7% for the year end:
December 31, 2005.

Our gross margin was impacted by our sales incestivat are recorded as a reduction in revenuehvgnaw at a relatively slower rate
than overall net revenue, as most of our revencreases relate to sales to service providers, whiglive significantly lower sales incentive
expenses. Additionally, we experienced decreased protection claims, as well as relatively lowdyound freight during 2006, as we were
able to shift the mix of inbound shipments from suppliers from more costly air freight to lowerstsea freight due to better supply chain
planning. Furthermore, rebates from vendors weayeifstantly higher in 2006.

These improvements were almost entirely offset hyraber of factors. Incremental sales in 2006 cprimearily from increased sales of
products carrying lower gross margins to serviaigers. We also experienced increased warrantysatas returns costs, driven primarily by
a higher scrap rate of warranty return units antherease in reserves taken for future returnsdasehe increase in returns volume during
2006. We also experienced higher costs relateavientory reserves and devaluation.

Additionally, stock-based compensation expensesamed $283,000 to $430,000 for the year ended Omredi, 2006, from $147,000
for the year ended December 31, 2005, as a refsthie @doption of Statement of Financial AccountBtgndards (“SFAS”) No. 123 (revised
2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R").

Operating Expenses
Research and Development Expense

Year Ended December 31

Percentagt Percentag
2007 Change 2006 Change 2005
(In thousands, except percentage dat:
Research and development expe $28,07( 52.2% $18,44: 43.1% $12,831
Percentage of net reven 3.%% 3.2% 2.8%

Research and development expenses consist priro&plgrsonnel expenses, payments to suppliersefsigd services, safety and
regulatory testing, product certification expenditito qualify our products for sale into speaifiarkets, prototypes and other consulting fees.
Research and development expenses are recognized
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as they are incurred. We have invested in buildumgresearch and development organization to erhamcability to introduce innovative and
easy to use products. We expect to continue tadddional employees in our research and developdegartment. In the future, we believe
that research and development expenses will ineri@agbsolute dollars as we expand into new netingrgroduct technologies and broaden

our core competencies.

2007 Research and Development Expense Compare®®6 Research and Development Expense

Research and development expenses increased $Bon,nar 52.2%, to $28.1 million for the year eddeecember 31, 2007, from $18.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2006. Tioedase was primarily due to higher salary andedlpayroll expenses of $4.8 million
resulting from research and development headcaomith, including $292,000 of retention bonusesdertain employees associated with the
acquisition of SkipJam Corp. (“SkipJam”) and $1.iMlion related to higher headcount from the Infractjuistion. Employee headcount
increased by 85% to 115 employees as of Decemb@0BY as compared to 62 employees as of Decenib@086, in part due to 26
employees obtained from the acquisition of Infr@ther employee expenses increased by $800,00tdutractor conversions in our China
Engineering Center and recruiting costs. Rent espamcreased $643,000 due to the expansion of bima@&ngineering Center. Furthermore,
IT infrastructure costs allocated to research aeibpment increased $982,000 as a result of additinvestments in software and systems in
2007 as well as relatively higher headcount whiaive a higher allocation percentage to researctdamdlopment. Additionally, stock-based
compensation expense increased $1.3 million to $@libn for the year ended December 31, 2007, il million for the year ended
December 31, 2006.

2006 Research and Development Expense Compare®®® Research and Development Expense

Research and development expenses increased 3$bod hoir 43.7%, to $18.4 million for the year edd@ecember 31, 2006, from $12.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Toedase was primarily due to higher salary andedlpayroll expenses of $2.1 million
resulting from research and development relateddeant growth, including $486,000 related to reétenbonuses for certain employees
associated with the acquisition of SkipJam. Empddyeadcount increased by 15% to 62 employeesBesad#mber 31, 2006 as compared to 54
employees as of December 31, 2005, in part dumfdayees obtained from the acquisition of SkipJ&he increase was also attributable to an
increase of $2.1 million in engineering costs. Ehessts were incurred to improve the quality of small business products. Additionally,
stock-based compensation expense increased $826,820L million for the year ended December 3D&0rom $293,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2005, as a result of the adoptiorFéfSS123R.

Sales and Marketing Expense

Year Ended December 31

Percentagt Percentag¢
2007 Change 2006 Change 2005
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Sales and marketing exper $117,93¢ 28.4% $91,88: 28.8% $71,34¢
Percentage of net reven 16.2% 16.(% 15.€%

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarilyle¢rising, trade shows, corporate communicatiorsather marketing expenses,
product marketing expenses, outbound freight cpstsonnel expenses for sales and marketing stdffexhnical support expenses. We
believe that maintaining and building brand awassrie key to both net revenue growth and maintgiour gross margin. We also believe that
maintaining widely available and high quality tedah support is key to building and maintainingrmteawareness. Accordingly, we expect
sales and marketing expenses to increase in absiiilars in the future, related to the plannedwgincof our business.
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2007 Sales and Marketing Expense Compared to 20a$Sand Marketing Expense

Sales and marketing expenses increased $26.0midid28.4%, to $117.9 million for the year endeztBmber 31, 2007, from $91.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2006. @f ithcrease, $9.7 million was due to increasedgaad payroll related expenses, including
sales commissions, as a result of sales and magketiated headcount growth and increased commissioe to the revenue growth. Emplo
headcount increased from 207 employees as of DereBih 2006 to 260 employees as of December 3T, 200re specifically, 47 of the 53
incremental employees related to expansion in ENMBE@ Asia Pacific. Outside service fees relatedugiamer service and technical support
increased by $3.8 million, in support of higher ealumes related to increased units sold. We misorred a $1.9 million increase in
advertising and promotion expenses related to xpamsion of marketing activities into new geograpieigions. Outbound freight increased
$3.2 million, reflecting our higher sales volumeaifel and entertainment increased $1.7 million reamd increased by $873,000 due to the
higher headcount and expansion into new countvesketing costs classified as operating expensesaireed relatively constant, as the
majority of incremental marketing expenses relatectbates and other items classified as contreatey. Furthermore, IT infrastructure costs
allocated to sales and marketing increased $1l8bmas a result of additional investments in saftand systems in 2007 as well as relatively
higher headcount which drove a higher allocatiocg@etage to sales and marketing. Additionally, lstoased compensation expense increased
$1.6 million to $3.0 million for the year ended @eaber 31, 2007, from $1.4 million for the year eth@&cember 31, 2006.

2006 Sales and Marketing Expense Compared to 20ak$Sand Marketing Expense

Sales and marketing expenses increased $20.6 midid28.8%, to $91.9 million for the year ended:@maber 31, 2006, from $71.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2005. W tioat sales and marketing expenses grew in litterevenue growth. Of this increase,
$9.4 million was due to increased salary and payetdted expenses as a result of sales and magketiated headcount growth and increased
commissions earned in EMEA due to substantial reeeggrowth. Employee headcount increased from 15M@mes as of December 31, 2005
to 207 employees as of December 31, 2006. Mordfggaly, 46 of the 50 incremental employees relatexpansion in EMEA and Asia
Pacific, which represents our continued geographansion and increasing sales staffing in thegiems. For example, we established a
Technical Support Center in our Ireland office, @fhaccounted for 7 new individuals. Outside serfées related to customer service and
technical support also increased by $4.9 milliarsupport of higher call volumes related to incegiasnits sold. We also incurred a $1.7 mil
increase in advertising, travel, and promotion esgs related to our expansion of marketing aatwiitnto new geographic regions. Outbound
freight increased $1.6 million, reflecting our higlsales volume. Marketing costs classified asaifper expenses remained relatively constant,
as the majority of incremental marketing expensésted to rebates and other items classified asaoavenue. Additionally, stock-based
compensation expense increased $1.0 million to dllibn for the year ended December 31, 2006, f&8%5,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2005, as a result of the adoptiorF8iSS123R.

General and Administrative Expense

Year Ended December 31

Percentagt Percentag
2007 Change 2006 Change 2005
(In thousands, except percentage data)
General and administrative expel $27,22( 30.2% $20,90¢ 43.6% $14,55¢
Percentage of net reven 3. 7% 3.7% 3.2%

General and administrative expenses consist ofisaland related expenses for executive, finandeaanounting, human resources,
professional fees, allowance for doubtful accoamis other corporate expenses. We expect a moaestase in general and administrative
costs in absolute dollars related to the anticghgt®wth of the business.
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2007 General and Administrative Expense Compare@®®6 General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expenses increasedndifli@n, or 30.2%, to $27.2 million for the yeardad December 31, 2007, from $20.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2006. Tioedase was primarily due to higher salary andgbsglated expenses of $2.7 million due
to an increase in finance, accounting and inforomat&chnology related headcount. Employee headénargased by 17% to 77 employees as
of December 31, 2007 compared to 66 employees Bea@dmber 31, 2006. We also incurred a $3.1 miilienease in fees for outside
professional services, due to higher accounting,légal and IT consulting expenses. Software ardware maintenance increased by
$644,000 primarily due to our new Oracle enterpresmurce planning system. We experienced an iser@adepreciation expense of $731,000
as compared to the previous year due to the cadimvestment in our finance and operations syst&aditionally, stockbased compensati
expense increased approximately $1.2 million t& $&illion for the year ended December 31, 2007nffil.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006. Offsetting these increases igher IT and facilities allocations to researcld development as well as sales and
marketing due to relatively higher headcount grointthose areas.

2006 General and Administrative Expense Compare@®®5 General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expenses increasedn$iii@n, or 43.6%, to $20.9 million for the yeardad December 31, 2006, from $14.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Tloedase was primarily due to higher salary andgbsglated expenses of $3.3 million due
to an increase in general and administrative rélagmdcount. Employee headcount increased by 2%% ¢émployees as of December 31, 2
compared to 53 employees as of December 31, 200Be0Gncremental 13 additions, 8 personnel weredhinto accounting and finance
departments in our new Ireland office. We also imedia $1.4 million increase in fees for outsidef@ssional services, which was in part
related to an increase in IT consulting costsctaxsulting and general legal expenses. Additionatlyck-based compensation expense
increased approximately $1.4 million to $1.6 mitlifor the year ended December 31, 2006, from $209(6r the year ended December 31,
2005, as a result of the adoption of SFAS 123R.

In-process Research and Development

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we expebsd million for in-process research and develeping‘in-process R&D”) related
to intangible assets purchased in our acquisitidnfoant. See Note 2 of the Notes to the Conder@aasolidated Financial Statements for
additional information regarding this acquisitidre in-process R&D was expensed upon acquisiticalmse technological feasibility has not
been established and no future alternative uses. &e acquired three in-process R&D projects. Twajects involve development of new
products in the ReadyNAS desktop product categorgl,one project involves development of a highernarsion of a product currently selli
in the ReadyNAS rack mount product category.

To date, there have been no significant differemed®ieen the actual and estimated results of Hpedoess R&D projects. We estimate
that we will incur costs of approximately $1.3 naifi to complete the projects, of which approximat$46,000 was incurred through
December 31, 2007. For the three projects, we éxpammplete and begin benefitting from two inlgand mid 2008, and the other in early
2009.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we expe$®&® million for in-process R&D related to intélole assets purchased in our
acquisition of SkipJam. The jprocess R&D was expensed upon an acquisition bedaaknological feasibility has not been estabtistred nc
future alternative uses exist. We acquired onlyioAgrocess R&D project, which is related to the depgient of a multimedia product that t
not reached technological feasibility and had erahtive use. We incurred costs of approximat@B53000 to complete the project, of which
approximately $575,000 was incurred through DecerBbe2006. We completed the project in Februai§720
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Litigation Reserves and Payments

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we redaade=xpense of $167,000 for costs related todttement of th&ercoNet v.
NETGEARawsuit. For a detailed discussion of our litigatimatters, please see Note 6 of the Notes to tnel€@sed Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Interest Income and Other Income (Expense)

Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)

Interest income and other income (expens

Interest income, ne $ 8,42¢ $6,97¢ $4,10¢
Other income (expense), r 3,29¢ 2,498 (1,770
Total interest income and other income (expe $11,72¢ $9,46¢ $ 2,334

Interest income represents amounts earned on shr cash equivalents and short-term investments.

Other income (expense), net, primarily represeaitssgand losses on transactions denominated ifgfoceirrencies and other
miscellaneous expenses.

2007 Interest Income and Other Income (Expense) Guared to 2006 Interest Income and Other Income (EExze)

The aggregate of interest income, interest expartser income, and other expense amounted to het mtcome of $11.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 2007, compared to $9.bmibr the year ended December 31, 2006. The &serés partially due to a $1.4 milli
increase in interest income, which is a resultwfincreased cash balances. The interest rate muecan our cash balances decreased during
the year. Other income (expense), net, increaséiBB$,000. The net foreign exchange gain of $3IBomiwas due to the continued
weakening of the U.S. dollar against the euroRhtsh pound, the Australian dollar and the Jagangen during 2007.

2006 Interest Income and Other Income (Expense) Guared to 2005 Interest Income and Other Income (EExze)

The aggregate of interest income, interest expertker income, and other expense amounted to het tcome of $9.5 million for the
year ended December 31, 2006, compared to $2.@bmfbr the year ended December 31, 2005, primaltly to an increase in other inco
(expense), net, to income of $2.5 million from apense of $1.8 million. The income of $2.5 millivas primarily attributable to a net foreign
exchange gain experienced during the year endedritmer 31, 2006 due to the weakening of the U.3adagainst the euro, the British pou
and the Australian dollar. The expense of $1.8iomlin the year ended December 31, 2005 was priyratributable to a net foreign exchange
loss experienced due to the strengthening of tie tbllar against the euro, British pound, andAbstralian dollar. Furthermore, the increase
is due to an additional $2.9 million in interestame for the year ended December 31, 2006, fronntrestment of our cash, cash equivalents,
and short-term investments balance throughout 2006.

Provision for Income Taxes
2007 Provision for Income Taxes Compared to 200@Wsion for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes increased $3.0 milli@sulting in a provision of $30.9 million for thegr ended December 31, 2007, from a
provision of $27.9 million for the year ended Det®m31, 2006. The
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effective tax rate remained unchanged and was appately 40% for the years ended December 31, 20@7December 31, 2006. The
effective tax rate for both periods differed fronr gtatutory rate of approximately 35% due to nedtttible stock-based compensation, non-
deductible charges pertaining to in-process rebeamd development as a result of our recent adiuisj state taxes, other non-deductible
expenses, and tax credits.

2006 Provision for Income Taxes Compared to 200®Wsion for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes increased $7.0 milli@sulting in a provision of $27.9 million for thegr ended December 31, 2006, from a
provision of $20.9 million for the year ended Det®mmn31, 2005. The effective tax rate was approxegat0% for the year ended
December 31, 2006 and approximately 38% for the geded December 31, 2005. The effective tax @tédth periods differed from our
statutory rate of approximately 35% due to non-déble stock-based compensation, state taxes, atiredeductible expenses, and tax crei
The effective tax rate for the year ended DecerBheP006 was also impacted by non-deductible clsgpgetaining to in-process research and
development as a result of the acquisition of SkipJ

Net Income

Net income increased $4.9 million, or 11.7%, to.$46illion for the year ended December 31, 2009mf$41.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2006. This increase was priyradtiibutable to an increase in gross profit 08 $4million, an increase in interest income
of $1.4 million and an increase in other incom&®&®3,000. These increases were partially offsetrbincrease in operating expenses of $43.4
million and an increase in the provision for incotares of $3.0 million.

Net income increased $7.5 million, to $41.1 million the year ended December 31, 2006 from $33liéomfor the year ended
December 31, 2005. This increase was due to aadeerin gross profit of $42.0 million and an inseemn interest and other income of $7.1
million, offset by an increase in operating expanse$34.6 million and an increase in provisionifarome taxes of $7.0 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of December 31, 2007 we had cash, cash equigadenl short-term investments totaling $205.3 anilli

Our cash and cash equivalents balance increased®@.7 million as of December 31, 2006 to $167ilian as of December 31, 2007.
Our short-term investments, which represent thestment of funds available for current operatiategreased from $109.7 million as of
December 31, 2006 to $37.8 million as of Decemlg2807. Operating activities during the year endedember 31, 2007 generated cash of
$53.4 million. Investing activities during the yearded December 31, 2007 provided $5.8 million cwhincludes the net proceeds from the
sale of short-term investments of $73.1 milliorfsef primarily by the payment, excluding cash agegliimade in connection with the
acquisition of Infrant for $60.0 million, and puages of property and equipment amounting to $9ll&miDuring the year ended
December 31, 2007, financing activities provide@.$2million, resulting from the issuance of our coon stock upon exercise of stock options
and our employee stock purchase program, as wtlkeasxcess tax benefit from exercise of stockonysti

Our days sales outstanding increased from 66 dag$ Recember 31, 2006 to 73 days as of Decemhe208)7.

Our accounts payable increased from $39.8 milltoRecember 31, 2006 to $55.3 million at December2BD7 as a result of normal
variations in payment timing.

Inventory increased by $5.1 million from $77.9 ioifl at December 31, 2006 to $83.0 million at Decengi, 2007. Ending inventory
turns increased from 5.7 turns in the quarter efstember 31, 2006, to 6.5 turns in the quarteeeérdecember 31, 2007 due to more
effective inventory management.
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Based on our current plans and market conditioesh@lieve that our existing cash, cash equivakemisshort-term investments will be
sufficient to satisfy our anticipated cash requieats for the foreseeable future. However, we cahadatertain that our planned levels of
revenue, costs and expenses will be achievedrlbperating results fail to meet our expectations we fail to manage our inventory,
accounts receivable or other assets, we couldderesl to seek additional funding through publigpawate financings or other arrangements.
In addition, as we continue to expand our prodfferimgs, channels and geographic presence, weretpyre additional working capital. In
such event, adequate funds may not be available waeded or may not be available on favorable mmeercially acceptable terms, which
could have a negative effect on our business asdtseof operations.

Backlog

As of December 31, 2007, we had a backlog of apprately $37.8 million compared to approximately $illion as of December 31,
2006. Our backlog consists of products for whicktemer purchase orders have been received and atgcttheduled or in the process of
being scheduled for shipment. While we expect Hillfthe order backlog within the current year, st@rders are subject to rescheduling or
cancellation with little or no penalties. Becaus¢he possibility of customer changes in produttestuling or order cancellation, our backloy
of any particular date may not be an indicatoretfsales for any succeeding period.

Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arragements
Contractual Obligations

The following table describes our commitments titless@on-cancelable lease and purchase commitnasra$ December 31, 2007.

Less Thar More Than
1-3 3-5
1 Year Years Years 5 Years Total
(In thousands)
Operating lease $ 4,17: $10,44¢ $6,54C $19,50¢ $ 40,66¢
Purchase obligatior $86,47¢ $ — $ — $ — $ 86,47¢

$90,65: $10,44¢ $6,54( $19,50¢ $127,14!

We lease office space, cars and equipment undecaocelable operating leases with various expinadiates through December 2026.
Rent expense was $3.4 million for the year endeckBwer 31, 2007, $2.2 million for the year endedddeber 31, 2006, and $1.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2005. In September, 2@0&ntered into a lease for a new corporate heatkys facility that occupies
approximately 142,700 square feet in San Josefa@ak, under a lease that commences in April 2808 expires in March 2018. The terms of
some of the office leases provide for rental payien a graduated scale. We recognize rent exmenaestraight-line basis over the lease
period, and have accrued for rent expense inclrueédot paid. The amounts presented are consisiéintontractual terms and are not
expected to differ significantly, unless a subs&mhange in our headcount needs requires usitawffice facility early or expand our
occupied space.

We enter into various inventory-related purchageeaments with suppliers. Generally, under theseeagents, 50% of the orders are
cancelable by giving notice 46 to 60 days priotht® expected shipment date and 25% of orders aelzble by giving notice 345 days prio
to the expected shipment date. Orders are not zdeeavithin 30 days prior to the expected shipnuate. At December 31, 2007, we had
$86.5 million in non-cancelable purchase commitreevith suppliers. We expect to sell all productsvitnich we have committed purchases
from suppliers.
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We adopted FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. As of Decerdbe2007, we had $10.0 million of total grossegugnized tax benefits and
related interest. The timing of any payments wiighld result from these unrecognized tax benefilisdepend upon a number of factors.
Accordingly, the timing of payment cannot be estieda\We do not expect a significant tax paymerateel to these obligations to occur within
the next 12 months.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of December 31, 2007, we did not have any offhee sheet arrangements as defined in Item 3@3(i&) of SEC Regulation S-K.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Finand&ksents for recent accounting pronouncementshndrie hereby incorporated by
reference into this Part Il, Item 7.

ltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MarkRisk

We do not use derivative financial instrumentsun iovestment portfolio. We have an investmentfotict of fixed income securities that
are classified as “available-for-sale securitidhese securities, like all fixed income instrumeatg subject to interest rate risk and will fall i
value if market interest rates increase. We attempinit this exposure by investing primarily inat-term securities. Due to the short duration
and conservative nature of our investment portfadimovement of 10% by market interest rates woolchave a material impact on our
operating results and the total value of the pbafover the next fiscal year. We monitor our imtgtrrate and credit risks, including our credit
exposure to specific rating categories and to iddizl issuers. There were no impairment chargesuntinvestments in fixed income securities
during fiscal 2007.

We are exposed to risks associated with foreighaxge rate fluctuations due to our internationahuf@cturing and sales activities. We
generally have not hedged currency exposures. Tdgsesures may change over time as business maeiolve and could negatively impact
our operating results and financial condition.Ha second quarter of 2005 we began to invoice sdroar international customers in foreign
currencies including, but not limited to, the euBseat Britain Pound, Japanese Yen and the Austrdiollar. As the customers that are
currently invoiced in local currency become a langercentage of our business, or to the extentegintto bill additional customers in foreign
currencies, the impact of fluctuations in foreigrclgange rates could have a more significant impaaiur results of operations. For those
customers in our international markets that weioometto sell to in U.S. dollars, an increase invhkie of the U.S. dollar relative to foreign
currencies could make our products more expensiddlgrefore reduce the demand for our productsh &udecline in the demand could
reduce sales and negatively impact our operatisgitee Certain operating expenses of our foreiggratons require payment in the local
currencies. As of December 31, 2007, we had netsgs various local currencies. A hypothetical 18vement in foreign exchange rates
would result in an after tax positive or negatiwgact of $3.3 million to net income at DecemberZ1)7. For the year ended December 31,
2007, 31% of total net revenue was earned in cayrether than U.S. dollars.
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ltem 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and SupplementBgta
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Management of NETGEAR, Inc. (the “Company”) is r@ssible for establishing and maintaining adequaterinal control over financial
reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 13({)) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Tlompany’s internal control over
financial reporting is designed to provide reasémalssurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢t@isstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participatiommainagement, including its principal executiveadfiand principal financial officer,
the Company assessed the effectiveness of itsaiteontrol over financial reporting as of Decem®&y 2007. In conducting its evaluation, the
Company used the criteria set forth in theernal Control-Integrated Framewoiiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise
Treadway Commission.

Based on its evaluation and those criteria, managenoncluded that the Company maintained effedtiternal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2007. The Companylspendent registered public accounting firm, PrastewhouseCoopers LLP, has audited
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal contk@r financial reporting as of December 31, 208 8tated in their report which appears
herein.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of NETGEAR, Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the index appearing under Item 151{ap¢esent fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of NETGEAR Incdats subsidiaries at December 31, 2007 and DeceBihe2006, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of thedhyrears in the period ended December 31, 2003nfoanity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of Amelticaddition, in our opinion, the financial statamhechedule appearing under Item 15 (a)(2)
presents fairly, in all material respects, the infation set forth therein when read in conjunctioth the related consolidated financial
statements. Also in our opinion, the Company maietd in all material respects, effective interoaitrol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007, based on criteria establish&dénnal Control—Integrated Framework issued &y @ommittee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOg Tbhmpany’s management is responsible for thesadial statements and financial
statement schedule, for maintaining effective imaé¢rcontrol over financial reporting and for itsassment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, included in thecampanying Management’s Report on Internal Comver Financial Reporting appearing
under Item 8. Our responsibility is to express @pin on these financial statements, on the findista@ement schedule and on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting basedawm integrated audits. We conducted our audit€goadance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United Stat€hpse standards require that we plan and perfoenatidits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statemeatisexr of material misstatement and whether effedtiternal control over financial reporting
was maintained in all material respects. Our awgfithe financial statements included examiningadast basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statemestessing the accounting principles used andfisemt estimates made by management,
and evaluating the overall financial statementgmégtion. Our audit of internal control over fin@igeporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financigloging, assessing the risk that a material weakegists, and testing and evaluating the d¢
and operating effectiveness of internal controkblasn the assessed risk. Our audits also includgdrming such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. Wevbdlmat our audits provide a reasonable basisupppinions.

As discussed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Findistetements, the Company changed the manner ichvithccounts for uncertain tax
positions as of January 1, 2007 and the mannehiohait accounts for share-based compensation aarafary 1, 2006.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablezassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A companys internal control over financial reporting inclgsddose policies and procedures that (i) pertatheéanaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgegaparation of financial statements in accor@awih generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®itbmpany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readdeassurance regarding prevention or timely detecf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lrareterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢t@isstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
February 28, 2008
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

ASSETS

Current assett

Cash and cash equivalel

Shor-term investment

Accounts receivable, n

Inventories

Deferred income taxe

Prepaid expenses and other current a:

Total current asse

Property and equipment, r
Intangibles, ne
Goodwill
Other nor-current asseti

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued employee compensati
Other accrued liabilitie
Deferred revenu
Income taxes payab
Total current liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilit
Non-current income taxes payat
Other nor-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder’ equity:
Preferred stock: $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 start®rized in 2007 and 2006; none outstandind@bv 2r
2006
Common stock: $0.001 par value; 200,000,000 stertsrized in 2007 and 2006; shares issued and
outstanding: 35,243,586 in 2007 and 33,960,50®06.
Additional paic-in capital
Cumulative other comprehensive income (¢
Retained earning
Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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2007 2006
$167,49¢ $ 87,73¢
37,84¢ 109,72¢
157,76 119,60:
83,02 77,93:
13,09! 13,41
20,36’ 15,94¢
479,58¢ 424,35¢
11,20¢ 6,56¢
16,31¢ 97t
41,98t 3,80(
2,011 2,202
$551,10¢  $437,90:
$ 55,33: $ 39,81¢
16,08t 11,80:
89,47( 75,90¢
7,61¢ 8,21%
— 7,731
168,507 143,48

2,62¢ —

8,272 —

181 —
179,58t 143,48
35 34
252,42: 221,48t
101 (5)
118,96¢ 72,907
371,52 294,42:;
$551,10¢  $437,90:
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Net revenus $727,78°  $573,57(  $449,61(
Cost of revenue(1 485,18 379,91. 297,91.
Gross profil 242,60’ 193,65¢ 151,69¢
Operating expense
Research and development 28,07( 18,44: 12,83
Sales and marketing( 117,93¢ 91,88: 71,34¢
General and administrative( 27,22( 20,90¢ 14,55¢
In-process research and developn 4,10( 2,90( —
Litigation reserves and paymel 167 — 802
Total operating expens 177,49! 134,12¢ 99,54
Income from operation 65,117 59,53( 52,15¢
Interest income, ne 8,42¢ 6,974 4,104
Other income (expense), r 3,29¢ 2,49t (1,770
Income before income tax 76,83¢ 68,99¢ 54,49(
Provision for income taxe 30,88 27,861 20,86
Net income $ 45,95« $41,13: $ 33,62
Net income per shar
Basic $ 132 $ 12 $ 1.04
Diluted $ 128 $ 11¢ $ 0.9¢
Weighted average shares outstanding used to comptitecome per shar
Basic 34,80¢ 33,38: 32,35!
Diluted 35,83¢ 34,55 33,93¢
(1) Stoclk-based compensation expense was allocated as fo
Cost of revenui $ 638 $ 43C $147
Research and developmt 2,391 1,11¢ 29¢
Sales and marketir 3,01z 1,40¢ 37t
General and administrati\ 2,84: 1,551 24¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbeasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007
(In thousands)

Common Stock

Cumulative

Other

Retained
Earnings
(Accumulated

Additional Deferred Comprehensive
Paid-In Stock-Based
Shares Amount Capital Compensatior Income (Loss) Deficit) Total

Balance at December 31, 2C 31,45¢ 31  188,90( (2,882 (7) (2,84¢ 185,19
Comprehensive incom:
Unrealized loss on shi-term investments, net

tax — — — — (83 — (83
Net income — — — — — 33,62! 33,62
Total comprehensive incon — — — — — — 33,54(
Reversal of deferred stc-based compensatic — — (350) 35C — — —
Amortization of deferred sto-basec

compensatiol — — — 1,064 — — 1,064
Exercise of common stock optio 1,42 2 8,101 — — — 8,10z
Issuance of common stock under employee s

purchase pla 87 — 1,002 — — — 1,002
Tax benefit from exercise of stock optic — — 7,101 — — — 7,101
Balance at December 31, 2C 32,96¢ 33 204,75 (469) (90 31,77¢ 236,00:¢
Comprehensive incom:
Unrealized gain on shotérm investments, net

tax — — — — 85 — 85
Net income — — — — — 41,13: 41,13
Total comprehensive incon — — — — — — 41,217
Reversal of deferred stc-based compensatic — — (46°%) 46¢ — — —
Stock-based compensation expel — — 4,50¢ — — — 4,50¢
Exercise of common stock optio 93¢ 1 7,432 — — — 7,43:
Issuance of common stock under employee s

purchase pla 64 — 1,20C — — — 1,20C
Tax benefit from exercise of stock optic — — 4,16: — — — 4,16:
Balance at December 31, 20 33,96: 34 221,48t — 5) 72,90° 294,42.
Cumulative adjustment resulting from adoption

of FIN 48 — — — — — 25¢E 25E
Comprehensive incom:
Unrealized gain on shotérm investments, net

tax — — — — 10¢€ — 10¢€
Net income — — — — — 45,95¢ 45,954
Total comprehensive incon — — — — — — 46,06(
Stock-based compensation expel — — 8,87¢ — — — 8,87¢
Exercise of common stock optio 1,23¢ 1 12,48¢ — — — 12,48
Retirement of share (5) — — — — (250 (150
Issuance of common stock under employee stock

purchase pla 53 — 1,20¢ — — — 1,20¢
Tax benefit from exercise of stock optic — — 8,364 — — — 8,364
Balance at December 31, 2C 35,24« $ 35 $252,42. $ — $ 101 $ 118,96t $371,52

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbeasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigea by operating activitie!

Depreciation and amortizatic
Accretion of purchase discounts on investm:
Non-cash stoc-based compensati
Income tax benefit associated with stock optiorr@ses
Excess tax benefit from stc-based compensatic
Deferred income taxe
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effectanfuisitions
Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payabl
Accrued employee compensati
Other accrued liabilitie
Deferred revenu
Other nor-current liabilities
Income taxes payab
Net cash provided by operating activit
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of shterm investment
Proceeds from sale of sh-term investment
Purchase of property and equipm
Payments made in connection with business acaisitiet of cash acquire
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi
Cash flows from financing activities:
Purchase and retirement of treasury si
Proceeds from exercise of stock optis
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under eraplstock purchase pli
Excess tax benefit from stc-based compensatic
Net cash provided by financing activiti
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of pe
Cash and cash equivalents, at end of pe

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for income tax

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
$4595:  $ 41,13  $ 33,62
12,68t 7,07¢ 3,06¢
(1,044 (1,83%) (1,379
8,87¢ 4,50¢ 1,06¢
8,36¢ 4,16: 7,101
(7,059 (3,806) —
(1,042 (3,257) (35€)
(36,967) (15,337) (22,06¢)
(1,58¢) (26,05¢) 1,68¢
(6,346) (6,587) (1,35¢)
14,81¢ 90€ (13,83()
3,88¢ 4,06( 2,20¢
12,47¢ 9,497 15,31
(61€) 3,911 2,16(
181 — —
781 4,68: (604)
53,37- 23,06¢ 26,63¢
(75,670) (173,19) (124,47)
148,76 149,03 117,87
(9,839) (5,919) (4,199
(57,466) (7,600 —
5,79( (37,679 (10,797
(150) — —
12,48’ 7,43¢ 8,102
1,20¢ 1,10( 1,00%
7,05: 3,80¢ —
20,59¢ 12,33¢ 9,10¢
79,75¢ (2,266) 24,95(
87,73 90,00: 65,05:
$167,49 $ 87,73¢ $ 90,00:
$ 2534 $ 2228 $ 14,7

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbeasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1—The Company and Summary of Significant Accauting Policies:
The Company

NETGEAR, Inc. (“NETGEAR” or the “Company”) was ingmrated in Delaware in January 1996. The Compasjgds, develops and
markets networking products for small businesscivitine Company defines as a business with fewer268 employees, and home users. The
Company focuses on satisfying the ease-of-useitgualiability, performance and affordability regements of these users. The Company’s
product offerings enable users to share Interregsa; peripherals, files, digital multimedia cont@md applications among multiple networked
devices and other Internet-enabled devices. Thepaosnsells products primarily through a global salkannel network, which includes
traditional retailers, online retailers, direct ketrresellers, or DMRs, value added resellers,ARY, and broadband service providers.

Basis of presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemiawstade the accounts of the Company and its whmiyed subsidiaries. All inter-
company accounts and transactions have been etedimathe consolidation of these subsidiaries.

Fiscal periods

The Company’s fiscal year begins on January 1ef/#ar stated and ends on December 31 of the saaneTthe Company reports its
results on a fiscal quarter basis rather than calendar quarter basis. Under the fiscal quartsishaach of the first three fiscal quarters ends
on the Sunday closest to the calendar quartenvettdthe fourth quarter ending on December 31.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptethi@ United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assasihiat affect the reported amounts of assetsiabitities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the finamstialements and the reported amounts of revenuksxg@enses during the reported period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmenitth a maturity at the time of purchase of threenths or less to be cash equivale
The Company deposits cash and cash equivalentsigithcredit quality financial institutions.

Short-term investments

Short-term investments comprise marketable seearitiat consist of government securities with égiral maturity or a remaining
maturity at the time of purchase, of greater thaae months and no more than twelve months. Alketable securities are held in the
Company’s name with two high quality financial itgtions, who act as the Company’s custodians amestment managers. All of the
Company’s marketable securities are classifiedvadable-for-sale securities in accordance withghevisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 115, “AccountiRgr Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Se@sitand are carried at fair value with
unrealized gains and losses reported as a segamanent of stockholders’ equity.
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Certain risks and uncertainties

The Company’s products are concentrated in thear&tng industry, which is characterized by rapidhieological advances, changes in
customer requirements and evolving regulatory mequénts and industry standards. The success @dhgany depends on management’s
ability to anticipate and/or to respond quickly amtkquately to technological developments in idaigtry, changes in customer requirement
changes in regulatory requirements or industrydsteds. Any significant delays in the developmenintnoduction of products could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s businedgaerating results.

The Company relies on a limited number of thirdtiearto manufacture all of its products. If anytted Company’s third party
manufacturers cannot or will not manufacture idoicts in required volumes, on a cost-effectivasyas a timely manner, or at all, the
Company will have to secure additional manufacdapacity. Any interruption or delay in manufaatgrcould have a material adverse ef
on the Company’s business and operating results.

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject@wmpany to a concentration of credit risk consistash and cash equivalents, shertn
investments and accounts receivable. The Compdievbe that there is minimal credit risk associatétth the investment of its cash and cash
equivalents and short-term investments, due todbkeictions placed on the type of investment taat be entered into under the Company’s
investment policy.

The Company’s customers are primarily distributtssvell as retailers and broadband service prowidéo sell the products to a large
group of end-users. The Company maintains an atloezéor doubtful accounts for estimated lossesltiagurom the inability of the
Company’s customers to make required paymentsChmepany regularly performs credit evaluations ef @ompany’s customers’ financial
condition and considers factors such as histoggpérience, credit quality, age of the accountsivable balances, and geographic or country-
specific risks and economic conditions that mageatftustomers’ ability to pay, and, generally, isggino collateral from its customers. The
Company secures credit insurance in certain emgrgirkets.

The following table summarizes the percentage ®Cbmpany’s total accounts receivable representedistomers with balances in
excess of 10% of its total accounts receivablef &@ecember 31, 2007 and 2006.

December 31

2007 200€
Best Buy Co., Inc 19% 15%
Ingram Micro, Inc. 11% 12%

Fair value of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of the Compasyinancial instruments, including cash and cashvedents, accounts receivable, prepaid expel
accounts payable, accrued employee compensatioathaedaccrued liabilities approximate their faatues due to their short maturities. See
Note 3 for disclosures regarding the fair valu¢hef Compan’s short-term investments.

Inventories

Inventories consist primarily of finished goods alhiare valued at the lower of cost or market, wiht being determined using the first-
in, first-out method. The Company writes down itggntories based on estimated excess and obsoletetories determined primarily by
future demand forecasts. At the point of loss redamn, a new, lower cost basis for that invent@rgstablished, and subsequent changes in
facts and circumstances do not result in the ra8tor or increase in that newly established cosisba
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Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historicd| tess accumulated depreciation. Depreciatiomisputed using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the assefollows:

Computer equipmet 2 years

Furniture and fixture 5 years

Software 2-5 years

Machinery and equipmel 1-3 years

Leasehold improvemen Shorter of the lease term or 5 ye

The Company accounts for impairment of property amaipment in accordance with SFAS No. 144 “Accounfor the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” Recoverability afsats to be held and used is measured by compharaarrying amount of an asset to the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows expectde igenerated by the asset. If the carrying amaofuihie asset exceeds its estimated
undiscounted future net cash flows, an impairméatge is recognized by the amount by which theygagramount of the asset exceeds the
fair value of the asset. The carrying value ofdhset is reviewed on a regular basis for the exgstef facts, both internal and external, that
may suggest impairment. The Company did not re@aginnpairment charges in any of the periods present

Goodwill and intangibles

The Company applies SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill andeDtimtangible Assets” and performs an annual gobhdtwpairment test. For
purposes of impairment testing, the Company hasrahiéhed that it has only one reporting unit. Thenitification and measurement of good\
impairment involves the estimation of the fair \alf the Company. The estimates of fair value ef@ompany are based on the best
information available as of the date of the assessmvhich primarily includes the Company’s maréapitalization. The Company did not
recognize impairment charges in any of the perpdsented.

Purchased intangible assets with finite lives amerdized using the straight-line method over thévested economic lives of the assets,
which range from two to four years. Purchased igitale assets determined to have indefinite uséfaklare not amortized. Long-lived assets,
including intangible assets, are reviewed for impaint whenever events or changes in circumstanciésite that the carrying amount of such
assets may not be recoverable. Such conditionsmshyde an economic downturn or a change in thessssent of future operations.
Determination of recoverability is based on anneate of undiscounted future cash flows resultingnfthe use of the asset and its eventual
disposition. Measurement of an impairment losddog-lived assets that management expects to maldise is based on the fair value of the
asset. Long-lived assets to be disposed of aretezbat the lower of carrying amount or fair valess costs to sell. The carrying value of the
asset is reviewed on a regular basis for the exdstef facts, both internal and external, that suaygest impairment.

Product warranties

The Company provides for estimated future warratjgations at the time revenue is recognized. Company’s standard warranty
obligation to its direct customers generally pr@ador a right of return of any product for a fidfund in the event that such product is not
merchantable or is found to be damaged or defediivthe time revenue is recognized, an estimafetofe warranty returns is recorded to
reduce revenue in the amount of the expected aved@fund to be provided to its direct custom@étsthe time the Company records the
reduction to revenue related to warranty retutms,Gompany includes within cost of revenue a wditeé to reduce the carrying value of such
products to net realizable value. The Company’sdsted warranty obligation to its end-users provitegepair or replacement of a defective
product for one or more years. Factors that atfeetwarranty obligation include product failureestmaterial usage, and service
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delivery costs incurred in correcting product fedlst The estimated cost associated with fulfilling Company’s warranty obligation to end-
users is recorded in cost of revenue. Becauseahg@ny’s products are manufactured by third paryufacturers, in certain cases the
Company has recourse to the third party manufacfareeplacement or credit for the defective produThe Company gives consideration to
amounts recoverable from its third party manufaatiin determining its warranty liability. Changeshe Companys warranty liability, whict
is included as a component of “Other accrued litddl’ in the consolidated balance sheets, arel&sAfs (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006
Balance as of beginning of ye $ 21,29¢ $ 11,84t
Provision for warranty liability made during theayt 45,40( 45,45¢
Warranty obligation assumed in acquisit 432 —
Settlements made during the y: (39,579 (36,009
Balance at end of ye: $ 27,551 $ 21,29¢

Revenue recognition

Revenue from product sales is recognized at the tiva product is shipped provided that persuasiigeace of an arrangement exists,
title and risk of loss has transferred to the amstq the selling price is fixed or determinable aotection of the related receivable is
reasonably assured. Currently, for some of the Gmy's customers, title passes to the customer dptivery to the port or country of
destination, upon their receipt of the productpon the customer’s resale of the product. At tiee @ each fiscal quarter, the Company
estimates and defers revenue related to produateviitie has not transferred. The revenue continoid® deferred until such time that title
passes to the customer.

In addition to warranty-related returns, certaistidbutors and retailers generally have the righteturn product for stock rotation
purposes. Every quarter, stock rotation rightsgareerally limited to 10% of invoiced sales to th&tributor or retailer in the prior quarter.
Upon shipment of the product, the Company redueesnue for an estimate of potential future produentranty and stock rotation returns
related to the current period product revenue. Igangent analyzes historical returns, channel invgriévels, current economic trends and
changes in customer demand for the Company’s pteduten evaluating the adequacy of the allowancedies returns, namely warranty and
stock rotation returns. Revenue on shipments sralduced for estimated price protection and satentives deemed to be contra-revenue
under Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”") Issue 0o9.

Sales incentives

Sales incentives provided to customers are accddaten accordance with EITF Issue No. 01-8¢ctounting for Consideration Given
a Vendor to a Customer or Reseller of the Vend@raducts”. Under these guidelines, the Companyuascior sales incentives as a marketing
expense if it receives an identifiable benefitxclenge and can reasonably estimate the fair wdltiee identifiable benefit received;
otherwise, it is recorded as a reduction to reven@is a consequence, the Company records a subbpartion of its channel marketing costs
as a reduction of revenue.

The Company records estimated reductions to reefmesales incentives at the later of when thateel revenue is recognized or when
the program is offered to the customer or end amesu

Shipping and handling fees and costs

In September 2000, the EITF issued EITF Issue Rel@ “Accounting for Shipping and Handling Feesd &vsts.” EITF Issue No. 00-
10 requires shipping and handling fees billed tst@mers to be classified as revenue and shippiddandling costs to be either classified as
cost of revenue or disclosed in the notes to the
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consolidated financial statements. The Companydes shipping and handling fees billed to custorimengt revenue. Shipping and handling
costs associated with inbound freight are includetbst of revenue. In cases where the Companysgivfeeight allowance to the customer for
their own inbound freight costs, such costs are@piately recorded as a reduction in net revehéping and handling costs associated with
outbound freight are included in sales and marlgetxpenses and totaled $11.6 million, $8.3 milkow $6.7 million in the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 respectively.

Research and development
Costs incurred in the research and developmentwfproducts are charged to expense as incurred.

Advertising costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Tdiedrising and promotional expenses were $17.4anjl$15.3 million and $14.5
million in the years ended December 31, 2007, 20662005, respectively.

Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under am asddiability approach. Under this method, incaiae expense is recognized for
the amount of taxes payable or refundable for threeat year. In addition, deferred tax assets &fudlities are recognized for the expected
future tax consequences of temporary differencagltiag from different treatment for tax versus @aating for certain items, such as accruals
and allowances not currently deductible for taxposes. These differences result in deferred teet@issd liabilities, which are included within
the consolidated balance sheet. The Company mestassess the likelihood that the Company’s defdeve assets will be recovered from
future taxable income and to the extent the Competigves that recovery is not more likely than, tio¢ Company must establish a valuation
allowance.

As discussed in Note 5, effective January 1, 268¥ Company adopted Financial Accounting StandBadsd (“FASB”) Interpretation
No. 48,“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (“FIB”). In the ordinary course of business theralgerent uncertainty in assessing
the Company'’s income tax positions. The Compangsses its tax positions and records benefits fgiears subject to examination based on
management’s evaluation of the facts, circumstaandsnformation available at the reporting datar. those tax positions where it is more
likely than not that a tax benefit will be sustalinghe Company records the largest amount of tarfitevith a greater than 50 percent
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settletneith a taxing authority that has full knowledgfeall relevant information. For those
income tax positions where it is not more likelgimot that a tax benefit will be sustained, noltemefit has been recorded in the financial
statements. Where applicable, associated intemelsp@nalties have also been recognized as a comipohi@come tax expense.

Computation of net income per share

Basic net income per share is computed by dividietgincome by the weighted average number of conshares outstanding for the
period. Diluted net income per share reflects ttditeonal dilution from potential issuances of coomrstock, such as stock issuable pursua
the exercise of stock options and awards. Potgntdutive shares are excluded from the computatibdiluted net income per share when
their effect is anti-dilutive.

Stock-based compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopteddineralue recognition provisions of SFAS No. 128vised 2004), “Share-Based
Payment” (“SFAS 123R"), using the modified prospeztransition method and therefore has not redtagsults for prior periods. Under this
transition method, stock-based compensation
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expense for the years ended December 31, 200700&li2cludes compensation expense for all stuased compensation awards granted |
to, but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, basd¢te grant date fair value estimated in accareavith the original provisions of SFAS

No. 123,“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS31)2 Stock-based compensation expense for all shaded compensation
awards granted on or after January 1, 2006 is baselde grant-date fair value estimated in accardawith the provisions of SFAS 123R. The
valuation provisions of SFAS 123R also apply tonggahat are modified after January 1, 2006. Then@my recognizes these compensation
costs on a straight-line basis over the requigiteise period of the award, which is generally dpéion vesting term of four years. Prior to the
adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company recognized shbaded compensation expense in accordance withuatiog Principles Board (“APB”)
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Hoyees” (“APB 25”). In March 2005, the SecuritiesdaExchange Commission (the
“SEC") issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 &B 107”) regarding the SEC'’s interpretation of SFAZ3R and the valuation of share-
based payments for public companies. The Compasigpplied the provisions of SAB 107 in its adoptidiSFAS 123R. See Note 7 for a
further discussion on stock-based compensation.

Comprehensive income

Under SFAS 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Inconteg”@ompany is required to display comprehensivenreand its components.
The Company has displayed its comprehensive ina@sypart of the Consolidated Statements of StoclengldEquity.

Foreign currency translation

The Company’s functional currency is the U.S. ddita all of its international subsidiaries. Fonmeigurrency transactions of international
subsidiaries are remeasured into U.S. dollarseaétiu-ofperiod exchange rates for monetary assets antitiisiand historical exchange ra
for nonmonetary assets. Expenses are remeasuagdrage exchange rates in effect during each peziagpt for expenses related to non-
monetary assets, which are remeasured at histesichlange rates. Revenue is remeasured at averelggnge rates in effect during each
period. Gains and losses arising from foreign aaydransactions are included in net income anéwet gains of $3.3 million and
$2.5 million for the years ended December 31, 280F 2006, respectively, and a net loss of $1.8aniflor the year ended December 31, 2

Recent accounting pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 1540y Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157”), which defirfiais value, establishes
guidelines for measuring fair value, and expandsldsures regarding fair value measurements. SEASIties not require any new fair value
measurements but rather eliminates inconsistentiggidance found in various prior accounting pramcements. SFAS 157 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, ianmtbt expected to have a material impact on thi@any’s consolidated financial
statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159¢“Fhir Value Option for Financial Assets and Finalndabilities” (“SFAS 1597).
SFAS 159 permits entities to choose to measure riaagcial assets and financial liabilities at fe#ue. Unrealized gains and losses on items
for which the fair value option has been electedraported in earnings. SFAS 159 is effective irdl years beginning after November 15,
2007, and is not expected to have a material impathe Company’s consolidated financial statements

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141deeh2007), “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141Rii &FAS No. 160, “Non-
controlling Interests in Consolidated Financialt&taents, an amendment of Accounting Research Bulat. 51” (“SFAS 160”). SFAS 141R
will change how business acquisitions are accoufatiednd will impact financial statements both be ticquisition date and in subsequent
periods. SFAS 160 will change the accounting apdnténg for minority interests, which will be re-&tacterized
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as non-controlling interests and classified asmpmnent of equity. SFAS 141R and SFAS 160 are &@ffetor fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2008. The Company is currently eviaigdhe impact on the consolidated financial statets of adopting SFAS 141R and
SFAS 160.

Note 2—Business Acquisitions:
Infrant Technologies, Inc.

On May 16, 2007, the Company completed the acipnsiif 100% of the outstanding shares of Infrarnthrelogies, Inc. (“Infrant”), a
developer of network attached storage products.ddrapany believes the acquisition will accelerate€ompany’s participation in the
expanding market for network attached storage.adggegate purchase price was $60 million, paigshcInfrant shareholders may receive a
total additional payout of up to $20 million in bagver the three years following closure of theuasitjon if specific revenue targets are
reached. Any additional payout will primarily becacnted for as additional purchase price and wlidcorded as an increase in goodwill.

The results of Infrant’s operations have been etlin the consolidated financial statements sihealate of acquisition. The historical
results of Infrant prior to the acquisition were nmaterial to the Company’s results of operations.

The accompanying condensed consolidated finanzitdraents reflect a purchase price of approxima&é6,3 million, consisting of caxs
and other costs directly related to the acquisiéisfiollows (in thousands):

Purchase pric $60,00(
Direct acquisition cost 254
Total consideratiol $60,25¢

In accordance with the purchase method of accogytiire Company allocated the total purchase padartgible assets, liabilities and
identifiable intangible assets based on their estioh fair values. Purchased intangibles are aneairtin a straight-line basis over their
respective estimated useful lives. Goodwill wa®rded based on the residual purchase price aftexating the purchase price to the fair
market value of tangible and intangible assets isedUess liabilities assumed. Goodwill arises assallt of, among other factors, future
unidentified new products and new technologies @t as the implicit value of future cost savingsaagsult of the combining of entities. The
total allocation of the purchase price is as folidim thousands):

Fair Value on

May 16, 2007
Cash and cash equivale $ 2,78
Accounts receivable, n 1,202
Inventories 3,50¢
Deferred income taxe 667
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 36
Property and equipme 12¢
Intangibles 22,70(
Goodwill 38,18t
Accounts payabl (697)
Accrued employee compensati (39¢)
Other accrued liabilitie (1,04¢)
Deferred income tax liabilit (6,819

Total purchase price allocati $ 60,25¢

The goodwill of $38.2 million recorded on the aaitidn of Infrant is not deductible for income tpmrposes.
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A total of $4.1 million of the $22.7 million in aa@ed intangible assets was designated as in-ppgesgarch and development (“in-
process R&D”). In-process R&D is expensed upon &itipn because technological feasibility has negf established and no future
alternative uses exist. The Company acquired tinrpeocess R&D projects. Two projects involve deyghent of new products in the
ReadyNAS desktop product category, and one prajgotves development of a higher end version ofapct currently selling in the
ReadyNAS rack mount product category. These threiegts required further research and developntedéetermine technical feasibility and
commercial viability. The fair value assigned tepimcess R&D was determined using the income aghraander which the Company
considered the importance of products under devedop to the Company’s overall development plarimnesed the costs to develop the
purchased in-process R&D into commercially viableducts, estimated the resulting net cash flowms ftioe products when completed and
discounted the net cash flows to their presentasallthe Company used discount rates ranging fro¥nt8638% in the present value
calculations, which was derived from a weightedrage cost of capital analysis, adjusted to refigictitional risks related to the products’
development and success as well as the produatge sif completion. The estimates used in valuingrotess R&D were based upon
assumptions believed to be reasonable but whicinhegently uncertain and unpredictable. Theserapions may be incomplete or
inaccurate, and unanticipated events and circurossamay occur. Accordingly, actual results may Yeogn the projected results.

A total of $10.8 million of the $22.7 million in gaired intangible assets was designated as exigaimology. The value was calculated
based on the present value of the future estinwsk flows derived from projections of future rewerattributable to existing technology. This
$10.8 million will be amortized over its estimataskful life of four years.

A total of $5.2 million of the $22.7 million in aa@ed intangible assets was designated as coradiay. The value was calculated
based on the present value of the future estinwgtek flows derived from estimated royalty savingyshaitable to the core technology. This
$5.2 million will be amortized over its estimateskful life of four years.

A total of $2.6 million of the $22.7 million in aaed intangible assets was designated as tradeiHk value was calculated based on
the present value of the future estimated cashsflderived from estimated royalty savings attriblegab use of the trademarks. This $2.6
million will be amortized over its estimated uselité of six years.

SkipJam Corp.

On August 1, 2006, the Company completed the aitiguif SkipJam Corp. (“SkipJam”), a developemetworkable media devices for
home entertainment and control. The Company bediive acquisition enhances its strategically ingurtigital home entertainment and
control business by strengthening the Companyliyabd expand its multimedia product portfolio. &laggregate purchase price was $7.6
million, paid in cash.

The results of SkipJams'operations have been included in the consolidatadcial statements since the date of acquisiffdre historice
results of SkipJam prior to the acquisition werématerial to the Company’s results of operations.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemilsct total consideration of approximately $7.iflion, consisting of cash, and ott
costs directly related to the acquisition as folidfim thousands):

Purchase pric $7,60(
Direct acquisition cost 133
Total consideratiol $7,73:%
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In accordance with the purchase method of accogytiire Company allocated the total purchase padartgible assets, liabilities and
identifiable intangible assets based on their exttioh fair values. The excess of purchase price theesggregate fair values was recorded as
goodwill. The fair values assigned to identifialiiangible assets acquired were estimated witlagiséestance of an independent valuation firm.
Purchased intangibles are amortized on a straiig@tolasis over their respective useful lives. Tdtaltallocation of the purchase price is as
follows (in thousands):

Fair Value on
August 1, 200!

Prepaid expenses and other current a: $ 6
Intangibles 4,00(
Goodwill 3,24:
Non-current deferred income tax 484
Total purchase price allocati $ 7,738

$2.9 million of the $4.0 million in acquired intabte assets was designated as in-process resaataeselopment (“in-process R&D”).
In-process R&D is expensed upon an acquisition tmeeéechnological feasibility has not been esthbtisand no future alternative uses exist.
The Company acquired only one in-process R&D ptojehich is related to the development of a muldimeproduct that had not reached
technological feasibility and had no alternative.us

The fair value assigned to in-process R&D was deitezd using the income approach, under which thegamy considered the
importance of products under development to the f@omy’'s overall development plans, estimated thésdosdevelop the purchasedpmces:
R&D into commercially viable products, estimated tesulting net cash flows from the products whammgleted and discounted the net cash
flows to their present values. The Company used@dnt rate of 35% in the present value calcutatjievhich was derived from a weighted-
average cost of capital analysis, adjusted toceéldditional risks related to the products’ depetent and success as well as the products’
stage of completion. The estimates used in valuifrocess R&D were based upon assumptions beligvbd reasonable but which are
inherently uncertain and unpredictable. These aggans may be incomplete or inaccurate, and unigatied events and circumstances may
occur. Accordingly, actual results may vary frore @irojected results. The Company incurred cosgppfoximately $725,000 to complete the
project, of which approximately $575,000 was inedrthrough December 31, 2006. The Company comple&edroject in February 2007.

$1.0 million of the $4.0 million in acquired intaibie assets was designated as core technologywdlbe was calculated based on the
present value of the future estimated cash flowselé from estimated royalty savings attributalddhte core technology. This $1.0 million v
be amortized over its four year useful life.

The remaining acquired intangible assets consisbofcompetition agreements of $100,000, with ayear useful life. None of the
goodwill recorded as part of the SkipJam acquisitidll be deductible for income tax purposes.

As part of the acquisition, the Company has alseedjto pay up to $1.4 million in cash contingemtlee continued employment of
certain SkipJam employees with the Company. Thagmpnts will be recorded as compensation expensesotwo-year period. During the
year ended December 31, 2006, the Company rec@4k@]000 of additional compensation expense putgadhis agreemen
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Note 3—Balance Sheet Components (in thousands):
Available-for-sale short-term investments consistloe following:

December 31,

2007 2006
Unrealized Estimated Unrealized
Estimated
Cost Gain Fair Value Cost Loss Fair Value
U.S. Treasury bills and not: $37,68: $ 165 $37,84¢ $109,73: $ (5 $109,72¢
Accounts receivable and related allowances conefghe following:
December 31
2007 2006
Gross accounts receivat $169,98t $132,65:
Less: Allowance for doubtful accoun (2,307 (1,727%)
Allowance for sales returr (9,417 (8,129
Allowance for price protectio (497) (3,199
Total allowance: (12,227) (13,050
Accounts receivable, n $157,76! $119,60:
Inventories consist of the following:
December 31,
2007 2006
Raw material $ 49€ $ —
Finished good 82,521 77,93:
Total $83,02! $77,93:
Property and equipment, net, consists of the foliogt
December 31
2007 2006
Computer equipmet $ 7,79¢ $ 6,101
Furniture, fixtures and leasehold improveme 2,69¢ 2,15(
Software 10,23: 6,80¢
Machinery 7,07t 5,64¢
Construction in progres 3,30¢ 554
31,11« 21,25¢
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortiza (19,909 (14,689
$ 11,20¢ $ 6,56¢

Depreciation and amortization expense pertainingdperty and equipment in 2007, 2006 and 2005883 million, $4.0 million and

$3.1 million, respectively.
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Intangibles, net, consist of the following:

Weighted
Aveyag_e
December 31 December 31 Amortization December 31 Amortization
2006 2006 2007 Period
Cost Net Additions Expense Net (Years)
Core technolog' $ 1,00C $ 89¢€ $ 5,20( $ 1,117 $ 4,97¢ 1.62
Existing technolog! — — 10,80( 1,80(¢ 9,00( 1.67
Trademarks — — 2,60( 28¢ 2,311 2.67
Non-compete agreemer 10C 79 — 5C 29 0.3C
Total intangible asse $  1,10C $ 97t $18,60( $ 3,25¢ $ 16,31¢ 1.7¢
Weighted
Aveyag_e
December 31 December 31 Amortization December 31 Amortization
2005 2005 2006 Period
Cost Net Additions Expense Net (Years)
Core technolog $ — $ — $ 1,00( $ 104 $ 89¢€ 1.7¢
Non-compete agreemer — — 10C 21 79 0.8(
Total intangible asse $ — $ — $ 1,10C $ 12¢ $ 97t 1.71
Amortization expense related to intangibles in 2006 and 2005 was $3.3 million, $125,000 and,zesspectively.
Amortization expense related to intangibles forheafcthe next five years and thereafter is as ¥adldin thousands):
Year Ending December 31
2008 4,71z
2009 4,68
2010 4,57¢
2011 1,761
2012 43¢
Thereaftel 14t
Total expected amortization exper $16,31¢
Other accrued liabilities consist of the following:
December 31
2007 2006
Sales and marketing prograi $39,79¢ $38,05¢
Warranty obligatior 27,557 21,29¢
Freight 4,72¢ 4,07:
Other 17,38¢ 12,47¢
Other accrued liabilitie $89,47( $75,90¢

Note 4—Net Income Per Share:

Basic net income per share is computed by divittregnet income for the period by the weighted ayersumber of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted net incoree ghare is computed by dividing the net incomeHerperiod by the weighted average
number of shares of common stock and potentialiytide common stock outstanding during the period.
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Potentially dilutive common shares include outstagdtock options and unvested restricted stock@syavhich are reflected in diluted
net income per share by application of the treastogk method. Under the treasury stock methodatheunt that the employee must pay for
exercising stock options, the amount of stock-bassdpensation cost for future services that the @omg has not yet recognized, and the
amount of tax benefit that would be recorded initamithl paid-in capital upon exercise are assuroduktused to repurchase shares.

Net income per share for the years ended Decembhe@087, 2006, and 2005 are as follows (in thousaexicept per share data):

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Net income $45,95¢ $41,13: $33,62!
Weighted average shares outstand
Basic 34,80¢ 33,38 32,35!
Options and awarc 1,03( 1,172 1,58¢
Total diluted 35,83¢ 34,55! 33,93¢
Basic net income per she $ 1.32 $ 1.2t $ 1.0¢
Diluted net income per sha $ 1.2¢ $ 1.1¢ $ 0.9¢

Anti-dilutive common stock options totaling 1,1623 675,953 and 131,560 were excluded fromatbighted average shares outstanc
for the diluted per share calculation for 2007, 2@0d 2005, respectively.

Note 5—Income Taxes:
Income before income taxes consists of the follgwin thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
United State: $48,71¢ $52,50: $50,127
International 28,12 16,49¢ 4,36°
Total $76,83¢ $68,99¢ $54,49(

The provision for income taxes consists of theofwlhg (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006 2005
Current:
U.S. Federa $25,72: $21,36: $16,76¢
State 4,13¢ 2,96k 2,79¢
Foreign 2,50¢ 6,71¢ 1,65¢
32,36¢ 31,04¢ 21,22
Deferred:
U.S. Federa (2,709 (780) (860C)
State (92¢) 10C 504
Foreign 2,15( (2,499 —
(1,48%) (3,179 (35€)
Total $30,88: $27,867 $20,867
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Net deferred tax assets consist of the followimgliousands):

December 31

2007 2006
Deferred Tax Assets:
Accruals and allowance $12,92¢ $13,30:
Net operating loss carryforwar 607 85¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,28¢ 801
Stoclk-based compensatic 1,96( 89¢
Other 544 112

17,32¢ 15,97«
Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Acquired intangible asse (6,615) (395)
Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiar (29 (11
Other (21€) —
Net deferred tax asse $10,46¢ $15,56¢
Current portior $13,09: $13,41¢
Non-current portior (2,626 2,15:
Net deferred tax asse $10,46¢ $15,56¢

Management'’s judgment is required in determinirg@ompany’s provision for income taxes, its defétex assets and any valuation
allowance recorded against its deferred tax assetsanagement’s judgment it is more likely than that such assets will be realized in the
future as of December 31, 2007, and as such natiafuallowance has been recorded against the Qoyigpdeferred tax assets.

The effective tax rate differs from the applicabl&. statutory federal income tax rate as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006 2005
Tax at federal statutory ra 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
State, net of federal bene 3.7 2.8 3.t
Impact of international operatiol (0.6) — —
Stoclk-based compensatic 1.4 0.8 0.C
In-process research and developn 1.6 14 0.C
Tax credits (0.9 (0.6) (0.6)
Permanent and other iter 0.9 1.C 0.4
Provision for income taxe 40.2% 40.4% 38.5%

Income tax benefits in the amount of $8.4 milli64,2 million and $7.1 million related to the exseenf stock options were credited to
additional paid-in capital during the years ended@&mnber 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. dsut of changes in fair value of
available for sale securities, income tax experigg§4,000 was recorded in comprehensive incoméeel@ the year ended December 31,
2007.

The Company has $2.0 million and $121,000 of aeguiederal and state net operating losses froatgsisitions of SkipJam and Infre
as of December 31, 2007. Additionally, the Comphay federal and state tax credit carryforwardss@&; @00 and $107,000, respectively from
its acquisition of Infrant as of December 31, 2003e of these losses and credits is subject tostimitation under Internal Revenue Code
Section 382. The federal losses and credits expidédferent years beginning in fiscal 2021. Thatstloss begins to expire in fiscal 2021. The
state tax credit carryforward has no expiration.
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The Company files income tax returns in the U.8efal jurisdiction, various state and local, aneiign jurisdictions. With few
exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to féderal, state and local, or foreign income teaneinations for years before 2003. The
Company has limited audit activity in various staémd foreign jurisdictions. Currently the Compaags not expect a material change in
unrecognized tax benefits to occur during the d@nonths.

The Company adopted the provisions of FIN 48 oudgnl, 2007. As a result of the implementatiofridf 48, the Company recognized
a reduction of $255,000 in its tax liability and@responding increase in retained earnings. An@tiation of the beginning and ending
amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits (“UTB"as$ follows (in millions):

Federal, State, ani

Foreign Tax
Gross UTB Balance at January 1, 2( $ 3,42¢
Additions based on tax positions related to theeniryeal 6,147
Additions for tax positions of prior yea —
Reductions for tax positions of prior ye: —
Settlement: (6)
Reductions due to lapse of applicable stat (239
Gross UTB Balance at December 31, 2 $ 9,33¢

The total amount of net unrecognized tax bendiis, if recognized would affect the effective takeras of January 1, 2007 and
December 31, 2007, respectively, are $2.8 milliod $8.3 million. The ending net UTB results fronjusting the gross balance at
December 31, 2007 for items such as U.S. feddedk and foreign deferred tax, foreign tax credit®rest, and deductible taxes. The net UTB
is included as a component of non-current incorreggayable within the consolidated balance sheet.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties ederlated to unrecognized tax benefits in incoemeskpense. At January 1, 2007
December 31, 2007, accrued interest on a gross basi $294,000 and $643,000. No penalties havedisgned. Included in accrued interest
are amounts related to tax positions for whichuttiienate deductibility is highly certain but for wdh there is uncertainty about the timing of
such deductibility. Because of the impact of defériax accounting, other than interest, the digahxe of the shorter deductibility period
would not affect the annual effective tax rate wauld accelerate the payment of cash to the taxinyority to an earlier period.

The Company has provided deferred taxes of $29:@@afed to unremitted earnings of certain foreigies subsidiaries. With the
exception of those foreign sales subsidiaries foictvdeferred tax has been provided, the Compateyds to indefinitely reinvest foreign
earnings. These earnings were approximately $28liomand $10.4 million as of December 31, 200'd &ecember 31, 2006, respectively.
Because of the availability of U.S. foreign taxdits, it is not practicable to determine the incdmseliability that would be payable if such
earnings were not indefinitely reinvested.
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Note 6—Commitments and Contingencies:
Litigation and Other Legal Matters
NETGEAR v. CSIR!

In May 2005, the Company filed a complaint for deatory relief against the Commonwealth Scientfid Industrial Research
Organization (“CSIRQO"), in the San Jose divisiortlté United States District Court, Northern Digto€ California. The complaint alleges that
the claims of CSIRO’s U.S. Patent No. 5,487,069mrelid and not infringed by any of the Compangteducts. CSIRO had asserted that the
Company’s wireless networking products implementhmg IEEE 802.11a and 802.11g wireless LAN starglariiinge its patent. In July 2006,
United States Court of Appeals for the Federal @iraffirmed the District Court’s decision to de@BIRO’s motion to dismiss the action un
the Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act. In Septenfi#6, the Federal Circuit denied CSIRO’s requesafehearing en banc. CSIRO filed a
response to the complaint in September 2006. IreDéer 2006, the District Court granted CSIRO’s moto transfer the case to the Eastern
District of Texas, where CSIRO had brought and waimilar lawsuit against Buffalo Technology (USK)¢. which Buffalo is currently
appealing. This action is in the discovery phasee Tompany attended a court-mandated mediatiomireidber 2007 but failed to resolve the
litigation. The District Court has scheduled a JA6e2008 claim construction hearing, and an Al8il 2009 jury trial.

SercoNet v. NETGEAR

In May 2006, a lawsuit was filed against the Conmyplay SercoNet, Ltd. (“SercoNet”), a manufacturecofmputer networking products
organized under the laws of Israel, in the Uniteates District Court for the Southern District oW York. SercoNet alleges that the Company
infringes U.S. Patent Nos. 5,841,360; 6,480,5197®,538; 7,016,368; and 7,035,280. SercoNet acchseSompany of infringement with
respect to certain of the Company’s switches, rsutaodems, adapters, power line products andesgisedccess points. In July 2006, the court
granted the Company’s motion to transfer the adtiatie Northern District of California. In the e quarter of 2007, the court held a claim
construction hearing whereby each side presergadtérpretation of the claims in the patents bditigated. The court issued its claim
construction rulings in the third quarter of 200Y October 2007, without admitting any patent img¢gment, wrongdoing or violation of law
and to avoid the distraction and expense of coatirlitigation, the Company agreed to settle thigdtion. In exchange for a payment of
$850,000, the Company will receive a fully paidpgetual license to the SercoNet patents assertin ilwsuit. Based on the historical and
estimated projected future unit sales of the Comisproducts that are alleged to infringe the asdgrégents, the Company allocated $167
of the settlement cost towards product shipmerits py the settlement, which the Company recorded Btigation settlement expense in the
year ended December 31, 2007. Additionally, the @amy will allocate $648,000, net of reimbursed spsf the settlement cost to prep
royalties which will be recognized as a compondrmost of revenue as the related products are sold.

Linex Technologies v. NETGE/

In June 2007, a lawsuit was filed against the Comiy Linex Technologies, Inc. (“Linex”), a patdmilding company organized under
the laws of Delaware, in the U.S. District Couraskern District of Texas. Linex alleges that thenpany infringes U.S. Patent No. 6,757,322.
Linex has accused certain of the Company’s wirehesaorking products incorporating multiple inputfitiple output (MIMO) technology of
infringement. Linex has also sued 14 other teckmptmmpanies alleging similar claims of patentimjement. The Company filed its answer
in the third quarter of 2007. This action is in tliscovery phase. The District Court has schedalédnuary 15, 2009 claim construction
hearing.

Wi-Lan Inc. v. NETGEAR

In October 2007, a lawsuit was filed against thenpany by Wi-Lan Inc. (“Wi-Lan”), a patent holdingmpany existing under the laws
of Canada, in the U.S. District Court, Eastern iisbf Texas. Wi-Lan alleges
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that the Company infringes U.S. Patent Nos. 5,282,RE37,802 and 5,956,323. Wi-Lan has accuse@adnepany’s wireless networking
products compliant with the IEEE 802.11 standardsADSL products compliant with the ITU G.992 starik of infringement. Wi-Lan has
also sued 21 other technology companies allegimdasi claims of patent infringement. The Compangdiits answer in the first quarter of
2008.

Fujitsu et. al v. NETGEA

In December 2007, a lawsuit was filed against tben@any by Fujitsu Limited, LG Electronics, Inc. ddds. Philips Corporation in the
U.S. District Court, Central District of Wisconsifihe plaintiffs allege that the Company infringeSUPatent Nos. 6,018,642, 6,469,993 and
4,975,952, The plaintiffs accuse the Company’s les® networking products compliant with the IEER8Q standards of infringement. The
Company is in the process of assessing the classerted by the plaintiffs.

OptimumPath, L.L.C. v. NETGEAR

In January 2008, a lawsuit was filed against then@@any by OptimumPath, L.L.C (“OptimumPath”), a pdateolding company existing
under the laws of the State of South Carolinah@W.S. District Court for the District of SouthGbna. OptimumPath alleges that the
Company infringes U.S. Patent No. 7,035,281. OptirRath has accused the Company’s wireless netwogkodycts of infringement.
OptimumPath has also sued six other technology eoiep alleging similar claims of patent infringemdrhe Company is in the process of
assessing the claims asserted by OptimumPath.

Networl-1 Security Solutions, Inc. v. NETGEAR

In February 2008, a lawsuit was filed against tenany by Network-1 Security Solutions, Inc. (“Netk-1"), a patent holding
company existing under the laws of the State obate, in the U.S. District Court for the Easteistiict of Texas. Network-1 alleges that the
Company infringes U.S. Patent No. 6,218,930. Neitwlohas accused the Company’s power over Etherndupts of infringement. Network-
has also sued six other companies alleging sirdiéams of patent infringement. The Company is ia pinocess of assessing the claims assertec
by Network-1.

Fenner Investments Ltd. v. NETGE

In February 2008, a lawsuit was filed against thenfany by Fenner Investments, Ltd. (“Fenner”), @pholding company existing
under the laws of the State of Texas, in the UiStribt Court for the Eastern District of TexasnRer alleges that the Company infringes U.S.
Patent No. 7,145,906 entitled “Packet Switching &oérenner has also sued 6 other companies allegini¢ar claims of patent infringement.
The Company is in the process of assessing thmslasserted by Fenner.

XE103 Powerline Ethernet Adap—Voluntary Recall

On January 4, 2008, the Company announced a voyurgaall of its XE103 Powerline Ethernet Adapteade for Europe and other
countries using 220-240 volt power sources and isaldidually or in a bundled kit. Results of testried out on the affected product have
shown a potential for a semiconductor integratecldi within the product to malfunction in 220-246It environments, causing the product to
stop working and potentially overheat. The Complaay not received any reports of any personal impurgamage to property caused by this
potential malfunction. Products sold in North Aneerbr other countries using 100-120 volt power sesilare not affected by this recall.

The total liability of the recall has been estinabé¢ approximately $629,000. The Company is coniedly entitled to recover these costs
by its supplier and believes it will recover all anmts owed from its supplier. Therefore, the faflcunt of the costs associated with the recall,
$629,000, is recorded as a liability on the
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Company’s balance sheet as of December 31, 2087asa receivable in the asset section of our balaheet. In addition the Company
reduced net revenue by $223,000 for the sales pficeventory in the channel that the Company &ked be returned by its channel partners
as a result of this recall.

IP Indemnification Claim:

In addition, in its sales agreements, the Compwpigally agrees to indemnify its direct custometistributors and resellers (the
“Indemnified Parties”) for any expenses or lialiliesulting from claimed infringements of patemtademarks or copyrights of third parties
that are asserted against the Indemnified Paiffitesterms of these indemnification agreements eneglly perpetual any time after execution
of the agreement. The maximum amount of potentiairé indemnification is generally unlimited. Fraime to time, the Company receives
requests for indemnity and may choose to assumeetfemse of such litigation asserted against tderimified Parties.

In December 2005, the Company received a requestdemnification from Charter Communications, I{i€Charter”),a direct custome
related to a lawsuit filed in the U.S. District GlEastern District of Texas, by Hybrid Patents,. I(“Hybrid”), a patent holding company.
Hybrid alleges that Charter infringes U.S. Pateo$ N6,586,121, 5,818,845, 6,104,727 and Re. 35HyHlrid alleges that products
implementing the Data Over Cable Service Interfapecification (“DOCSIS”) standard, which are supglto Charter by, among others, the
Company, infringes these patents. In the third tiguaxf 2006, the Company together with a numbeatioér equipment suppliers to Charter
assumed the defense of the litigation. In the secprarter of 2007, a jury found that the Hybridgoes were not infringed by Charter. Hybrid
has filed similar lawsuits in the same jurisdictegainst Comcast Corporation, Comcast of Dallas,Tifge Warner Cable, Inc. and Cox
Communications, Inc., all of whom are also custantérthe Company.

In June 2006, the Company received a request d@enimification from Charter and Charter Communica&i®perating, LLC, related to a
lawsuit filed in the U.S. District Court, EasterisDict of Texas, by Rembrandt Technologies, L‘Refnbrandt”), a patent holding company.
Rembrandt alleges that Charter infringes U.S. R&Mes. 5,243,627, 5,852,631, 5,719,858 and 4,937 R&émbrandt alleges that products
implementing the DOCSIS standard, which are suggbeCharter by, among others, the Company, inédnidpese patents. Rembrandt has also
filed a similar lawsuit in the same jurisdictionaigst Comcast Corporation, Comcast Cable CommuaitgtLLC and Comcast of Plano, LP.

In November 2007, the Company along with Motortita,, Cisco Systems, Inc., Scientific-Atlanta, I"fRRIS Group, Inc., Thomson, Inc.
and Ambit Microsystems, Inc. filed a complaint fiEclaratory judgment in the U.S. District Court floe District of Delaware against
Rembrandt, seeking a declaration that Rembranti¢gead patents are either invalid or not infring€He action is currently in the discovery
phase.

All of the above described claims against the Camgpar filed by the Company, whether meritoriousot, could be time consuming,
result in costly litigation, require significant aomts of management time, and result in the divarsf significant operational resources. Were
an unfavorable outcome to occur, there exists ¢tssipility it would have a material adverse imparctthe Company’s financial position and
results of operations for the period in which tiaworable outcome occurs or becomes probabledditian, the Company is subject to legal
proceedings, claims and litigation arising in thdiwary course of business, including litigatiokated to intellectual property and employment
matters.

While the outcome of these matters is currentlydeterminable, the Company does not expect thatltimate costs to resolve these
matters will have a material adverse effect onGbepany’s consolidated financial position, resafteperations or cash flows.

Environmental Regulation

The European Union (“EU”) has enacted the WastetEbtal and Electronic Equipment Directive, whiclakes producers of electrical
goods, including home and small business networgiogucts, financially
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responsible for specified collection, recyclingatment and disposal of past and future coveredgts. The deadline for the individual
member states of the EU to enact the directivaeéir respective countries was August 13, 2004 (segislation, together with the directive,
“WEEE Legislation”). Producers participating in tirarket are financially responsible for implemegtthese responsibilities under the WEEE
Legislation beginning in August 2005. Similar WEEEgislation has been or may be enacted in oth&digtions, including in the United
States, Canada, Mexico, China and Japan. The Conguinpted FSP SFAS 143-1, “Accounting for ElecttdBgquipment Waste Obligations”,
in the third quarter of fiscal 2005 and has detagdithat its effect did not have a material imparctts consolidated results of operations and
financial position for fiscal 2005, 2006, and 200%e Company is continuing to evaluate the impathe WEEE Legislation and similar
legislation in other jurisdictions as individualwtries issue their implementation guidance.

Employments Agreements

The Company has signed various employment agresméiiit key executives pursuant to which if theipdgoyment is terminated
without cause, the employees are entitled to reciigir base salary (and commission or bonus, gigcaple) for 52 weeks (for the Chief
Executive Officer) and up to 26 weeks (for othey keecutives), and such employees will continuleaee stock options vest for up to a one
year period following the termination. If the temation, without cause, occurs within one year ofiange in control, the officer is entitled
two years acceleration of any unvested portioni®bh her stock options.

Leases

The Company leases office space, cars and equipmeet non-cancelable operating leases with vagapgation dates through
December 2026. Rent expense in the years endednibes 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $3.4 millior? $#llion, and $1.5 million,
respectively. In September 2007, the Company ethiete a lease for a new corporate headquarteiigfabat occupies approximately
142,700 square feet in San Jose, California, uadease that commences in April 2008 and expirdsarch 2018. The terms of some of the
Company’s office leases provide for rental payments: graduated scale. The Company recognizegxeense on a straight-line basis over
the lease period, and has accrued for rent expeageed but not paid.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancetgdgeating leases are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,

2008 4,17:
2009 5,65¢
2010 4,79t
2011 3,37¢
2012 3,162
Thereaftel 19,50
Total minimum lease paymer $40,66¢

Guarantees and Indemnifications

The Company has entered into various inventorytedlpurchase agreements with suppliers. Genetailyer these agreements, 50% of
orders are cancelable by giving notice 46 to 6Ggaior to the expected shipment date and 25%dw#rerare cancelable by giving notice 31 to
45 days prior to the expected shipment date. Om@ersion-cancelable within 30 days prior to theeexgd shipment date. At December 31,
2007, the Company had $86.5 million in non-candelgirchase commitments with suppliers. The Compapects to sell all products for
which it has committed purchases from suppliers.

The Company, as permitted under Delaware law aaddordance with its Bylaws, indemnifies its offe@nd directors for certain eve
or occurrences, subject to certain limits, while dfficer or director is or was

67



Table of Contents

serving at the Company’s request in such capatitg.term of the indemnification period is for tHiaer’s or director’s lifetime. The
maximum amount of potential future indemnificatisrunlimited; however, the Company has a Directat @fficer Insurance Policy that lim
its exposure and enables it to recover a porticangffuture amounts paid. As a result of its ineaeapolicy coverage, the Company believes
the fair value of these indemnification agreeméntainimal. Accordingly, the Company has no liaiek recorded for these agreements as of
December 31, 2007.

In its sales agreements, the Company typicallyesgte indemnify its distributors and resellersdoy expenses or liability resulting from
claimed infringements of patents, trademarks oydghts of third parties. The terms of these inddioation agreements are generally
perpetual any time after execution of the agreemiérg maximum amount of potential future indemrifion is unlimited. To date the
Company has not paid any amounts to settle clamdefend lawsuits. As a result, the Company befighe estimated fair value of these
agreements is minimal. Accordingly, the Companyf@siabilities recorded for these agreements d3emfember 31, 2007.

Note 7—Stock-Based Compensation:

At December 31, 2007, the Company had five stodeti@mployee compensation plans as described bEleaotal compensation
expense related to these plans was approximatedyriflion for the year ended December 31, 200irRo January 1, 2006, the Company
accounted for those plans under the recognitionnaeasurement provisions of APB 25. Accordingly, @@mpany generally recognized
compensation expense only when it granted optiatisawdiscounted exercise price. Any resulting cengation expense was recognized
ratably over the associated service period, whiah generally the option vesting term.

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company providedf@nma disclosure amounts in accordance with SFASI¥8, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure” (“SAA48"), as if the fair value method defined by SFE3 had been applied to its stock-
based compensation.

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopteddineralue recognition provisions of SFAS 123R ngsthe modified prospective
transition method and therefore has not restatied periods’ results. Under this transition methsihck-based compensation expense for the
years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 includegesmation expense for all st-based compensation awards granted prior to, duteto
vested as of, January 1, 2006, based on the gasmfair value estimated in accordance with thgioai provisions of SFAS 123. Stock-based
compensation expense for the years ended Decerhp2037 and 2006 also includes stddsed compensation awards granted after Janu
2006 based on the gradi#te fair value estimated in accordance with tlowipions of SFAS 123R. The valuation provisionS6AS 123R als
apply to grants that are modified after Januar3006.

The Company recognizes these compensation costs thet estimated forfeitures on a straight-linsib@ver the requisite service period
of the award, which is generally the option vestieign of four years. The Company estimated thesfanfe rate for the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006 based on its hist@iqarience.

Total stock-based compensation cost capitalizéavientory was less than $0.1 million for the yeamsled December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Compangg@méed the excess tax benefit of stock option éses@s operating cash flows. Uy
the adoption of SFAS 123R, “as if” windfall tax lefits (the tax deductions in excess of the comp@rsaost that would increase the pool of
windfall tax benefits) are classified as financoagh flows, with the remaining excess tax ben&dgsified as operating cash flows. This
requirement will reduce net operating cash flowd imcrease net financing cash flows in periodsrafteption. Prior period cash flows are not
reclassified to reflect this new requirement. Idit&idn, total cash flow is not impacted as a resiithis new requirement.
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The pro forma table below reflects net income aasidoand diluted net income per share for the gaded December 31, 2005, had the
Company applied the fair value recognition provisiof SFAS 123, as follows (in thousands, excepspare data):

Year Ended
December 31
2005
Net income, as reporte $ 33,62¢
Add:
Employee stoc-based compensation included in reported net inc 1,064
Less:
Total employee sto-based compensation determined under fair valueodetiet of taxes(1 (9,689
Pro forma net incom $ 25,00:
Basic net income per sha
As reportec $ 1.04
Pro forma $ 0.77
Diluted net income per shat
As reportec $ 0.9¢
Pro forma $ 0.74

(1) Of the 1,144,050 options granted during the yealed December 31, 2005, 964,100 were salesetedtoptions that vested immediately
on grant. These options had a fair value of $6llianj net of taxes

As of December 31, 2007, the Company has the fallgwhare-based compensation plans:

2000 Stock Option Plan

In April 2000, the Company adopted the 2000 Stopkidd Plan (the “2000 Plan”). The 2000 Plan prosiftar the granting of stock
options to employees and consultants of the Comp@ptions granted under the 2000 Plan may be eititentive stock options or
nonqualified stock options. Incentive stock optighSO”) may be granted only to Company employassl(ding officers and directors who
are also employees). Nonqualified stock optionsS@N) may be granted to Company employees, direetodsconsultants. A total of
7,350,000 shares of Common Stock have been restrveaguance under the 2000 Plan.

Options under the 2000 Plan may be granted fopdsmf up to ten years, provided, however, thah@)exercise price of an ISO and
NSO shall not be less than the estimated fair vafuike shares on the date of grant and (ii) thexasge price of an ISO and NSO granted
10% shareholder shall not be less than 110% oédtimated fair value of the shares on the dateaftgTo date, options granted generally
over four years.

2003 Stock Plan

In April 2003, the Company adopted the 2003 Stdelk Rthe “2003 Plan”). The 2003 Plan provides far granting of stock options to
employees and consultants of the Company. Opticarged under the 2003 Plan may be either incestivek options or nonqualified stock
options. ISOs may be granted only to Company engasyincluding officers and directors who are &isployees). NSOs may be granted to
Company employees, directors and consultants. Timep@ny has reserved 750,000 shares of Common Bleglany shares which were
reserved but not issued under the 2000 Plan dgeafdte of the approval of the 2003 Plan. The nurobshares which were reserved but not
issued under the 2000 Plan that were transferrétet€ompany’s 2003 Plan were 615,290, which wloenbined with the shares reserved for
the Company’s 2003
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Plan total 1,365,290 shares reserved under the @my$2003 Plan as of the date of transfer. Anyomgtcancelled under either the 2000 Plan
or the 2003 Plan are returned to the pool availdslgrant. As of December 31, 2007, 212,787 share reserved for future grants under the
Company’s 2003 Plan.

Options under the 2003 Plan may be granted foogerdf up to ten years, provided, however, thah@)exercise price of an ISO and
NSO shall not be less than the estimated fair vafube shares on the date of grant and (ii) trerase price of an ISO and NSO granted
10% shareholder shall not be less than 110% oédtimated fair value of the shares on the dateaftgTo date, options granted generally '
over four years, with the first tranche vestinghat end of twelve months and the remaining shamdenlying the option vesting monthly over
the remaining three years. In fiscal 2005, certgitions granted under the 2003 Plan immediateltedesnd were exercisable on the date of
grant, and the shares underlying such options sggct to a resale restriction which expires r@te of 25% per year.

2006 Long Term Incentive Plan

In April 2006, the Company adopted the 2006 LongnTincentive Plan (the “2006 Plan”), which was ap@d by the Company’s
stockholders at the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stoctrd on May 23, 2006. The 2006 Plan provides fegifanting of stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock, performaamards and other stock awards, to eligible dirs¢temployees and consultants of the
Company. The Company has reserved 2,500,000 sb@smmon Stock for issuance under the 2006 Play.dptions cancelled under the
2006 Plan are returned to the pool available fangrAs of December 31, 2007, 630,953 shares veserved for future grants under the 2006
Plan.

Options granted under the 2006 Plan may be eittoentive stock options or nonqualified stock opidi$Os may be granted only to
Company employees (including officers and directain® are also employees). NSOs may be granted tgp@oy employees, directors and
consultants. Options may be granted for periodgpab ten years, provided, however, that (i) thereise price of an ISO and NSO shall not be
less than the estimated fair value of the shardb@date of grant and (ii) the exercise pricerof20 and NSO granted to a 10% shareholder
shall not be less than 110% of the estimated flivesof the shares on the date of grant. Optioastgd under the 2006 Plan generally vest
four years, with the first tranche vesting at thd ef twelve months and the remaining shares uyidgrthe option vesting monthly over the
remaining three years.

Stock appreciation rights may be granted unde2@®$6 Plan subject to the terms specified by tha ptiministrator, provided that the
term of any such right may not exceed ten (10)s/&am the date of grant. The exercise price gdiyezannot be less than the fair market
value of the Company’s common stock on the datstibiek appreciation right is granted.

Restricted stock awards may be granted under t6& Pan subject to the terms specified by the pdministrator. The period over
which any restricted award may fully vest is gefignao less than three (3) years. Restricted sawéirds are nonvested stock awards that may
include grants of restricted stock or grants ofrieted stock units. Restricted stock awards adependent of option grants and are generally
subject to forfeiture if employment terminates ptimthe release of the restrictions. During thexiqud, ownership of the shares cannot be
transferred. Restricted stock has the same voitigsras other common stock and is considered tulrently issued and outstanding.
Restricted stock units do not have the voting sgiftcommon stock, and the shares underlying tteicted stock units are not considered
issued and outstanding. The Company expenses shefche restricted stock awards, which is deteedito be the fair market value of the
shares at the date of grant, ratably over the getiming which the restrictions lapse.

Performance awards may be in the form of perforraaares or performance units. A performance shaems an award denominate:
shares of Company common stock and a performariteneans an award denominated in units having kaidedlue or other currency, as
determined by the Committee. The plan administraitirdetermine the number of performance awards till be granted and will establish
the
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performance goals and other conditions for payméstich performance awards. The period of measthi@gchievement of performance
goals will be a minimum of twelve (12) months.

Other stock-based awards may be granted unde Ot Rlan subject to the terms specified by the ptiministrator. Other stock-based
awards may include dividend equivalents, restristedk awards, or amounts which are equivalenti tar @ portion of any federal, state, local,
domestic or foreign taxes relating to an award, mag be payable in shares, cash, other securitiasyoother form of property as the plan
administrator may determine.

In the event of a change in control of the Compaitiyawards under the 2006 Plan vest in full ahdaistanding performance shares and
performance units will be paid out upon transfer.

2006 Stand-Alone Stock Option Agreement

In August 2006, the Company reserved for and gcaat800,000 share nonqualified stock option in eation with the hiring of a key
executive. In the event of a change in controhef Company, this option vests in full.

Employee Stock Purchase Ple

The Company sponsors an Employee Stock PurchasdtR&“ESPP”), pursuant to which eligible employesay contribute up to 10%
of compensation, subject to certain income limidgpurchase shares of the Companyommon stock. Prior to January 1, 2006, employese
able to purchase stock semi-annually at a pricalequB5% of the fair market value at certain pthafined dates. As of January 1, 2006, the
Company changed the ESPP such that employeesusilhase stock semi-annually at a price equal to 86&te fair market value on the
purchase date. Since the price of the shares isdetevmined at the purchase date and there isngeta look-back period, the Company
recognizes the expense based on the 15% discopuatdtase. For the years ended December 31, 2@0Z096, ESPP compensation expense
was $232,000 and $206,000, respectively.

Valuation and Expense Information Under SFAS 123R

The fair value of each option award is estimatethendate of grant using the Black-Scholes-Mertptioo valuation model and the
weighted average assumptions in the following tabhe expected term of options granted is derivechfhistorical data on employee exercise
and post-vesting employment termination behavibe fisk free interest rate is based on the implieltl currently available on U.S. Treasury
securities with an equivalent remaining term. Expewolatility is based on a combination of thetdnigal volatility of the Company’s stock as
well as the historical volatility of certain of tl@ompany’s industry peers’ stock.

Stock Options ESPP
Year Ended December 31, December 31
2007 2006 2005 2005
Expected life (in years 4.t 4.¢ 4.C 0.t
Risk-free interest rat 4.47% 4.74% 3.85% 2.9%
Expected volatility 53% 59% 56% 55%
Dividend yield — — — —
Weighted average fair value of gra $16.0< $12.0¢ $8.01 $ 5.21
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Activity under the Company’s Stock Option Planses forth as follows (share data in thousands):

December 31, 200!

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Shares Price
Options outstanding at beginning of y 4,143 $ 7.0C
Options grante: 1,145 17.2:
Options exercise (1,37¢) 5.7
Options cancelle (242) 9.41
Outstanding at end of ye 3,674 10.4¢
Options exercisable at end of yi 2,95¢ 9.82

Options outstanding under the stock option plansf &ecember 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, aadgels during the years ended
December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006 were lag/fo(share data in thousands):

2007 2006
Weighted Weighted
Weighted Average Weighted Average
Remaining Remaining
Average Contractual Aggregate Average Contractual Aggregate
Exercise Intrinsic Exercise Intrinsic
Shares Price Term Value Shares Price Term Value
In thousands In years In thousands In thousands In years In thousands
Options outstanding at
beginning of yea 3,93« $14.7¢ 3,674 $ 10.4¢
Granted 89¢ 32.9¢ 1,32¢ 22.0¢
Exercisec (1,189 10.5¢ (933 7.97
Forfeited/cancelled/expire (229 23.22 (133 16.6(
Outstanding at end of ye 3,424 $ 20.47 7.45 $ 52,42¢ 3,93¢ $14.7¢ 7.1% $ 45,14¢
Vested and expected to ves
end of yeal 3,33¢ $ 20.2¢ 7.41 $ 51,65¢ 3,84« $ 14.64 7.0¢ $ 44,65(
Exercisable at end of ye 1,744 $ 13.8( 6.0C $ 38,13« 2,38 $ 10.8¢ 5.7z $ 36,73:

The aggregate intrinsic values in the table abepeasent the total pre-tax intrinsic values (tiffedince between the Company'’s closing
stock price on the last trading day of fiscal 2@@id fiscal 2006 and the exercise price, multipbgdhe number of shares underlying the in-the-
money options) that would have been received byfhi®n holders had all option holders exercisegrtbptions on December 31, 2007 and
December 31, 2006. This amount changes based daitmearket value of the Company’s stock. Totatimsic value of options exercised for
the year ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 200825 million, $15.1 million, and $18.7 milliorgspectively.

The total fair value of options vested during tleans ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 wasrfiion, $2.8 million, and $1.1
million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2007, $20.7 million of total ecwgnized compensation cost related to stock apigaxpected to be recognized ¢
a weighted-average period of 1.52 years.

72



Table of Contents

Cash received from option exercises and purchasger the ESPP for the year ended December 31, 2002006 was $13.7 million al
$8.5 million, respectively.

Non-vested restricted stock units as of DecembeRB27 and 2006, and changes during the years dxelesimber 31, 2007 and 2006
were as follows (share data in thousands):

December 31, 200° December 31, 200!
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Grant Grant
Date Date
Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value
Restricted stock units outstanding at beginningeair 114 $ 2252 — $ —
Restricted stock units grant 101 29.8¢ 114 22.52
Restricted stock units vest (52) 22.5¢ — —
Restricted stock units cancell (15) 20.3¢ — —
Restricted stock units outstanding at end of 14¢ $ 27.6i 114 $ 22.5;

We did not grant restricted stock units in the yeraded December 31, 2005.

Total intrinsic value of restricted stock units tegkduring the year ended December 31, 2007 wasriillion. No restricted stock units
vested in the years ended December 31, 2006 arid 200

The total fair value of restricted stock units eestluring the year ended December 31, 2007 wasn$illi@n. No restricted stock units
vested in the years ended December 31, 2006 arkl 200

As of December 31, 2007, $2.9 million of total wwognized compensation cost related to non-vesstdated stock units is expected to
be recognized over a weighted-average period & ylears.

Total fair value of stoclbased compensation awards expensed for the yeded &ecember 31, 2007 and 2006 was $6.6 millionané
million, respectively, net of tax. The actual exx&sx benefit recognized for the tax deductioniragisrom the exercise of stock-based
compensation awards for the year ended Decemb@0BZ, and 2006 totaled $8.4 million and $4.2 millicespectively.

Note 8—Segment Information, Operations by Geograpli Area and Customer Concentration:

Operating segments are components of an enteglsa& which separate financial information is aafalié and is regularly evaluated by
management, namely the chief operating decisioremakan organization, in order to make operating mesource allocation decisions. By
definition, the Company operates in one businegmeat, which comprises the development, marketimsale of networking products for the
small business and home markets. The Company’sapyilreadquarters and a significant portion of ierations are located in the United
States. The Company also conducts sales, marketistpmer service activities and certain distritnuitenter activities through several small
sales offices in Europe, Middle-East and AfricaNIIEA”) and Asia as well as outsourced distributi@nters.

For reporting purposes revenue is attributed th gg@ography based on the geographic location ofustomer. Net revenue by
geography comprises gross revenue less such itesaes incentives deemed to be a reduction akmehue per EITF Issue No. 01-9, sales
returns and price protection, which reduce grogsmee.
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Geographic information
Net revenue by geographic location is as followslifpusands):

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
United State: $273,69! $220,44( $199,20¢
United Kingdom 183,34: 151,02¢ 76,45¢
EMEA (excluding UK) 197,01: 147,20¢ 123,49}
Asia Pacific and rest of the wor 73,73¢ 54,89¢ 50,45:

$727,78 $573,57( $449,61(

Long-lived assets, comprising fixed assets, arertefd based on the location of the asset. Longtagsets by geographic location are as
follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2007 2006
United State: $ 9,45¢ $4,87¢
EMEA 57¢ 592
Asia Pacific and rest of the wor 1,16¢ 1,09¢

$11,20¢ $6,56¢

Customer concentration (as a percentage of nehoeye

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006 2005
Ingram Micro, Inc. 17% 19% 25%
Tech Data Corporatic 14% 16% 17%
All others individually less than 10% of rever _6%% _65% _ 58%

100%  100%  100%

Note 9—Employee Benefit Plan:

In April 2000, the Company adopted the NETGEAR 4)Rlan to which employees may contribute up to%Q@d salary subject to the
legal maximum. The Company contributes an amounéletp 50% of the employee contributions up to aimam of $1,500 per calendar year
per employee. The Company contributed and expe$c@8,000, $473,000 and $361,000 related to the NEAR5401(k) Plan in the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respsctivel
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QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

The following table presents unaudited quartemaficial information for each of the Company’s kight quarters. This information has
been derived from the Company’s unaudited finarstatiements and has been prepared on the samasdsesaudited Consolidated Financial
Statements appearing elsewhere in this ForrK.10-the opinion of management, all necessarystdjents, consisting only of normal recuri
adjustments, have been included to state fairlygtreaterly results.

September 3C December 31

April 1, July 1,
2007 2007 2007 2007
Net revenus $173,57. $164,27¢ $ 191,68. $ 198,25!
Gross profil $ 60,03C $5595¢ $ 63,77¢ $ 62,84t
Provision for income taxe $ 7,75 $ 6,78« $ 879 $ 7,54¢
Net income $ 14,02 $ 6,13t $ 13,266 $ 12,53«
Net income per sha—basic $ 041 $ 018 $ 03¢ $ 0.3¢€
Net income per she—diluted $ 04C $ 017 $ 037 $ 0.3t
December 31
April 2, July 2, October 1,
2006 2006 2006 2006
Net revenus $127,25¢ $130,73¢ $151,57: $ 164,00:
Gross profil $ 44,54t $ 45377 $ 50,55¢ $ 53,17¢
Provision for income taxe $ 67124 $ 641 $ 7,08C $ 7,66(
Net income $ 9866 $ 983 $ 7,98 $ 13,44¢
Net income per sha—basic $ 03C $ 03C $ 022 % 0.4
Net income per she—diluted $ 02¢ $ 02¢ $ 02 % 0.3¢
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants orcéenting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedure

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedur&@ur management evaluated, with the participatfoouo principal executive officer ai
our principal financial officer, the effectivenesisour disclosure controls and procedures, as ddfin Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (theH&hge Act”), as of the end of the period covdrgedhis Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Based on this evaluation, our chief executive effiand our chief financial officer have concludedttour disclosure controls and procedures
are effective to ensure that information we areliregl to disclose in reports that we file or subamitier the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the pien@ds specified in Securities and Exchange Cosionsrules and forms, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to mameent, including the principal executive officadarincipal financial officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regardinguieed disclosures.

Changes in internal control over financial repodinThere was no change in our internal control oirerfcial reporting that occurred
during the most recent fiscal quarter that has rizlie affected, or is reasonably likely to matdsiaffect, our internal control over financial
reporting. We are aware that any system of conthae/ever well designed and operated, can onlyigeoreasonable, and not absolute,
assurance that the objectives of the system areamétthat maintenance of disclosure controls andqulures is an ongoing process that may
change over time.

Iltem 9B.  Other Information
None.
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PART IlI

Certain information required by Part Il is incorpted herein by reference from our proxy statemelated to our 2008 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders, which we intend to file no lateah 120 days after the end of the fiscal year @by this Form 10-K.

Iltem 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govene

The information required by this Item concerning directors and executive officers is incorpordtgdeference to the sections of our
Proxy Statement under the headings “Election oé&ors,” “Board and Committees Meetings,” and “8etfi6(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance,” and to the information camed in the section captioned “Executive Officefshe Registrant” included under Part I,
Item 1 of this Form 10-K.

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that appliesitaluef executive officer and senior financial offis, as required by the SEC. The
current version of our Code of Ethics can be foanaur Internet site at http://www.netgear.com. #iddal information required by this Item
regarding our Code of Ethics is incorporated bgrefice to the information contained in the seatiptioned “Code of Ethics” in our Proxy
Statement.

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirementeuriém 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding an amendmentitayaiver from, a provision of
this code of ethics by posting such informatioroan website at http://www.netgear.com within foursiness days following the date of such
amendment or waiver.

ltem 11.  Executive Compensatio

The information required by this Item is incorpetby reference to the sections of our Proxy Stat¢mnder the headings
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Execu@@mpensation,” “Director Compensation,” “CompensatCommittee Interlocks and
Insider Participation,” and “Compensation CommitReport.”
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ltem 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners aiinagement and Related Stockholder Matt:

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes the number of owiditag options granted to employees and directarsyedl as the number of securities
remaining available for future issuance, underammpensation plans as of December 31, 2007.

(@ 3 ©
Number of Securities Number of Securities
(b) Remaining Available for
to be Issued Upon Weighted-Average Future Issuance Under
Exercise of Exercise Price of Equity Compensation Plan:
Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options,
(Excluding Securities
Plan Category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Reflected in Column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by sect
holders(1) 3,372,03. $ 19.6¢ 843,74(
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holde 200,00: $ 19.1¢ —

(1) These plans include our 2000 Stock Option 2803 Stock Plan, 2006 Long Term Incentive Plad, 2003 Employee Stock Purchase
Plan.

The additional information required by this Itenirisorporated by reference to the information cimetd in the section captioned
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ownersldianagement” in our Proxy Statement.

ltem 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abitector Independenci

The information required by this Item is incorp@by reference to the information contained ingbetion captioned “Election of
Directors” and “Related Party Transactions” in Buoxy Statement.

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Servici

The information required by this Item related taliafiees and services is incorporated by referémdke information contained in the
section captioned “Ratification of Appointment aflependent Directors” appearing in our Proxy Statem
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PART IV

ltem 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedu
(a) The following documents are filed as part of ti@part:

(1) Financial Statements.

Managemer's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Repay

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourf&imm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, &@D200¢

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the theaes ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and

Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity for the three years ended December 31, 28006 and 200

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the theaes ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme
Quarterly Financial Data (unaudite

(2) Financial Statement Schedule.

Page
44

45
46
47
48
4¢
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The following financial statement schedule of NETAFE Inc. for the fiscal years ended December 30,72@006 and 2005 is filed as

part of this Form 10-K and should be read in codfiom with the Consolidated Financial StatementSlIBTf GEAR, Inc.

Schedule Il—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
(In thousands)

Balance a
Balance a
Beginning
End of
of Year Additions Deductions Year
Allowance for doubtful account
Year ended December 31, 2C 1,727 96€ (38¢€) 2,307
Year ended December 31, 2C 1,29t 64¢ (21€) 1,721
Year ended December 31, 2C 1,50¢ 4 (210 1,29¢
Allowance for sales returns and product warra
Year ended December 31, 2C 29,42¢ 62,98: (55,436 36,97«
Year ended December 31, 2C 17,83( 61,55¢ (49,960 29,42¢
Year ended December 31, 2(C 17,17: 37,53: (36,87¢) 17,83(
Allowance for price protectior
Year ended December 31, 2(C 3,194 5,29 (7,999 497
Year ended December 31, 2C 1,45¢ 9,517 (7,779 3,194
Year ended December 31, 2C 4,64¢ 11,82¢ (15,027 1,45¢

(3) Exhibits. The exhibits listed in the accompanying Index xhiBits are filed or incorporated by reference ag pf this report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyidthas duly caused this Annual
Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigtieereunto duly authorized, in the City of Sa@itara, State of California, on the 29th day
February 2008.

NETGEAR, INC.
Registran

/s|  PaTRICK C.S. LO
Patrick C.S. Lo
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pershose signature appears below constitutes anairgpPatrick C.S.
Lo and Christine M. Gorjanc, and each of them aigsrneys-in-fact, each with the power of substitfor him in any and all capacities, to
sign any and all amendments to this Report on Fdi+K and to file the same, with exhibits theretd ather documents in connection
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Comianis$ereby ratifying and confirming all that eaafhsaid attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute
or substitutes, may do or cause to be done byevirareof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and oré#tes indicated:

Signature

/s/ PaTrICK C.S. LO

Patrick C.S. Lo

/s/ CHRISTINEM. G ORJANC

Christine M. Gorjanc

/s/ RALPHE. FAISON

Ralph E. Faison

/sl A. TIMOTHY G ODWIN

A. Timothy Godwin

/s/  JEF G RAHAM

Jef Graham

/s/ LinwooDA. L Acy, JR.

Linwood A. Lacy, Jr.

/s GEORGEG. C. PARKER

George G. C. Parker

Title

Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting
Officer)

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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Date

February 29, 2008

February 29, 2008

February 29, 2008

February 29, 200

February 29, 200

February 29, 2008

February 29, 200
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Signature

/s  GREGORYJ. ROSSMANN Director
Gregory J. Rossmann

/s/  JULIE A. SHIMER Director
Julie A. Shimer
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Exhibit
Number
3.3
3.5
4.1
10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10
10.11
10.12
10.13

10.13.:

10.14*
10.15*

10.24*
10.25*

10.26*
10.30
10.31
10.32
10.33

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiotihe registrant(1

Bylaws of the registrant(!

Form of registrars common stock certificate(

Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors afticers(1)

2000 Stock Option Plan and forms of agreementstheter(1

2003 Stock Plan and forms of agreements thereuti

2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plai

Employment Agreement, dated December 3, 1999, leetiee registrant and Patrick C.S. Lc
Employment Agreement, dated August 10, 2001, beiee registrant and Jonathan R. Mathe
Employment Agreement, dated December 9, 1999, leetiee registrant and Mark G. Merrill(
Employment Agreement, dated November 4, 2002, teivtiee registrant and Michael F. Falcor
Employment Agreement, dated January 6, 2003, betteeregistrant and Charles T. Olsor
Employment Agreement, dated October 18, 2004, legtwiee registrant and Albert Y. Liu(
Employment Agreement, dated November 16, 2005, dmtvthe registrant and Christine M. Gorjanc

Standard Office Lease, dated December 3, 2001 dagtthe registrant and Dell Associate-A, and First Amendment 1
Standard Office Lease, dated March 21, 200

Second Amendment to Lease, dated June 30, 20@dedethe registrant and Dell Associate-A(4)
Distributor Agreement, dated March 1, 1997, betwiberregistrant and Tech Data Product Managemeni1])

Distributor Agreement, dated March 1, 1996, betwthenregistrant and Ingram Micro Inc., as amende@iendment date
October 1, 1996 and Amendment No. 2 dated July1988(1)

Warehousing Agreement, dated July 5, 2001, betweenegistrant and APL, Logistics Americas, Ltd.

Distribution Operation Agreement, dated April 2002, between the registrant and DSV Solutions Edfmerly Furnes:
Logistics BV)(1)

Distribution Operation Agreement, dated Decemb&001, between the registrant and Kerry Logistitsng Kong) Limited(1
Employment Agreement, dated November 3, 2003, btvtee registrant and Michael Werdanr

Severance Agreement and Release, effective aswailoer 12, 2004, between the registrant and ClplistoMarshall(6
Settlement Agreement and Release for ZilbermarBAGEAR, Civil Action CV021230, effective as of Nawber 22, 2005(7

2006 Long Term Incentive Plan and forms of agreegm#rereunder(€
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Exhibit

Number Description

10.34 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July2@66, by and among NETGEAR, Inc., SKIJM Holdings fooation,
SkipJam Corp., Michael Spilo, Jonathan Daub, FeaReifol, Dennis Aldover and Zhicheng Qiu

10.35 Separation Agreement and Release, dated as of ZHrit006, by and between NETGEAR, Inc. and JomahaVather(10

10.36 Employment Agreement, dated September 5, 2006 deetthe registrant and Deborah A. Williams(

10.38 Relocation Agreement, dated September 5, 2006 dagtthe registrant and Deborah A. Williams(

10.39 Employment Agreement, dated September 7, 2006 degtthe registrant and Thomas Holt(

10.40 Relocation Agreement, dated September 7, 2006 dagtthe registrant and Thomas Holt(

10.41 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 872By and among NETGEAR, Inc., NAS Holdings Cogtian, Infrant
Technologies, Inc., certain Infrant shareholdeesdbf, and Paul Tien as the Holders Representétieeschedules and exhibits
to this agreement have been omitted pursuant o 6@1(b)(2) of Regulation-K**)(15)

10.42 NETGEAR, Inc. 2007 Employee Bonus Plan(

10.43 Separation Agreement and Release, dated as of ARGUR007, by and between NETGEAR, Inc. and Ddbérawilliams(17)

10.44 Office Lease, dated as of September 25, 2007, 8ypatween NETGEAR, Inc. and BRE/Plumeria, LLC(

211 List of subsidiarie:

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Indeperiiegistered Public Accounting Fir

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant$ecurities Exchange Act Rules -15(c) and 15-15(e), as adopted pursu
to Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 200z

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuat $ecurities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(c) and Bfd)las adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 200z

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantatioBed06 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 200z

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantdtioBe906 of the Sarbar-

*%

(1)
(@)
3)
(4)

Oxley Act of 200z

Confidential treatment has been granted as toingrtations of this Exhibit

Registrant hereby agrees to furnish a copy of thitted schedules and exhibits to the SecuritiesEmhange Commission upon
request

Incorporated by reference to the exhibit beathre same number filed with the Registrant’s Regfion Statement on Form S-1
(Registration Statement 3-104419), which the Securities and Exchange Comanis$éclared effective on July 30, 20
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 & Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fitedNovember 17, 2004 with the
Securities and Exchange Commissi

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 of thegRtran’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 22, 2005 with the Securi
and Exchange Commissic

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of thgiB&an’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed on November 17, 2004 with t
Securities and Exchange Commissi
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(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
(17)

(18)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of thegRtran’s Annual Report on Form -K filed on March 5, 2004 with the Securities ¢
Exchange Commissiol

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 &f Begistrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filedNovember 17, 2004 with the
Securities and Exchange Commissi

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33h&f Registrant’s Current Report on ForrK 8iied on November 25, 2005 with the Securi
and Exchange Commissic

Incorporated by reference to the copy includedheRegistrars Proxy Statement for the 2006 Annual Meeting otiholders filed ot
April 21, 2006 with the Securities and Exchange Guossion.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Ri&gn’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on July 27, 2006 with the Securities &
Exchange Commissiol

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2haf Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filedApril 26, 2006 with the Securities and
Exchange Commissiol

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1hef Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed opt8mber 11, 2006 with the Securities
and Exchange Commissic

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of thenpany's Current Report on Forn-K filed on September 11, 2006 with the Securi
and Exchange Commissic

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 of then(pany's Current Report on Forn-K filed on September 11, 2006 with the Securi
and Exchange Commissic

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.4hef Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed opt8mber 11, 2006 with the Securities
and Exchange Commissic

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the R&gn’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 3, 2007 with the Securities &
Exchange Commissiol

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 of the Regn’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 3, 2007 with the Securities a
Exchange Commissiol

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Gurrent Report on Form 8-K filed on August 3002 with the Securities and Exchange
Commission

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Gurrent Report on Form 8-K filed on SeptemberZ007 with the Securities and
Exchange Commissiol
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Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Entity Name Jurisdiction
Infrant Technologies, LL( California

Netgear International, In Delaware
SkipJam Corp Delaware



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémd¢lee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N8:-B37718, 333-136892 and 333-
136895) of NETGEAR, Inc. of our report dated Felbyu28, 2008 relating to the financial statemeritgricial statement schedule, and the
effectiveness of internal control over financigboeting which appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
February 28, 2008



EXHIBIT 31.1
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION

I, Patrick C.S. Lo, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of NETGEAR, Inc. (the*Registrar”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or en#ttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisleading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsotimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi:
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andfie periods presented in this
report;

The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) drare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and)1B§(e)) and internal control over financial reogy (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and ha

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhgribsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, paftidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared

b. Designed such internal control over financing réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@gorting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeredsurance regarding the reliability of financggorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentadsineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conantsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougrehis report based on
such evaluation; an

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the Regid’s internal control over financial reporting thatowed during th
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Regigls fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the Registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) dritave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over
financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditonslahe audit committee of the Registrant’s boardigctors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectRegistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaiaé report financial
information; anc

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmmagement or other employees who have a significdain the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: February 29, 2008

/s PATRICKC.S. Lo
Patrick C.S. Lo
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.




EXHIBIT 31.2
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION

[, Christine M. Gorjanc, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of NETGEAR, Inc. (the*Registrar”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgit&te a material fact necess
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementso#imer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi:
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andlfie periods presented in this
report;

The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) drare responsible for establishing and maintaimlisglosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and)1B§(e)) and internal control over financial refpgg (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and hax

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhgeibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isig prepared

b. Designed such internal control over financingoréing, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeregsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentadsineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintbprocedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on
such evaluation; an

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the Regit's internal control over financial reporting thatoaed during th
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Regyigis fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuadmg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the Registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) drfthve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over
financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditonsldhe audit committee of the Registrant’s boardiadctors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal corvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect Registrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial
information; anc

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: February 29, 2008

By: /s|  CHRISTINEM. G ORJANC
Christine M. Gorjanc
Chief Financial Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEYACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of NETGEARg lifthe “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year endimtember 31, 2007, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ortéte hereof (the “Report”), Patrick C.S. Lo, Chairman and Chief Executivéi€2f of the

Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section01 28 adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@mley Act of 2002 (“Section 906”),
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsection 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act284 (15 U.S.C. 78m); and

(2) The information contained in the Report fajphesents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 29, 2008

By: /s|  PaTrRICK C.S. Lo
Patrick C.S. Lo
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Company
will be retained by the Company and furnished ® $ecurities and Exchange Commission or its sgafiuequest.

This certification accompanies the Form KGe which it relates, is not deemed filed with 8exurities and Exchange Commission and is
be incorporated by reference into any filing of empany under the Securities Act of 1933 or tlee®es Exchange Act of 1934 (whether
made before or after the date of this Form 10-Kgdpective of any general incorporation languagatained in such filing.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEYACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of NETGEARg lifthe “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year endimtember 31, 2007, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the “Report”), I, Christine M. Gorja@hief Accounting Officer of the

Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section012& adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@mley Act of 2002 (“Section 906”),
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsection 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Ac284 (15 U.S.C. 78m); and

(2) The information contained in the Report fajphgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 29, 2008

By: /s CHRISTINEM. G ORJANC
Christine M. Gorjanc
Chief Financial Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Company
will be retained by the Company and furnished ® $ecurities and Exchange Commission or its sgafiuequest.

This certification accompanies the Form KGe which it relates, is not deemed filed with 8exurities and Exchange Commission and is
be incorporated by reference into any filing of empany under the Securities Act of 1933 or tlee®es Exchange Act of 1934 (whether
made before or after the date of this Forn-K), irrespective of any general incorporation larage contained in such filin



